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To the Members of the Management Board

and the Supervisory Board of

Sberbank Europe AG,

Vienna

We have completed the audit of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2019 of

Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna

(referred to as "the Company"),

and report on the result of our audit as follows:

1. AUDIT CONTRACT AND PERFORMANCE OF THE ENGAGEMENT

At the extraordinary general meeting dated December 18, 2018 of Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna,

we were elected and appointed as group auditor for the fiscal year 2019.

The Company, represented by the supervisory board, concluded an audit contract with us to audit

the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2019, including the accounting system

and the management report for the Group pursuant to Sections 60 – 63 Austrian Banking Act BWG

and 269 et seqq. Austrian Company Code UGB. A separate report is issued on the audit of the fi-

nancial statements as of December 31, 2019, which was also part of the audit contract.

The audited company is a public interest entity according to Section 189a UGB Austrian Company

Code and does meet the criteria for the mandatory establishment of a supervisory board; there-

fore, it is considered as a large corporation in accordance with Section 221 Austrian Company

Code.

The audit is a statutory group audit.

The audit included assessing whether the statutory requirements were adhered to concerning the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The management report for the Group is to

be assessed whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether it was

prepared in accordance with the applicable legal regulations.

The auditor should also state whether consolidated non-financial statement as part of the group

management report or a consolidated non-financial report (Section 267a UGB (Austrian Company

Code)) was prepared.
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Concerning reporting as to article 11 of the regulation (EU) 537/2014 we refer to the separate
report to the audit committee; the reporting according to article 11 of the regulation mentioned is
not part of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the legal requirements and generally accepted stand-

ards on auditing as applied in Austria. These standards require that we comply with International

Standards on Auditing (ISA). An auditor conducting a group audit obtains reasonable assurance

about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. Abso-

lute assurance is not attainable due to the inherent limitations of any internal control system and

due to the sample-based test nature of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material mis-

statements in the consolidated financial statements remain undetected. Areas which are generally

covered in special engagements were not included in our scope of work.

In the course of our audit of the consolidated financial statements we also audited the individual

financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements as to their compliance with

generally accepted accounting principles and their adherence to the regulations and standards for

inclusion into the consolidated statements.

Several components included in the consolidated financial statements were audited by other

external auditors. We supervised their work in an appropriate manner.

We performed the audit, with interruptions, from November to December 2019 (interim audit) as

well as from January to February 2020 (final audit) mainly at the Company’s premises in Vienna.

The audit was substantially completed at the date of this report.

Auditor responsible for the proper performance of the engagement is Mrs. Andrea Stippl, Austrian

Certified Public Accountant.

Our audit is based on the audit contract concluded with the Company. The "General Conditions of

Contract for the Public Accounting Professions" issued by the Austrian Chamber of Tax Advisers

and Auditors (refer to Appendix 2) form an integral part of the audit contract. These conditions of

contract do not only apply to the Company and the group auditor, but also to third parties. Sec-

tion 275 Austrian Company Code UGB and Section 62a Austrian Banking Act BWG applies with re-

gard to our responsibility and liability as auditors towards the Company and towards third parties.
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2. SUMMARY OF AUDIT FINDINGS

2.1. Compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the management report

for the Group and the consolidated non-financial statement

During our audit of the consolidation and the financial statements of the components included in

the consolidated financial statements we obtained evidence that the statutory requirements and

the accounting principles generally accepted in Austria have been complied with. The individual

financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements comply in all material re-

spects with the uniform accounting policies of the parent company as well as with the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements

under Section 245a Austrian Company Code UGB and Section 59a Austrian Banking Act BWG. As

such, they represent an adequate basis for inclusion into the consolidated financial statements.

The regulations and standards for inclusion into the consolidated statements have been adhered

to.

In line with our risk and controls based audit approach and to the extent we considered necessary

for the purpose of expressing an opinion, we considered internal controls related to sub processes

of the financial reporting process as part of our audit.

With regard to the compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the management

report for the Group with all applicable statutory requirements, we refer to our comments in the

auditor’s report.

The company has not yet prepared a consolidated non-financial report according to Section 267a

UGB (Austrian Company Code) for the financial year 2019 at the time of the finalization of our au-

dit. The legal representatives have declared to us that this obligation would be met within the legal

deadline.

2.2. Information provided

The Company's legal representatives provided all evidence and explanations requested by us. We

obtained a representation letter signed by the legal representatives, which we included in our

working papers.

2.3. Reporting in accordance with Section 63 (3) Austrian Banking Act BWG

(exercising the duty to report)

During our audit of the consolidated financial statements we did not note any facts which might

require us to report pursuant to Section 63 (3) Austrian Banking Act BWG.
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3. AUDITOR’S REPORT *)

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Audit Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of

Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna,

and of its subsidiaries (the Group) comprising the consolidated statement of financial position as

of December 31, 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year

then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our audit the accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accord-

ance with the legal regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the assets and the fi-

nancial position of the Group as of December 31, 2019 and its financial performance for the year

then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reportings Standards (IFRS) as adopted

by EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian Company Code UGB and Sec-

tion 59a Austrian Banking Act BWG.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the regulation (EU) no. 537/2014 (in the following "EU

regulation") and in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that

we comply with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under those regula-

tions and standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Con-

solidated Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accord-

ance with the Austrian General Accepted Accounting Principles and professional requirements and

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in

our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the fiscal year. These matters were addressed

in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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In the following, we describe the key audit matters from our perspective:

Impairment allowances for loans and advances to customers

Our Description:

In order to take account of risk of losses in the loan portfolios, risk provisions are created in the

form of loan loss provisions.

The consolidated financial statements for December 31, 2019 of Sberbank Europe AG include loan

loss provisions to customers (stage 1 to 3) amounting to TEUR 313,485. These represent man-

agement’s best estimate of expected credit losses in the loan portfolio as of the reporting date.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the valuation of loans and advances to customers is dependent on the

classification of loans and advances to customers based on the business model and the character-

istics of the contractual cash flows. In addition, the stage allocation designed by the company and

its material assumptions used to assess significant increase in default risk (stage 2) or default

events (objective evidence of impairment - stage 3) are material to determining the amount of the

loan loss provisions.

Loan loss provisions are calculated using the discounted cash flow method. The expected cash

flows are estimated as well as the expected proceeds from the collateral exploitation. The esti-

mates are made on an individual basis (significant loan receivables) or on the basis of a collective

assessment (rule-based approach for non-significant loan receivables).

In this regard, we refer to the comments of the Management Board in section "2.2.8 Impairments

of financial assets", "4.7.3 Risk measurement”, “4.7.11 Non performing loan portfolio / NPL”,

7 Impairment for financial instruments” and "17 Loans and advances to customers" in the notes

of the consolidated financial statements.

The determination of the amount of loan loss provisions is subject to considerable discretion due

to the assumptions and estimates made. Therefore, we have identified this area as a key audit

matter.
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How we addressed the matter in the context of the audit:

In order to assess the appropriateness of the loan loss provisions made, we have examined the

main processes and models in credit risk management, with special reference to the requirements

of IFRS 9 and have tested selected controls on a sample basis. In particular, we examined the pro-

cesses and models for the classification of loans based on the business model and the determina-

tion of the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.

In addition, we have evaluated the stage allocation designed by the company and its material as-

sumptions for assessing significant increase in default risk or default events, in order to assess

whether these processes and models used are suitable for the identification of significant increase

in default risk or default events and whether they are suitable for the assessment of loan loss pro-

visions.

We have identified the essential controls on loan origination, ongoing monitoring and the early de-

tection process. On a sample basis we have tested selected controls.

Based on a selection of loan receivables that have already been defaulted, we have checked

whether the specific loan loss provision have been sufficiently accounted for. For these loans, we

have critically assessed the estimates made by Management Board regarding future cash flows

that are expected to come from repayments and collateral.

We have examined a sample of loans not identified as defaulted to determine whether significant

increases in default risk have been fully identified or whether loss events have not occurred, and

adequate allowances have been accounted for.

When examining portfolio risk provision for Stage 1 and Stage 2, we have assessed the valuation

models and parameters used to determine whether they are suitable for the determination of ap-

propriate provisions. We have also examined the data quality of the underlying data base and eval-

uated the mathematical correctness of the risk provision.

non-binding electronic copy



Sberbank Europe AG Vienna December 31, 2019

TRANSLATION

Page 7

Responsibilities of Management and of the Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accord-

ance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian

Company Code UGB and Section 59a Austrian Banking Act BWG for them to present a true and fair

view of the assets, the financial position and the financial performance of the Group and for such in-

ternal controls as management determines are necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liqui-

date the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to is-

sue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assur-

ance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the EU regulation and in

accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing, which require the application of ISA, always de-

tect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to in-

fluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU regulation and in accordance with Austrian Standards on

Auditing, which require the application of ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-

sional scepticism throughout the audit.
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We also:

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-

dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-

ion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in

our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evi-

dence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial state-
ments. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in inter-

nal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse con-

sequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

Comments on the Management Report for the Group

Pursuant to Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the management report for the

Group is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements

and as to whether the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the ap-

plicable legal regulations.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report for the Group in ac-

cordance with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and banking regulatory require-

ments.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing for the audit of the

management report for the Group.

Opinion

In our opinion, the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the valid

legal requirements and is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Statement

Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated financial statements and due to the

thus obtained understanding concerning the Group and its circumstances no material misstate-

ments in the management report for the Group came to our attention.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the infor-

mation included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements,

the management report for the Group and the auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is esti-

mated to be provided to us after the date of the auditor's report. Our opinion on the consolidated

financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of as-

surance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read

the other information, as soon as it is available, and, in doing so, to consider whether - based on

our knowledge obtained in the audit - the other information is materially inconsistent with the

consolidated financial statements or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Additional information in accordance with article 10 EU regulation

We were elected as auditor by the extraordinary general meeting at December 18, 2018. We were

appointed by the Supervisory Board on December 18, 2018. We have been the auditors without

cease since 2012.

We confirm that the audit opinion in the section "Report on the consolidated financial statements"

is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee referred to in article 11 of the EU

regulation.

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services (article 5 par. 1 of the EU regulation) were pro-

vided by us and that we remained independent of the audited company in conducting the audit.

Vienna, February 28, 2020

Ernst & Young
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H.

Mag. Wolfgang Tobisch mp Mag. Andrea Stippl mp

Wirtschaftsprüfer / Certified Public Accountant Wirtschaftsprüferin / Certified Public Accountant

_________

*) This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid. Publication or sharing with third parties of the

consolidated financial statements together with our auditor's opinion is only allowed if the consolidated financial statements and

the management report for the Group are identical with the German audited version. This audit opinion is only applicable to the

German and complete consolidated financial statements with the management report for the Group. Section 281 paragraph 2 UGB

(Austrian Company Code) applies to alternated versions.
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Consolidated Statement of Total Comprehensive 

Income                                                                                         

from 1 January to 31 December 2019 

IAS 1,10(b);81A CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT Note 

2019  

EUR thousand 

2018 

EUR thousand 

IFRS 7,20(b) Interest Income using effective interest rate method   343,644 372,199 

IFRS 7,20(a) Interest Income from derivatives held for risk management purposes   17,643 8,717 

IFRS 7,20(b) Interest expense using effective interest rate method   (80,194) (77,692) 

IFRS 7,20(a) Interest expense from derivatives held for risk management purposes   (17,173) (12,983) 

  Net interest income 5 263,920 290,240 

IFRS 7,20(c) Fee and commission income   122,930 121,048 

IFRS 7,20(c) Fee and commission expenses   (22,197) (30,201) 

  Net fee and commission income 6 100,734 90,846 

IAS 1,82(ba) Impairment for financial instruments 7 (40,770) (61,208) 

IFRS 7,20A; IAS 

1,82(aa) 

Net gain/losses arising from derecognition of financial assets measured at 

amortised cost 8 11,214 9,798 

IAS 1,99 General administrative expenses 9 (281,265) (284,879) 

IFRS 7,20(a) 

Net income from financial instruments measured at FVTPL and net trading 

income 10 16,019 14,690 

  Income from investments in securities measured at FVOCI 12 1,183 976 

IAS 1,99; IFRS 

7,20(a) Other operating income / (expense) 11 (18,179) (14,881) 

IAS 1,85 Profit / (Loss) before taxes from continuing operations   52,856 45,583 

IAS 1,82(d); IAS 

12,77 Income taxes from continuing operations 13 (12,244) (11,597) 

IAS 1,81A(a) Profit / (Loss) for the year from continuing operations   40,612 33,986 

IAS 1,81A PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR   40,612 33,986 

  Profit attributable to:       

IAS 1,81B(a) Shareholders of the parent   40,535 33,939 

IAS 1,81B(a) Non-controlling interests   77 47 

IAS 1,82A(a) Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss   319 958 

IAS 1,85 

Actuarial gains/losses on long term employee benefits (incl. deferred taxes)   664 926 

IFRS 7,20(a)(vii) Change in fair value of equity instruments designated at FVOCI (incl. deferred 

taxes)   (345) 32 

IAS 1,82A(b) Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss   4,310 (9,567) 

IAS 21,52(b) Currency translation reserve   843 (7,105) 

  Movement in hedging reserve (incl. deferred taxes)   (204) (443) 

IFRS 7,24C(b)(i); 

IFRS 7,23(c) Effective portion of changes in fair value   (204) (443) 

IFRS 7,20(a)(viii) Change in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI (incl. deferred 

taxes)   3,672 (1,964) 

IAS 1,81A(b) Other comprehensive income   4,629 (8,554) 

IAS 1,81A(c) Total comprehensive income attributable to:   45,242 25,432 

IAS 1,81B(b) Shareholders of the parent   45,210 25,382 

IAS 1,81B(b) Non-controlling interests   32 50 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

as at 31 December 2019 

IAS 1.10(a); 10(ea); 
38-38A; 40A-40B; 
113 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS 
AT  
31 DECEMBER 2019 Note 

2019 
EUR thousand 

2018 
EUR thousand 

IAS 1.60,66 ASSETS       

          

IAS 1,54(i) Cash and cash equivalents 15 

                    

2,686,162  2,211,605 

IFRS 7,8(f) Loans and advances to credit institutions (net) 16 335,074 531,498 

IFRS 7,8(f) Loans and advances to customers (net) 17 7,921,047 7,683,446 

IFRS 7,8(a)(ii) Trading assets 18 69,014 35,697 

IAS 1,55 Investments in securities 19 744,755 952,226 

IAS 1,54(e) Investments in associates and other participations 21 23,027 23,203 

IAS 1,54(b) Investment property 20 1,170 2,510 

IAS 1,54(c) Intangible assets 22 120,649 101,209 

IAS 1,54(a) Tangible assets 23 122,091 56,754 

  Tax assets 13 14,701 17,816 

IAS 1,54(n) Current taxes   139 512 

IAS 1,54(o) Deferred taxes   14,562 17,304 

IAS 1,55 Other assets 24 49,585 46,486 

  TOTAL ASSETS   12,087,274 11,662,448 

          

  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

          

IFRS 7,8(g) Amounts due to credit institutions 25 933,392 1,425,174 

IFRS 7,8(g) Deposits and current accounts 26 9,010,364 8,221,801 

IFRS 7,8(e)(ii) Trading liabilities 28 44,597 14,886 

IAS 1,54(l) Provisions 29 34,472 39,604 

  Tax liabilities 13 3,564 1,875 

IAS 1,54(n) Current taxes   2,935 1,193 

IAS 1,54(o) Deferred taxes   630 682 

IAS 1,55 Other liabilities 30 185,868 111,056 

  Debt instruments issued 27 43,123 52,386 

IAS 32,18(b) Subordinated liabilities 31 326,205 335,173 

  EQUITY   1,505,688 1,460,492 

IAS 1,54(r) Shareholders' equity   1,504,152 1,458,987 

  Share capital   389,032 389,032 

  Share Premium   1,568,691 1,568,691 

  Retained earnings (incl. cum. result)   (646,927) (498,736) 

IAS 1,54(q) Non-controlling interest   1,537 1,505 

  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   12,087,274 11,662,448 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows                              

from 1 January to 31 December 2019 

 

IAS 1,10(d); 38; 38A; 

113   Note 

2019 

EUR thousand 

2018 

EUR thousand 

  Cash flows from operating activities       

  Profit for the year   40,612 33,986 

  Adjustments for:   (182,419) (209,991) 

  Depreciation and amortization 22,23 40,658 26,134 

  Net impairment for financial instruments 7.1 7.2 41,063 47,765 

  Provisions for off balance sheet items 7,3 (294) 13,444 

  Impairment for and PPE other assets   1,555 830 

  Net interest income 5,1 (263,920) (290,240) 

  Net gain/(loss) on investment securities at FVTPL 10 (1,214) (2,034) 

  Net gain/(loss) on loans and advances at FVTPL   (1,574) 0 

  Net gain/(loss) on sale of financial instruments at FVOCI 12 (1,105) (976) 

  Net gain/(loss) arising from derecognition of financial assets measured at 

amortised cost 8 (11,214) (9,798) 

  Dividends on equity securities at FVOCI 11 0 (136) 

  Income tax expense 13 12,244 11,597 

  Effect of FX fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents   1,383 (6,711) 

          

  Changes in:   212,858 (496,276) 

  Trading assets 18 (33,274) (4,159) 

  Loans and advances to financial institutions 16 193,553 76,611 

  Loans and advances to customers 17 (261,072) 87,564 

  Other assets 24 (3,493) 123,553 

  Trading liabilities 28 29,750 (253) 

  Amounts due to credit institutions 25 (496,630) (719,194) 

  Amounts due to customers 26 456,374 (303,122) 

  Deposits and current accounts from credit institutions 25 1,115 (9,286) 

  Deposits and current accounts from customers 26 323,733 292,065 

  Other liabilities 30 2,801 (37,863) 

          

IAS 7,31; IAS 7,33 Interest received 5 361,287 380,915 

IAS 7,31; IAS 7,33 Dividends received 11 143 136 

IAS 7,31; IAS 7,33 Interest paid 5 (97,367) (90,675) 

IAS 7,31; IAS 7,35 Income tax paid 13 (12,244) (11,597) 

IAS 7,31; IAS 7,35 Net cash flow from operating activities   282,258 (427,624) 

          

    Note 

2019 
EUR 

thousand 

2018 
EUR 

thousand 

IAS 7,21 Cash flows from investing activities   159,811 (141,797) 

IAS 7,16(c) Acquisition of investment securities 19 318,613 610,294 

IAS 7,16(d) Proceeds from sale of investment securities   (114,092) (724,598) 

IAS 7,16(a) Acquisition of property and equipment 23 (10,672) (8,792) 

IAS 7,16(b) Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 23 3,666 14,099 

IAS 7,16(a) Acquisition of intangible assets 22 (37,703) (32,839) 

IAS 7,10 Net cash from investing activities   159,811 (141,797) 

IAS 7,21 Cash flows from financing activities   (9,507) (48,098) 
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IAS 7,17(c) Proceeds from issue of debt securities   0 0 

IAS 7,17(d) Repayment of debt securities 27 (9,507) (48,098) 

  Net cash from financing activities   (9,507) (48,098) 

  Total Cash Flow   473,174 (583,532) 

  Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 15 2,211,605 2,801,848 

IAS 7,28 Effect of FX fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents   (1,383) 6,711 

  Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15 2,686,162 2,211,605             
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity                                                          

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 

EUR thousand 
Share 

Capital 
Share 

Premium 
Retained 
earnings 

Currency 
translation 

reserve 
DBO 

reserves 

FVOCI 
revaluation 

reserve 
Hedging 

reserve 
Other 

reserves 
Shareholders' 

equity 

Non-
controlling 

interest Equity 

1 January 2018 389,032 1,568,691 (719,299) (45,750) (805) 8,629 1,859 231,248 1,433,606 1,454 1,435,061 

Issue of ordinary shares and share 

premium 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassification 0 0 31,457 0 0 0 0 (31,457) 0 0 0 

Net profit (loss) for the period 0 0 32,675 0 0 0 0 1,263 33,939 47 33,986 

Other comprehensive income for 

the period 0 0 0 (7,109) 926 (1,932) (443) 0 (8,558) 3 (8,554) 

Change in non-controlling 

interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

31 December 2018 389,032 1,568,691 (655,167) (52,859) 121 6,698 1,417 201,054 1,458,987 1,505 1,460,492 

Issue of ordinary shares and share 

premium 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassification 0 0 (29,815) 0 0 0 0 29,815 0 0 0 

Net profit (loss) for the period 0 0 38,055 0 0 0 0 2,480 40,535 77 40,612 

Other comprehensive income for 

the period 0 0 0 843 664 3,327 (204) 0 4,629 (45) 4,584 

Change in non-controlling 

interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

31 December 2019 389,032 1,568,691 (646,927) (52,016) 785 10,025 1,212 233,349 1,504,152 1,537 1,505,688                                                 

1
0
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 General information 

The consolidated financial statements of Sberbank Europe AG (“the Bank”, together with its subsidiaries referred to as “the Group” or “SBEU”) 

for the financial year and the comparative information  comprising the statement of financial position, the income statement, the statement 

of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and accompanying notes, have been prepared in 

accordance with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the EU and published in the Official Journal in 

the IAS regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 and therefore comply with paragraph 59a Austrian banking act called Bankwesengesetz (BWG) and 

paragraph 245a Austrian commercial code called Unternehmensgesetzbuch (UGB).  

IFRSs  comprise  accounting  standards  issued  by  the International Accounting Standards Board  (IASB)  and  its  predecessor  body  and 
interpretations  issued  by  the IFRS Interpretations  Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor body. 
 

The Bank has its registered office at Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 1010 Vienna/Austria and operates under a full banking license issued by the Financial 

Market Authority in Austria on 22 May 2013. Furthermore, it acts as the holding company of subsidiaries located in Central and Eastern Europe 

providing banking services to private and corporate clients. 

The Bank is a commercial bank established in 1997 as Volksbank International AG. On 15th February 2012 the Bank was acquired by Open Joint 

Stock Commercial Bank Sberbank of Russia (the “Shareholder”), which is the ultimate parent of SBAG. The change in ownership was recorded 

in the commercial register on 29th February 2012. On 1 November 2012, Volksbank International AG was renamed Sberbank Europe AG. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 

All expressions in the notes, which are used in their male form, are correspondingly valid in their female form. 

The headcount of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was  3,909  (31 December 2018: 4,006  ). 

The Board of Management approved the consolidated financial statements for publication (following a presentation to the Supervisory Board) 

on 28 February 2020. 

 

 Accounting principles and basis of preparation 

The accounting principles described below have been consistently applied to all reporting periods covered by these financial statements and 

have been adhered to by all consolidated companies without exception. 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2019 have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the European Union.  

Preparation of the Bank’s consolidated financial statements follows the going concern assumption. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of cost of acquisition or manufacture, with the exception of the fol-

lowing positions where judgments and estimates were also used: 

 Derivative financial instruments – measured at fair value; 

 Financial instruments in the categories at fair value through profit or loss – measured at fair value; 

 Financial instruments in the categories at fair value through other comprehensive income  - measured at fair value; 

 Investment property assets – measured at fair value; 

 Financial assets and liabilities which constitute underlying instruments for fair value hedges – amortized cost is adjusted for changes in fair 

value which are attributable to hedged risks; 

 Employee benefits provisions – recognized at net present value of the defined benefit obligation 

 Financial guarantees. 

Notes of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements of Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna 
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The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 

which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 

and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial state-

ments are described in the following notes: 

 

 Note 2.2.3 Fair value measurement 

 Note 2.2.8 Impairment of financial assets 

 Note 2.2.23 Investment property 

 Note 2.2.24 Investments in participations 

 Note 2.2.28 Employee benefits 

 Note 4.7 Credit risk and  

 Note 4.9 Market risk. 

 New Accounting Standards 

 New  accounting standards already endorsed by the European Union  

The Group applied, for the first time, certain new standards and interpretations that became effective for financial years beginning after 1 

January 2019.  

The kind and the impact of the standards are described below. 

 Certain new standards and amendments, that are already applied  

The nature and the impact of each of the new standards and amendments are described below.  

IFRS 16, ´Leases´ 

The new standard requires the lessee to recognize a right of use asset on the debit side of the balance sheet as well as a corresponding lease 

liability on the credit side of the balance sheet except for immateriality in cases of short term leasing arrangements and small ticket leasing 

arrangements for low-value assets.  

IFRS 16 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases, with the objective of ensuring that 

lessees and lessors provide relevant information that faithfully represents those transactions. 

The most significant change that IFRS 16 poses is the lessee accounting model, which requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all 

leases unless any of the recognition exemption criteria are met. The previous standard´s operating and finance lease split – which determined 

whether the lessee recognized the leased asset or not in its books – is essentially removed from the new standard. 

In order to comply with the requirement of IFRS 16 firstly all leases need to be identified. Analyses showed that office and branch premises as 

well as leased vehicles are impacted by the new standard. 

During this analysis it was also considered whether a contract is a lease or a service contract. IFRS 16 aims to distinguish a lease from a service 

contract on the basis of whether a customer is able to control the use of the asset being leased. If the customer controls the use of an identified 

asset for a period of time, then the contract contains a lease. This will be the case if the customer can make the important decisions about the 

use of the asset in a similar way to that in which it makes decisions about owned assets that it uses. In contrast, in a service contract, the 

supplier controls the use of any assets used to deliver the service. 

Instead of applying the recognition requirements of IFRS 16, a lessee may elect to account for lease payments as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term or another systematic basis for the following two types of leases: 

 leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase options – this election is made by class of underlying asset 

 leases where the underlying asset has a low value when new (such as personal computers or small items of office furniture) – this election 

can be made on a lease-by-lease basis 

When determining the right to control the use of an identified asset the Group assesses whether it has both of the following: 
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 the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset 

 the right to direct the use of the identified asset 

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period for which a lessee (the Group) has the right to use an underlying asset, together with 

both periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option and periods covered by an 

option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. 

Accounting treatment 

Upon lease commencement the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the 

amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. Adjustments may also be required for lease incentives, payments 

at or prior to commencement and restoration obligations or similar. This information is readily available to the Group based on rental agree-

ments, lease contracts and the relating cash flows and conditions. 

After lease commencement, the Group measures the right-of-use asset using a cost model, not applying any of the exemptions defined (in 

IFRS 16.29, 16.34, and 16.35). Under the cost model a right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit 

in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their incremental borrowing rate.  

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in the initial measurement of the lease liability and are initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date. Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees are also 

included.  

The Group does not use IFRS 16 for intangible assets that are accounted under IAS 38. Additionally, the Group uses exemptions that can be 

applicable to low value items such as laptops, mobile phones, etc. and for short term leases.  

Transition 

The standard states that a lessee shall either apply IFRS 16 with full retrospective effect or alternatively not restate comparative information 

but recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to opening equity at the date of initial application. The Group 

chose the latter for accounting purposes and disclosures. 

The standard was issued in January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

Amendments to IFRS 9, ’Financial Instruments’ 

The amendments modified the treatment of prepayment features with negative compensation. When applying IFRS 9 prepayable financial 

assets with negative compensations would have failed SPPI test and would have been measured at FVTPL. Amendments stated that measuring 

of such debt instruments at amortised costs or FVTOCI provided more useful and relevant information to users of financial statements about 

the performance of such assets than at FVTPL.  

Under the amendments, the sign of the prepayment amount was not relevant, i. e. depending on the interest rate prevailing at the time of 

termination, a payment might also be made in favour of the contract-ing party effecting the early repayment. The calculation of this compen-

sation payment must be been the same for both the case of an early repayment penalty and the case of an early repayment gain.The amend-

ments clarified that the requirements in IFRS 9 for adjusting the amortised costs of a financial liability when a modification (or exchange) did 

not result in the derecognition of the financial liability and were consistent with the requirements for adjusting the gross carrying amount of 

a financial asset when a modification did not result in the derecognition of the financial asset. 

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  

IFRIC 23, ’Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ 

IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income tax.  An entity is required to use judgement to determine whether each tax 

treatment should be considered independently or whether some tax treatments should be considered together. The decision should be based 

on which approach provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty. If the entity concludes that it is probable that a particular 

tax treatment is accepted by tax authority, the entity has to determine taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits 

or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment included in its income tax fillings.  If the entity concludes that it is not probable that a particular 
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tax treatment is accepted, the entity has to use the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when determining taxable 

profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax loss, unused tax credits and tax rates. The decision should be based on which method provides better 

predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty. The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.  

Amendments to IAS 19: ‘Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’  

The IASB has published 'Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)' thus finalising one of two issues relating to IAS 

19 submitted to the IFRS Interpretations Committee and exposed together in June 2015.  

The amendments in Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19) are: 

If a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs, it is now mandatory that the current service cost and the net interest for the period 

after the remeasurement are determined using the assumptions used for the remeasurement. 

In addition, amendments have been included to clarify the effect of a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement on the requirements re-

garding the asset ceiling. 

An entity applies the amendments to plan amendments, curtailments or settlements occurring on or after the beginning of the first annual 

reporting period that begins on or after 1 January 2019.  

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 

The IASB's annual improvements project provides a streamlined process for dealing efficiently with a collection of amendments to IFRSs. The 

primary objective of the process is to enhance the quality of standards, by amending existing IFRSs to clarify guidance and wording, or to 

correct for relatively minor unintended consequences, conflicts or oversights. Amendments are made through the annual improvements pro-

cess when the amendment is considered non-urgent but necessary.  

Amendments to IAS 28, ’Investments in Associates and Joint ventures’ 

The amendments clarify that entity applies IFRS 9 including its impairment requirements to long-term interests in associate or joint venture 

that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture to which the equity method in not applied. 

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard is not relevant for the Group.  

   The standards and interpretations that are issued, but either not yet effective or not endorsed by the EU, up to 

the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 

The Group has not applied the following new IFRS that have been endorsed by the EU but are not yet effective: 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: ‘Definition of Material’ 

The IASB has issued 'Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)' to clarify the definition of ‘material’ and to align the definition 

used in the Conceptual Framework and the standards themselves. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The Group will assess the impact of the 

amendments once they are endorsed and published by the European Union. 

Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ 

The IASB has issued 'Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)' aimed at resolving the difficulties that arise when an entity determines 

whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets.  

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting 

period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The Group will assess the impact of the amendments once they are endorsed and published by 

the European Union. 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 
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The IASB has published its revised 'Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting'. Included are revised definitions of an asset and a liability as 

well as new guidance on measurement and derecognition, presentation and disclosure. The new Conceptual Framework does not constitute 

a substantial revision of the document as was originally intended when the project was first taken up in 2004. Instead the IASB focused on 

topics that were not yet covered or that showed obvious shortcomings that needed to be dealt with. 

The amendments, which are actually updates, are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The Group will assess the 

impact of the amendments once they are endorsed and published by the European Union. 

IFRS 17, ’Insurance contract’  

IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance contracts and related interpretations and is effective for the periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 

Earlier adoption is permitted if both IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and IFRS 9 Financial instruments have also been applied. 

The standard is not relevant for the Group. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) 

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published 'Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 

IFRS 7)' as a reaction to the potential effects the IBOR reform on financial reporting. The amendments are effective for annual periods begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application permitted. 

Background 

The amendments deal with issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark 

with an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement, which require forward-looking analysis and will be implemented in two phases. The publication of the “In-

terest Rate Benchmark Reform” by IASB is the first part of the implementation.  

There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding additional disclosures around uncertainty arising from the 

interest rate benchmark reform. 

Changes 

The changes in Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7) modify specific hedge accounting requirements, so 

that entities would apply those hedge accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows 

and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform. The changes are:  

 mandatory for all hedging relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform 

 are not intended to provide relief from any other consequences arising from interest rate benchmark reform (if a hedging relation-

ship no longer meets the requirements for hedge accounting for reasons other than those specified by the amendments, discon-

tinuation of hedge accounting is required), and  

 require specific disclosures about the extent to which the entities' hedging relationships are affected by the amendments. 

Effective date 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and must be applied retrospectively. Early application 

is permitted. 

Action plan of the group 

Following the decision of the global regulators to phase out certain IBORs and replace them with alternative reference rates, the Bank has 

established a group cross-functional project for the implementation of the EU Benchmark Regulation. There was a comprehensive impact 

assessment conducted across all SBEU subsidiaries. Robust Benchmark Contingency Plans were prepared outlining existing risks and activity 

plans.  

The project is sponsored by Group CFO and has been led by senior representatives of impacted functions including Treasury, Finance, IT, Risk, 

Corporate, SME, Retail, Legal, Global Markets and Financial institutions. The project provides monthly updates on the progress to the Opera-

tional Committee of the Group Management Board.  
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The  Bank has moderate exposure relating to IBOR reform. In relation to derivative contracts.The only relevant exposure relates to the inter-

est on received/posted collateral in derivative contracts. This exposure will be addressed in line with the ISDA and market standards as part 

of the ongoing group project. 

The Bank has exposure to CHF LIBOR, USD LIBOR and BELIBOR for the client contracts. Operation readiness (IT and internal processes) and 

optimal client communication strategy will be ensured as part of the ongoing project. It is not expected that a respective client contract ad-

justment will cause any significant impact on the financial performance of the Bank. 

 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 Consolidation principles 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Bank and its subsidiaries (“the Group”). The income, expenses, assets and 

liabilities of the subsidiaries are included in the respective line items in the consolidated financial statements, after eliminating inter-company 

balances and transactions. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are based on the reporting package of the parent company and the reporting packages of 

all fully consolidated companies (subsidiaries).  

The financial statements of the fully consolidated companies were prepared on the basis of the Group’s reporting date  as of end of financial 

year.  

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involve-

ment with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. In assessing control, substantive 

voting rights are also taken into account. Newly acquired subsidiaries are consolidated from the date that the Group gains control. The acqui-

sition accounting method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Bank. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair 

value of the consideration given at the date of exchange, the acquisition – related costs are recognized in profit or loss. 

The acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of 

the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is recorded as 

goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, 

the difference is recognized immediately in the statement of comprehensive income as bargain purchase price. 

Subsidiaries are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary by selling all of its interest in it:  

 Derecognizes any assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date control is lost. 

 Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest at the date control is lost (including any components of accumulated 

other comprehensive income attributable to it). 

 Recognizes the fair value of the proceeds from the transaction, events, or circumstances that resulted in the loss of control.  

 Reclassifies to income or transfers directly to retained earnings, if required in accordance with other standards, the amounts recognized 

in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary. This specifically includes  

o Foreign translation adjustments (shall be reclassified to income) 

o Revaluation difference for financial instruments recognized through OCI (shall be reclassified to income) 

o Cash flow hedge reserve (shall be reclassified to income) 

 Recognizes any resulting difference as a gain or loss in the income statement attributable to the parent. 

Investments in other companies are initially recognized at fair value, and the Group decide whether to measure them subsequently at Fair 

Value through OCI or Fair Value through Profit or Losses based on the management intention. If investments are acquired for the purpose of 

selling or realize profit on sale in near term they are measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss subsequently, in other cases they are 

designated initially to measure at Fair Value through OCI.  

Group-internal balances, as well as any unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from Group-internal transactions are 

eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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 Currency translation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are reported in euro.  Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 

entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). Trans-

actions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the func-

tional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised 

cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised 

cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional cur-

rency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised 

in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of equity instruments that are designated to Fair Value through OCI.  

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition and equity put options, are 

translated to EUR at exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to EUR 

at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency differences are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in the 

Currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation 

reserve is transferred to profit or loss. 

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate for the reporting period, calculated on the basis of the end-of-month 

rates. Currency translation differences between the closing rate applied for the items of the statement of financial positions and the average 

rate used for translating income and expense items are recognized in the currency reserve in other comprehensive income. 

 Fair value measurement 

The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date (an exit price). 

Each fair value measurement is categorized within the following hierarchy:  

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets of identical instruments. A market is regarded as active if market transactions occur regularly and at 

significant volume, so that quoted prices are constantly available.  

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable data – either directly as prices or indirectly derived from prices. Valuation techniques include 

using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, as well as reference to the current fair value of other instru-

ments that are basically the same. For discounted cash flow analyses and option pricing models, all important parameters must be derived 

either directly or indirectly from market data. All factors that market participants would consider in setting prices need to be taken into account. 

The measurement of financial instruments is based on accepted methodologies. Estimates used for measurement techniques reflect reason-

able market expectations and account for all risk factors inherent to financial instruments. 

Level 3: Measurement techniques that do not use parameters observable in the market. These parameters have an immaterial impact on the 

calculation of fair value. This category also includes instruments that are measured by adjusting the fair value of similar instruments so as to 

highlight the differences between these instruments. 

The transfers between fair value levels are deemed to have occurred on the date of the event or a change in circumstances that caused the 

transfer. For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 

have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group calibrates new measurement techniques every period and tests them for validity using prices from observable current market 

transactions for the same instrument or based on other available observable market data. 

 Financial instruments 

2.2.4.1. Date of Recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities in the category of mandatory FVTPL and debt instruments measured at FVOCI are initially recognised on the 

trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: 
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purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in 

the market place. Loans and advances to credit institutions and customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ ac-

counts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 

2.2.4.2. Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model for managing the 

instruments, as described in notes 2.2.4.5 and 2.2.4.6. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value , except in the case of 

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVTPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables 

are measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, the 

Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss in line with the relevant requirements. 

2.2.4.3. Measurement categories of financial debt instruments and liabilities 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank classifies all of its financial debt instruments based on the business model for managing the assets and the 

asset’s contractual terms, measured at either: 

 

 Amortised cost, as explained in  

 FVOCI 

 FVTPL 

The Bank classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVTPL . The Bank may designate financial instruments at FVTPL, if so 

doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. 

 

Before 1 January 2018, the Bank classified its financial assets as loans and receivables (amortised cost), FVTPL, available-for-sale or held-to-

maturity (amortised cost). Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortised cost or at 

FVTPL when they are held for trading or derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied. 

 

2.2.4.4. Loans and advances to credit institutions, Loans and advances to customers, Investments in securities at amortised 

cost 

From 1 January 2018, the Bank only measures Loans and advances to credit institutions, Loans and advances to customers and other Invest-

ments in securities at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

(SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

 

2.2.4.5. Business model assessment 

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve its business objective. 

The Bank's business model is not assessed on an Instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based 

on observable factors such as: 

 

 How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and reported to the 

entity's key management personnel 

 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and, in particular, 

the way those risks are managed 

 How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed 

or on the contractual cash flows collected) 

 The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ scenarios into account. 

If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not change the 

classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated 

or newly purchased financial assets going forward. 
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2.2.4.6. The SPPI test  

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify whether they meet the SPPI 

test. ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of 

the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortization of the premium/discount). The most significant elements 

of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assess-

ment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the 

period for which the interest rate is set. In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in 

the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVTPL. 

 

2.2.4.7. Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss 

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics: 

 

 Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, 

index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific 

to a party to the contract (i.e., the 'underlying'). 

 It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts expected 

to have a similar response to changes in market factors. 

 It is settled at a future date. 

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts 

and foreign exchange swaps. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when 

their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net trading income unless hedge accounting is applied. Hedge 

accounting disclosures are provided in Note 4.13. 

 

The Bank uses credit valuation adjustments (CVA) for counterparty risk and debt value adjustments (DVA) for the Group’s own credit risk are 

applied to all derivatives. For CVA the adjustment is driven by the expected positive exposure of all derivatives, the credit quality and loss given 

default of the counterparty. DVA is driven by the expected negative exposure, the Group’s credit quality and loss given default. The current 

exposure method uses the fair value of the derivative and an add-on derived from notional amounts of derivatives and credit conversion factors 

as the basis of estimation of the exposure at default. The probability of default (PD) is determined with internal PDs. 

2.2.4.8. Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading 

The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities as held for trading when they have been purchased or issued primarily for short-term 

profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together, for which there is 

evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking. Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are recorded and measured in the statement of 

financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in net trading income. Interest and dividend income or expense is recorded 

in net trading income according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to payment has been established. Included in this classification 

are debt securities, equities, short positions. 

 

2.2.4.9. Debt instruments at FVOCI  

The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met: 

 

 The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 

financial assets 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test 

The gains and losses from changes of the fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are booked in Other Comprehensive Income. 

Interest income and foreign currency gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss using the same approach as with the 

financial instruments measured at amortised cost. The calculation of the Expected credit loss for debt instruments at FVOCI is elaborated in 

Note 4.7.4. By write-offs the accumulated gains and losses previously recognized in OCI are reclassified to the statement of profit and loss. 

2.2.4.10. Equity instruments at FVOCI  

Upon initial recognition, the Bank elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet 

the definition of definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is deter-

mined on an instrument by instrument basis. 
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Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss as other operating income 

when the right of the payment has been established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.. 

Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. 

 

2.2.4.11. Debt instruments issued  

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated 

by taking into account any discount or premium on issued funds, and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. A compound financial instrument 

which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue date. 

 

2.2.4.12. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been either designated by management 

upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at 

FVTPL upon initial recognition when one of the following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis: 

 

 The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or 

liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis, or 

 The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accord-

ance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, or 

 The liabilities containing one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the cash flows that would otherwise 

be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that separation of the 

embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are 

recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value of liabilities designated at FVTPL due to changes in the Bank’s own 

credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in the Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest 

earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVTPL is accrued in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the EIR, taking 

into account any discount/ premium and qualifying transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. 

 

Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL is recorded using contractual interest rate as explained in Note 2.2.14. 

Dividend income from equity instruments measured at FVTPL is recorded in profit or loss as other operating income when the right to the 

payment has been established. 

 

2.2.4.13. Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial 

statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each 

guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and   

– under IFRS 9 – an ECL provision as set out in Note 4.7.4. The premium received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and 

commission income on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee. 

 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the Bank is required 

to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer.   From 1 January 2018, these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements. 

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the loan agreed to be provided 

is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the 

corresponding ECLs are disclosed in Note 7.  

 

 Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 

The Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the 

Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial 

assets or liabilities in 2018 and 2019. 

 

non-binding electronic copy



 

  

 
20  

Sberbank Europe AG                                               

Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2019 

Data in EUR Thousand unless stated otherwise 

 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

2.2.6.1. Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 

The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated to the extent 

that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss 

has not already been recorded. The newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is 

deemed to be Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset (POCI). 

 

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the following factors: 

 

 Change in currency of the loan 

 Introduction of an equity feature 

 Change in counterparty 

 If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in derecognition. Based on the 

change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has 

not already been recorded. The derecognition of financial instruments because of significant changes in the contractual terms according to 

IFRS 9 is further explaint in note 4.7.1.11. 

 

2.2.6.2. Derecognition other than for substantial modification 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the rights 

to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial 

asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 

 

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

 

 The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset, or 

 It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 

party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement. Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights 

to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or 

more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 

 

 The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent amounts from the original asset, 

excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates 

 The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients 

 The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material delay. 

In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash equivalents including interest earned, 

during the period between the collection date and the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients.  

 

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 

 

 The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 

 The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset 

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated 

third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions on the transfer. 

 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability 

is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 

an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between 

the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 
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 The effective interest rate method 

Under   IFRS 9, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments measured at amortised 

cost. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9 . The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 

of the financial asset. 

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, fees and 

costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Bank recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a 

constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it recognises the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at various 

stages, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 

If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk the adjustment is booked as a 

positive or negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet with an increase or reduction in interest income. The 

adjustment is subsequently amortised through net interest income in the income statement. 

 

 Impairment of financial assets   

2.2.8.1. Overview of the ECL principles 

The Bank has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL, together 

with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as ‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not 

subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or LTECLs), unless 

there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit 

loss (12mECL) as outlined in Note 4.7.4.  

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 

the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio 

of financial instruments  

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial instrument’s credit 

risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the 

financial instrument. This is further explained in Note 4.7.4. 

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire outstanding amount, or a proportion 

thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset. 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains that are accounted for as an 

adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value (IFRS 9.5.4.3). 

2.2.8.2. Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the statement of financial 

position, which remains at fair value. Any gains and losses except for impairments gains or losses and foreign exchange gains and losses shall 

be recognized in other comprehensive income. The amounts that are recognized through profit or loss are the same as the amounts that 

would have been recognized in profit or loss if the financial asset had been measured at amortized cost.  

2.2.8.3. Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI) 

For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in the loss allowance. Future 

profits will be booked as decrease of ECL. 
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 Write-offs 

  Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be 

written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied 

against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense. 

 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The SBAG Group assesses at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 

when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset´s recoverable amount. An asset´s recoverable amount 

is the higher of an asset´s or cash-generating unit´s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the carrying amount of 

an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered as impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

For details on goodwill refer to Note 22 Intangible assets. 

 Net interest and similar income 

The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets. 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired (as set out in Note 4.7.4) and is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Bank calculates interest 

income by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures (as outlined in Note 

4.7.4) and is no longer credit-impaired, the Bank reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis. 

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets (as set Note 4.7.4), the Bank calculates interest income by calculating the 

credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The credit-adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at original 

recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortised cost of the POCI assets. 

The Bank also holds investments in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Bank discloses interest paid on these assets as 

an interest expense. 

Interest income on all trading assets and financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL is recognised using the contractual 

interest rate in net trading income and Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, respectively. 

Interest income and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis for the respective reporting period in the statement of profit or loss. If it 

appears unlikely that a customer will be able to pay the stipulated interest, the relevant asset is treated as non-interest-bearing. Interest 

income from individually impaired loans and advances is calculated by applying the original effective interest rate used to discount the future 

estimated cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The unwinding effect resulting from the calculation of the loan loss 

provision is therefore recorded in interest income. 

Net interest and similar income includes the following positions: 

 Interest and similar income from credit and money market transactions (including the unwinding effect of loan loss provisions); 

 Interest and similar income from fixed-income securities; 

 Interest and similar expenses for deposits; 

 Interest and similar expenses for securitized debt and subordinated liabilities; 

 Interest income from banking book derivatives 

 Interest expenses of derivatives. 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for non-derivative assets and liabilities classified as held for 

trading, are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income under “interest receivable and similar income” and “interest payable and 

similar charges” using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 

asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when 

appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When applying the effective interest rate, 

an entity generally amortizes any fees, points paid or received, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts included in the calculation 

of the effective interest rate over the expected life of the instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash 

flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. 

The effective interest rate is established when the financial asset or liability is firstly recognized and it is adapted at the time of any change of 

estimated future cash flows arising from the variable-income security. Where the terms include variables which are repriced to market rates 

before the expected maturity of the loan (e.g. benchmark interest rate) the appropriate amortization period is the period until repricing. For 
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these loans, the effective interest rate, including all fees and costs relevant to the calculation, will be determined based on the expected cash 

flows up to the point the loan is expected to be repriced.  

Negative interest from financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in a separate line in “Net interest income”. 

Interest income and expenses from non-derivative trading assets and liabilities, together with price changes, are recognized in net trading 

income. 

The results of the repricing and disposal of securities, shares and participations are recognized in income from financial investments. 

 Net fee and commission income 

Fee and commissions are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided by SBAG Group. These fees include lending fees, 

securities fees, fees from custody business, fees from payment transactions, fees from foreign exchange transactions, fees from transactions in 

precious metals and fees from other provided services. 

 Net trading income 

All realized and unrealized results from securities, foreign currencies and derivatives allocated to the trading book (trading assets and trading 

liabilities) are reported under this position. These include changes in market value as well as interest income, dividend payments and refinancing 

expenses for non-derivative trading assets. 

Results from the daily valuation of financial instruments in foreign currencies are also reported in net trading income. 

 Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses include all expenditure incurred in connection with the Group’s operations. 

Personnel expenses include wages and salaries, statutory social security contributions and fringe benefits, payments to pension funds as well 

as all expenses associated with severance payments. 

Material expenses include expenses for premises, communications, public relations and marketing, costs for legal advice and other consultancy 

services, as well as training and IT expenditure.  

Amortization of intangible assets (excluding impairment of goodwill) and depreciation of tangible assets are also reported under this position. 

Costs of deposit insurance are recognized in administrative expenses. 

 Other operating income 

In addition to impairment of goodwill, this position contains all income from the Group’s other operating activities. This includes also the 

contribution to the resolution fund and the banking taxes. 

 Income from Investments in securities 

Starting from 1 January 2018 this position contains gains and losses from the disposal of financial instruments classified as FVOCI (including 

participations),.  

 Offsetting  

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported at the net amount in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legally 

enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  

Income and expenses are not offset, unless required or permitted by an IFRS or if gains and losses from a group of similar transactions arise 

(for example, foreign exchange gains and losses or gains and losses arising from financial instruments held for trading). 

non-binding electronic copy



 

  

 
24  

Sberbank Europe AG                                               

Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2019 

Data in EUR Thousand unless stated otherwise 

 Hedge Accounting 

The Group designates certain derivatives, in accordance with IAS 39, as either: 

a. Hedges of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or off-balance sheet item (fair value hedge); 

b. Hedges of the risk of fluctuating cash-flows, which is connected to a recognized asset or liability or to a highly probable future transaction 

(see Note 4.13.3). 

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge) is currently not applied by the Group.  

At the initial recognition of a transaction the relationship between hedging instrument and hedged item, as well as the risk management 

objectives and strategy are set and documented. Furthermore the effectiveness of the hedge is constantly monitored. The hedge has to be 

classified as highly effective. This is the case when at the beginning and during the whole term the change of the fair value or of the cash flows 

from the underlying are almost fully compensated and the actual results lie in a bandwidth of 80% - 125%. 

The fair value of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes and movements in the hedging reserve recognized in other com-

prehensive income are shown in Note 4.13. 

2.2.18.1. Fair value hedge 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together 

with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The Group applies fair value hedge 

accounting for hedging interest risk on loans and advances to credit institutions and customers. The gain or loss related to the effective and 

ineffective portion of derivatives is recognized in the income statement within ‘Income from financial investments’. Changes in the fair value 

of the hedged items attributable to interest rate risk are also recognized in the income statement within ‘Income from financial investments’. 

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective 

interest method is used is amortized to profit or loss over the period to maturity. 

 Loans and advances to credit institutions and to customers 

In the balance sheet item “Loans and advances to credit institutions” financial assets are shown, which have a contractual maturity of more 

than one day and have fixed or determinable payments and are non-derivative instruments. In the balance sheet item “Loans and advances to 

customers” financial assets with independent contractual maturity are shown. In this position, receivables from companies and private clients 

should also be presented. 

Loans and advances represent non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable redemption amounts which are not traded on an 

active market and are not securitized. 

 Trading assets and liabilities 

Trading assets include all derivatives with a positive fair value used for trading purposes and all financial assets acquired with a view to being 

sold again in the short-term or which form part of a portfolio which is intended to yield short-term profits. Trading liabilities consist of all 

derivatives with a negative fair value used for trading purposes. In this position, there are no financial assets and liabilities reported which are 

designated to the “at fair value through profit or loss” category. 

 Investments in securities 

Investments in securities comprise all securitized debt instruments that are held for investment of liquidity purposes, together with securities 

that are not held for liquidity purposes, but rather for the purely investment purposes,  and measured at FVOCI or at amortized cost and equity 

instruments that are designated to FVOCI.  

 Investment property 

All land and buildings that meet the definition of investment property as set out in IAS 40 are carried at fair value.  

Land, buildings or part of buildings held for the purpose of earning rental income or for capital appreciation or for both are classified as invest-

ment properties. In case of partial own use, the property is investments property only if the owner-occupied portion is insignificant. 
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An investment property shall be recognized initially at cost. Transaction costs shall be included in the initial valuation. Subsequent expenditure 

should be capitalized if it enhances the previously assessed standard of performance - for example, if it increases the current market value of 

the property. All other subsequent expenditures have to be recognized through profit or loss. After initial recognition, investment property has 

to be measured applying the fair value model. A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment property shall be recognized 

in profit or loss for the period in which it arises. 

The calculations of the fair value are based on discounted cash flows, which are prepared on the basis of current rental income subject to 

assumptions concerning market developments and interest rates. The fee for external appraisers is a fixed amount and independent of the 

defined fair value of the appraised property. 

The Group has assessed that the highest and best use of its properties do not differ from their current use at the date of measurement. 

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis in accordance with the term of the respective lease and rental contracts, and recorded as 

interest and similar income. Changes in value of investment property assets are recorded as other operating income. 

 Investments in participations 

The Group establishes subsidiaries and acquires participations for strategic reasons and as financial investments. Strategic participations relate 

to companies operating in the Group’s lines of business or companies supporting the Group’s business activities. 

All participations are recognized at their respective fair value. Participation classified here are measured subsequently FVOCI. 

 Intangible and tangible assets 

2.2.24.1. Software 

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group 

are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 

 It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use or for sale; 

 Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it; 

 There is an ability to use or sell the software product; 

 It can be demonstrated that the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 

 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product are available; and 

 The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be measured reliably. 

Directly attributable costs, that are capitalized as part of the software product include the employee costs in connection with project man-

agement and software testing as well as external costs. Computer software development costs recognized as assets are amortized over their 

estimated useful lives. The maximum useful life for Standard IT software is four years. For any other IT software which is not considered 

standard (e.g. the core banking system) the amortization period depends on the expected useful life of the respective software application 

(currently maximum 12 years). 

2.2.24.2. Goodwill 

Goodwill is calculated at initial recognition of CGU or its expansion via additional acquisitions. For the purpose of subsequent impairment 

testing, goodwill that was acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of CGUs. According to IAS 36, the Bank has to perform 

impairment tests on any accounted goodwill for its subsidiaries in the Central and Eastern European market on a regular basis, at least upon 

preparation of the financial statement or whenever there is a significant evidence of an impairment risk. For example, significant evidence 

could be a necessary, unplanned capital injection due to regulatory requirements, significant reduction in expected future returns or changes 

in taxation. 

2.2.24.3. Tangible assets 

Tangible assets are carried at acquisition or manufacturing costs and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life in 

the case of depreciable assets. Write-downs are made for impairments. If the circumstances resulting in the recognition of a write-down cease 

to exist, the write-down is reversed up to a maximum of amortized cost. 

The useful life is the period of time during which an asset is expected to be used by the Group and is calculated as follows: 
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 Office furniture and equipment max. 10 years 

 IT hardware (including calculating machines, etc.) max. 5 years 

 Vehicles max. 5 years 

 Strongrooms and safes max. 20 years 

 Buildings, reconstructed buildings, rental rights max. 50 years 

 Tax assets and liabilities 

Income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are valued at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. 

According to the balance sheet liability method set out in IAS 12, deferred taxes are derived from all temporary differences between the tax 

base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the statement of financial position prepared in accordance with IFRS. Deferred taxes are 

calculated for subsidiaries on the basis of the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, 

and that apply or have been announced in the individual countries on the reporting date. Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax 

liabilities for each individual entity. Deferred taxes are not discounted. 

Deferred tax assets for unused tax loss carry forwards are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

in the same company against which the unused tax losses can be utilized or if sufficient taxable temporary differences exist. The carrying 

amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  

 Amounts due to credit institutions and deposits and current accounts 

The first-time recognition of liabilities owed to credit institutions and customers as well as of securitized debt is performed at fair value plus 

directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequent measurement is performed at amortized cost using the effective interest method, unless 

these liabilities were designated as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Employee benefits  

Payments to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. Irregular payments are allocated to the respective reporting period.  

The Group also has other long term employee benefits, which is not the subject of the same uncertainty as the measurement of post-employ-

ment benefits. 

The actuarial profits and losses for post-employment benefits are recognized in other comprehensive income when they occur, with no sub-

sequent recycling to profit or loss.  

All past service costs are recognized in profit or loss when they occur. This is applicable when an entity introduces a defined benefit plan that 

attributes benefits to past service or changes the benefits for past service under the existing defined benefit plan. The defined benefit obligation 

has to be multiplied by the same interest rate subsequently. 

2.2.27.1. Severance payments 

In case of terminating an employment, which is not caused or initiated by an employee, who started his employment before 31 December 

2002, a severance payment to the maximum amount of a yearly salary is due to the employee in accordance with the years of service. The 

individual local regulations applying for the subsidiaries are taken into account in the course of the actuarial calculation of the severance 

payment provision.  

2.2.27.2. Anniversary bonuses 

The individual local regulations applying for the subsidiaries were taken into account in the course of the actuarial calculation of the anniversary 

bonus payment provision.  

Anniversary payments are only granted in Sberbank Banka d.d. Ljubljana. The respective bonuses are based on the duration of the company 

affiliation. The amounts are fixed and are not valorized. The expected retirement age is set at 61 years for women and at 63 years for men.  
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 Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Other provisions are set up if a past event has given rise to a present obligation, it is probable that meeting such an obligation will result in a 

future outflow of resources and the amount has been reliably estimated. They are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected 

to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market conditions of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the obligation. They are set up in the most likely expected amount. In this regard, cost estimates provided by contractual partners, 

historical values and actuarial calculation methods are used. Risk provisions are set up for acceptances and endorsements if they are likely to 

result in future claims. 

Provisions for legal claims and restructuring are recognized when the criteria mentioned above are met. 

Contingent liabilities are reported if a potential obligation exists for which an outflow of resources does not appear probable or no reliable 

estimate regarding the amount of the obligation can be made. 

 Subordinated liabilities 

The first-time recognition of subordinated capital is carried out at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent measure-

ment is performed at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest method, unless these liabilities were designated as liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss. 

In case of bankruptcy or liquidation of the entity, securitized or unsecuritized financial liabilities are deemed to be subordinated capital if the 

liability must be settled after the liabilities of the other, non-subordinated creditors. 

 Other liabilities 

Deferred items are used to accrue income and expenses and are recorded under this position together with other liabilities. 

 Equity 

Financial instruments issued by the Group, which do not involve a contractual obligation to transfer cash or another financial asset to another 

entity or to exchange financial assets or liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the issuer, are 

reported in equity. Classification of the Equity elements are discussed under Note 33. 

 Leasing 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 

Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 

Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to 

account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes 

two recognition exemptions for lessees: 

• leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers), and  

• short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).  

The Group will make use of both exemptions. 

Upon lease commencement the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the 

amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. Adjustments may also be required for lease incentives, payments 

at or prior to commencement and restoration obligations or similar. This information is readily available to the Group based on rental agree-

ments, lease contracts and the relating cash flows and conditions. 

After lease commencement, the Group measures the right-of-use asset using a cost model, not applying any of the exemptions defined (in 

IFRS 16.29, 16.34, and 16.35). Under the cost model a right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit 

in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their incremental borrowing rate.  
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Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in the initial measurement of the lease liability and are initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date. Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees are also 

included.  

The Group does not use IFRS 16 for intangible assets that are accounted under IAS 38. Additionally, the Group uses exemptions that can be 

applicable to low value items such as laptops, mobile phones, etc. and for short term leases.  

Additional information is found in Note 38. 

 Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. The net cash flow from operating activities is calculated based on the result 

after taxes and before non-controlling interests, whereby non-cash expenses and income during the business year are first included and 

deducted respectively. Moreover, all expenses and income which are recorded in income, but were not allocated to operating activities, are 

eliminated. These payments are recognized as cash flow from investing activities or financing activities. The interest, dividend and tax payments, 

which are stated separately, are solely from operating activities. 

Cash flows from non-current assets such as held to maturity securities, participations and fixed assets are assigned to cash flow from investing 

activities. Cash flow from financing activities includes all cash flows associated with the owners as well as changes to subordinated capital and 

non-controlling interests. Cash and cash equivalents  comprise balances with central banks as well as cash in hand. These balances are com-

posed of the minimum reserve to be held according to statutory requirements and current investments held at various central banks. 

 Discontinued operation 

The bank has no discontinued operations in the reference period. 

 Disclosure Report CRR 

Disclosure report in accordance with Articles 431-455 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. All disclosures that are not included in Financial State-

ment (this document) can be found https://www.sberbank.at/disclosure-basel-iii.  
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 Basis of consolidation, presentation and changes in 

the scope of consolidation 

The Bank has performed an analysis in order to examine, whether as an investor it controls its investees or has a significant influence over the 

investee  and to what extent the control exists. This control determines the disclosure of the investees as a subsidiary, joint arrangement (joint 

operation or joint venture) or as an associate in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The conclusions were prepared in accord-

ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the Accounting policies. As the first step of the analysis, the relevant activities 

of the investees were considered. Subsequently, the Bank analyzed to what extent the Group is exposed to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investees, as well as whether through its voting rights, delegated officers or other contractual rights the Group is able to affect those 

returns, namely it has power over the investees. Investees that are not material to the Group, were exempted from the group of consolidation. 

Subsidiaries were excluded, in case the following two conditions are jointly met:  

 total assets/total liabilities of the subsidiaries alone are below 1 % of Group assets  

 the net interest and commission income alone and in total are below 0,2 % of net interest and commission income of the Group 

Jointly controlled entities and associated companies (using equity method of accounting) can be exempted from the consolidation, if the 

following two conditions are jointly met: 

 the Group’s share in net assets is less than EUR 500 thousand, and 

 the Group’s share in the current year change of shareholders’ equity is less than EUR 500 thousand, because those investees are not 

considered material, and 

 the Group’s exposure is less than EUR 10 million. 

In case one of the subsidiaries of the exempted subsidiaries is to be consolidated based on the above thresholds, then the previously exempted 

subsidiary must be consolidated as well.  

Furthermore the Bank can exempt from the group of consolidation the subsidiary, jointly controlled entity and associated company, if: 

 the headquarter is situated in a country, where the legal system does not allow the submission of the necessary data and information, 

 the consolidation would lead to misleading results (particularly, in case the duration of the control or the participation is foreseen to be 

less than one year), 

 The Bank’s ability to control the investee is restricted legally or contractually, 

 without these entities, the consolidated financial statements of the Group provide a true and fair view about the financial position and 

performance of the Bank and other subsidiaries. In case there are more subsidiaries compliance with this requisite, then they must be 

examined together, whether the exemption of these entities distort the true and fair value about the parent company and other subsidiaries, 

namely the sum of the total assets and contingent liabilities individually and collectively are less than 1% of the total assets of the Group.  

 Financial service companies and auxiliaries with total assets less than EUR 10 million, and are below the thresholds related to net revenues 

and total assets, are not considered material. 

 In case the entities do not reach the minimum of the defined conditions individually, but they exceed those collectively, they cannot be 

considered negligible, the Bank does not exempt them from the group of consolidation. 

Sberbank Group structure and the company’s activities are as follows: 
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      Equity interest 
Share in voting 

rights 

Nominal 
capital in EUR 

thousand 

Company, domicile (city) Type* 
Consolidation 

Method* 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 31.12.2019 31.12.2019 

Sberbank a.d. Banja Luka; Banja Luka 

FS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                     

31,801  

Sberbank banka d.d.; Ljubljana 

FS fully consolidated 99.99% 99.99% 99.99% 

                   

133,140  

Sberbank BH d.d.; Sarajevo 

FS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                     

39,031  

Sberbank CZ, a.s.; Praha 

FS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                   

110,437  

Sberbank d.d.; Zagreb 

FS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                     

82,751  

Sberbank Magyarország Zrt.; Budapest 

FS fully consolidated 98.93% 98.93% 98.93% 

                     

11,276  

Sberbank Srbija a.d.; Beograd 

FS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                     

51,892  

Pronam Nekretnine d.o.o.; Zagreb 

AS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                           

917  

SBAG IT Services GmbH; Wien 

OS fully consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                              

35  

East Site Ingatlanforgalmazó és 

Ingatlanhasznosító Kft.; Budapest OS non consolidated 98.93% 98.93% 98.93% 

                              

24  

Garay Center Ingatlanforgalmazó és 

Ingatlanhasznosító Kft.; Budapest OS non consolidated 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 

                               

-   

Privatinvest d.o.o.; Ljubljana 

OS non consolidated 99.99% 99.99% 99.99% 

                           

665  

V-Dat Informatikai Szolgáltató és 

Kereskedlmi Kft.; Budapest OS non consolidated 98.93% 98.93% 98.93% 

                                

9  

Károlyi Ingatlan 2011 Kft.; Budapest 

OS non consolidated 98.93% 98.93% 98.93% 

                              

12  

Super Kartica d.o.o 

OS non consolidated 33.00% 33.00% 33.00% 

                                

2  

ALB EDV-Service GmbH; Wien 

OS non consolidated 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                              

35                              
Notes*  
Financial service companies FS 
Auxiliary services companies AS 
Other services companies  OS 

 

Due to materiality reasons the Bank decided to exclude the following entities from the group of consolidation from 1 January 2018: Privatinvest 

d.o.o, V-Dat Informatikai Szolgláltató és Kereskedelmi Kft., Új Garai tér Ingatlanforgalmazó Kft., Egressy 2010 Ingatlanforgalmazó Kft and Garay 

Center Kft.  

 

At closing date 21 October 2019 the Bank started liquidation of the company Garay Center Ingatlanforgalmazó és Ingatlanhasznosító Kft.; 

Budapest. The occurring loss for the liquidation procedure of Garay Center Center Ingatlanforgalmazó és Ingatlanhasznosító Kft. totaled into 

EUR 37 thousand.  

 

During the year 2018, capital increases were carried out in one non-fully-owned subsidiaries (EUR 9,000 thousand in Sberbank Magyarorszag 

Zrt.). Relative ownership interest remained unchanged. At closing date 3 December 2018 the Bank liquidate  company Egressy 2010 Ingatlan-

formalgazó Kft. During the year 2019 BEVO-Holding GmbH; Wien has been renamed in SBAG IT Services GmbH; Wien. 

 

For consolidation purposes IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” is applied. For further details regarding consolidation principles please 

refer to Note 2.2.1). 
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 Risk report 

 General  

Being a player in the world’s financial markets, Sberbank Europe takes into account all material risks in the context of current and expected 

business activities in a prudent and cautious manner, managing all risks professionally in order to ensure an adequate risk-adjusted return. 

Over the course of 2019, the risk management function was further strengthened, continuing a development which started in 2013 after the 

change in the shareholder structure. Furthermore, the following new project have been implemented: 

 Implementation new ICAAP and ILAAP methodology based on new ECB guideline released in 2018 

 Continuation of projects to enhance the risk-related IT infrastructure 

 Improvements in credit risk models and model governance 

 Large exposure management system was improved  

 Recovery planning process was further strengthened within the group 

 NPL reduction strategy was refined 

 Improvements in interest rate risk management and liquidity risk limit framework 

 Risk management structure 

The objectives of the risk management system are to: 

 identify risk types and assess their materiality; 

 assess, aggregate and forecast the level of risks; 

 set limits and restrictions; 

 monitor and control the volume of risks taken, implement measures aimed at mitigate the level of risk taken by the Group with a view to 

keep it within the set limits; 

 comply with the mandatory ratios and restrictions established by the regulators; 

 assess the adequacy of Available Financial Resources (AFR) to cover material risks; 

 plan the capital, based on the results of the comprehensive risk assessment, tests the Group stability against internal and external risk 

factors, business development strategy targets and regulatory capital adequacy requirements; 

 carry out strategic planning with due regard to the level of accepted risk; 

 inform the Supervisory Board of the Bank, the Management Board, other collegial bodies and business units performing risk taking and 

management related functions about material risks and capital adequacy; 

 ensure the uniform understanding of risks at the Group level;  

 develop the risk culture and risk management competencies in the Group following best international practices. 

The Risk Management of the Group is represented by the Risks area, which performs the functions of the 2nd line of defense. For some risk 

types, certain functions of the 2nd line of defense may be performed by the units outside the Risks area, which have necessary competence, 

resources and are interested in reducing the level of risks accepted by the Bank for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Risk Appetite 

targets, limits and other restrictions, provided that the risk management approaches must be approved by the Risks area. Units outside the 

Risks area are not a part of the Risk Management. 

In its work, the Bank's Risk Management follows the effective legislation of the EU, shareholder’s orientation, the Bank's Charter, Risk Strategy, 

resolutions of the Bank's governing bodies, and other policies and guidelines of the Bank. In order to ensure integrated risk management within 

the Group, the Risk Management of the Bank takes into account the requirements of the local regulators in the countries of the Group mem-

bers’ operation. 

The Bank's Risk Management performs its functions on a continuous basis. 

The head of the Bank's Risk Management area is the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), who reports to the CEO, Chairperson of the Management Board 
of the Bank.  

CRO oversees and manages the risk department, coordinates preparation of the risk strategy and the risk appetite, is attending risk related 
management board committees. Furthermore, he is in close contact with the supervisory authority in relation to the regular supervisory 
activities. 
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 Risk management functions 

 Chief Risk Officer (CRO) 

CRO is an Management Board member, independent from the business, having no management or financial responsibility in respect of any 

operational business lines or revenue-generating functions, 

High importance for the CRO will be further enhancement of risk awareness of its employees and strengthening of the risk culture at all levels 

that shall be achieved through targeted education programs for risk and non-risk professionals to be developed in co-operation with Group 

Human Resources. 

 Committees 

Supervisory Board and its committees 

The Supervisory Board and its committees are responsible for supervising the Management Board and shall assist in governing the company 

and, in particular, shall assist in making decisions of fundamental significance. 

The Supervisory Board, and its committees, review the risk management process and current risk exposure based on regular reporting as well 

as on dedicated information presented by the CRO and the respective bank’s risk representative according to Art. 39 para 5 BWG (Austrian 

Banking Act).  

Management (Executive) Board 

The Management Board coordinates the strategic orientation of the company with the Supervisory Board, and discusses the status of the 

implementation of such strategy with the Supervisory Board on a regular basis. The management is to be based on the principles of good 

corporate governance and on an open discussion between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board as well as among the members 

of these bodies. The allocation of duties between the Management Board members is set out in the by-laws of the Management 

Board. 

Committees of the Management Board 

Currently, the following committees are established within the Management Board:  

 Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO)  

 Cost Management Committee (CMC)  

 Credit Risk Committee (CRC)  

 Distressed Assets Committee (DAC)  

 Operating Committee (OpCo) 

 Group Risk Committee (RiCo)  

Detail description of the task and responsibilities of the committees are described in dedicated bylaws.  

 

Operating Committee (OpCo)  

The Operating Committee (OpCo) is the main body for project portfolio management. The Operating Committee is responsible for operational 

approvals in regard to project setup, progress and execution.  

 

Assets & Liabilities Committee (ALCO) 

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for holistic balance sheet management and main decision-making body for current 

and forward-looking interest rate and foreign currency risks in the banking book as well as liquidity, funding and regulatory capital manage-

ment, aiming to optimize the risk/return profile of the bank.  

The Committee also closely monitors the development of risk weighted assets, capital levels, P&L forecasts and the corresponding regulatory 

landscape, being the main drivers for regulatory capital requirements.  

 

Group Risk Committee (RiCo) 
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The Group Risk Committee (RiCo) is responsible for providing oversight and advice to Management Board in relation to current and potential 

future risk exposures of the Group as well as future risk strategy and performance, including the determination of a risk appetite and tolerance. 

The Group Risk Committee deals with risk steering and Group-wide risk management.  

 

Credit Committee (CRC) 

The Credit Risk Committee of Sberbank Europe AG (referred to hereinafter as CRC) is central decision making body for all credit risk bearing 

transactions (i) generated at SBAG’s level or (ii) generated by its Network Banks and exceeding the lending authority of particular Network 

Bank.  

 

Distressed Asset Committee (DAC) 

The Distressed Assets Committee of SBAG is responsible as central decision-making body for all credit risk bearing transactions of distressed 

assets (red & black problem zones) according to the group’s definitions with an amount above individually delegated authorities, which enfolds 

approval of recovery transactions and strategies for distressed assets (red & black problem zones) exposed to credit risk of distressed assets 

(per assets groups, countries, regions, industries etc.).  

Main topics/responsibilities of the Distressed Assets Committee are described in its by-law, and are among others to approve strategies, 

recovery plans, indicators of distressed debt recoveries and reviewing reports on the implementation of the action plans. 

 

Cost Management Committee (CMC) 

The Cost Management Committee of SBAG is responsible for decisions on the group-wide capital expenditures (CAPEX) and operating ex-

penses (OPEX).  

The main task of the CMC is to make decisions inclined to increase the income/profit of the Bank considering the minimization of the risks of 

additional expenses. 

 CRO Area /- organizational structure 

The CRO Area plays a central role in daily risk management as well as for risk control. It consists of several divisions as following: 

1. Integrated Risk Management 

 The Integrated Risk Management Department has following B-2 units: 

Integrated Risk Management (IRM) 

The Integrated Risk Management department is direct responsible for set up state of the art comprehensive risk management framework 

system, complementing with best practices within Sberbank Group, as well as definition of Group’s risk appetite and overall risk strategy 

framework, following Group’s business model, to support sustainable development on the long term.  

IRM is in charge of: 

 

 the risk development and risk steering  

 ICAAP framework within the economic view 

 the overall risk budgeting, KPI steering and reporting, based on inputs of other risk departments responsible for dedicated risk data   

 the bank-wide stress-testing 

 risk identification and materiality assessment  

 the overall forbearance method and process developments 

 the overall Default methodology and process support 

 the overall Loans loss policy methodology and process support 

 Backstop Provisionining methodology  

 IFRS9 methodology and modeling 

Risk Business Intelligence (Risk BI) 

The Business Intelligence department is responsible for risk data intelligence system – standardization of data collection, data quality checks, 

delivery to third parties.  

Risk BI is in charge of: 
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 the Group RWA methodology and process under Pillar 1 

 the regular and ad-hoc risk reports  

Market and Liquidity Risk Management 

The Market and Liquidity Risk department is responsible for Market and Liquidity Risk management at SBAG and in SBEU group, including 

trading book risks, interest rate risk and other market risks from the banking book, liquidity risk, limit monitoring (market risk limits, credit risk 

limits for transactions in financial markets), performing stress tests, preparation of behavioural models for stress scenarios. As well as man-

agement of Market Risk projects and alignment with SBRF in Market Risk management topics. 

 

Operational Risk Management 

Operational Risk Management is responsible for the setting up and deployment of a comprehensive operational risk management framework 

to ensure the efficient management of operational risks. The management of operational risk in SBAG consists of risk identification, risk meas-

urement/evaluation, reporting and monitoring, as well as risk control and mitigation at the overall portfolio and single transaction levels. Both 

quantitative and qualitative methods are applied within the operational risk management process (collection of internal loss data, external 

data, risk self-assessments).  

 

Model management 

The Model Management department is responsible for the overall Credit Risk Models governance for Sberbank Europe, as well as development 

and implementation Model Risk policies and procedures. Modelling management department coordinate all credit risk modelling activities 

within SBEU group and prepare the application for new models and validation reports for existing ones. 

2. SBEU Underwriting 

Underwriting is responsible for managing the assessment and decision making process for all credit risk exposed transactions and the risk 

monitoring of dedicated lending portfolios. This applies also for subsidiary banks for lending business increasing their delegated approval 

authorities. SBEU Group follows a two tier system in the underwriting process which separates the assessment of the lending business from 

ultimate decision making. Decisions for credit risk bearing transactions are done on collective level by means of a dedicated implemented 

committee and no single decision authorities exists for corporate and large SME lending. The risk analysis and comprehensive assessment of 

the respective credit transaction are performed in specially trained and frequently certified staff located in each subsidiary bank. Depending on 

the size and complexity of the specific transaction, underwriting can be performed locally at subsidiary level, in Vienna, or at SBRF level for 

large scale transactions. For each operating subsidiary in the SBEU group exists a clear scheme of delegated authorities which encompasses 

the risk assessment and the decision making level.  The process methodology together with the underlying set-up is annually reviewed and 

undergo adjustments in case of risk and business needs. All requirements and employed tools for conducting the process are unified in the 

entire group. Main focus in underwriting is on debt service capability in the long term outlook, risk and return correlation and the impact on 

the overall portfolio per segment.  

3. Restructuring and Workout 

Restructuring and Workout are responsible to reduce loan losses of Sberbank Europe AG - Group by actively managing workout cases and 

through support to Network Units in all aspects of workout for Retail and Non-Retail customers. Actively monitor non-performing loans, 

development of workout cases and loan losses/recoveries of the Group.  

4. Credit Risk Management 

The Credit Risk Management Department has following B-2 units: 

 Monitoring 

The Monitoring unit is taking care of overall credit risk management, including portfolio statements and clients. 

 
 Credit Risk Methodology 
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This unit is responsible for Large Exposure Management under SBAG and SBEU perspective and is in addition  is in charge of defining and 

controlling policies, processes and the required tools with regard to the relevant standards in the non-retail lending area, including ex-ante 

and ex-post dedicated operative tasks connected to single cases, as well as on a portfolio level  

 Retail Credit Risk Management 

Retail Credit Risk Management is responsible for defining and auditing policies, processes and the required tools with regard to retail lending 

and for performing a portfolio monitoring role for SBAG Group to ensure a Risk-Return based approach. The development and monitoring of 

Early Collections strategies are monitored by Restructuring and Workout. 

 Risk Strategy 

The Group-wide risk strategy is assessed and defined by the Management Board and approved by the Supervisory Board, in order to reflect 

the current business model. 

 The Group Risk Strategy aims at setting a general perimeter for the prudent and continuous management of all risks inherent to the Group 

business model. It describes key principles for ensuring consistency of the overall Group capital and liquidity adequacy as well as adequate 

protection through the complete integration of risk management into business activities, strategic planning across the organization and de-

veloping business consistently with the defined risk appetite, taking into account the results from ICAAP and ILAAP.  

The Group Risk Strategy is effectively implemented into daily operations through the following four pillars:  

 

 

The organization of the risk management function sets out a homogeneous structure across the Group along with standard roles and respon-

sibilities. All activities performed by Risk are to be documented in Group-aligned guidelines. Through its risk appetite the Group defines its 

willingness to take risks and through the risk profile, the Group defines a target structure of risks it is exposed to. The Group manages risk as 

well as makes decisions within consideration of the target profile (forward looking approach). Finally, a core part of the risk management 

function is the effective and business independent steering. All of those elements assure that Risk Strategy is effectively put into practice across 

the Group. 

 Risk Appetite  

 Risk Appetite Statement 

Risk appetite constitutes the basis for target risk profile and is defined as bank’s willingness to take on financial risks as quantified by the 

appropriate indicators.  

Risk Appetite is the aggregate maximum risk level the group is ready to accept in the course of creating shareholder value and achieving 

established strategic goals (including target profitability ratios). Risk Appetite is established for all material risks and is approved by a separate 

resolution of the Supervisory Board.  

Risk Principles and internal 

risk regulation 

Risk governance and 

management functions

Risk appetite 

and risk profile

Risk adjusted performance 

measurement, steering and 

reporting

Group Risk Strategy
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 Determining the risk appetite 

The list of relevant risk indicators, assessment methodology and the level of internal limits and/or targets are defined annually in the form of 

Risk Appetite Framework. 

In general, Risk Appetite Statement is defined on a yearly basis, for the upcoming financial year. Defined limits and targets in the Risk Appetite 

Statement can  be revised and modified within the business year only exceptionally – in case of material change in the business and/or risk 

profile for the current year. 

Indices of Risk Appetite may include: 

 mandatory capital adequacy ratios, liquidity ratios, and other regulatory limits related to risk  adequacy management; 

 internal risk targets based on the budgeting and other strategic orienteers; 

 ratio of economic capital, i.e. capital required to cover all material types of risks, and available financial resources; 

 additional qualitative risk monitoring. 

For the efficient risk appetite steering, system of thresholds (operative appetite/amber trigger/red trigger)  for each limit/target is defined. 

Management actions in case of limit/target breaches are defined in the Emergency Response Plan. 

 Risk adjusted performance measurement, steering and 
reporting 

SBAG maintains a risk steering function through proper risk limiting and control. The risk steering must be allocated with adequate resources 

and authority in accordance with the complexity of the business and organization. 

The responsibilities of risk control include: 

 Design and implementation of an adequate system of risk supervision and its adjustment to new business lines and products; 

 Standardization and application of principles and methods for assessing risks (e.g. development of the most adequate and customary 

quantification methodologies within a risk bearing capacity model); 

 Monitoring of an adequate system to assess the requirements concerning capital adequacy, large exposures and compliance for 

Group-wide risk limits. 

The effective execution of risk control requires the consistent involvement of the banks’ departments, committees and other collective bodies. 

Transparent communication of the existing risk position and profile of the Group is provided through a risk reporting framework. In that context, 

the following risk reporting layers are distinguished: 

 Regulatory reports  - preparation and coordination is performed by Regulatory reporting. However, a close co-operation with the CRO 

department is established, particularly in relation to large exposure reporting and steering and risk disclosure as requested by Pillar 3 

regulatory standards.  

 Internal reports - targeted to provide a comprehensive and realistic picture of the risk position, compliance with group risk appetite 

measures and adherence to limits and warning signals in case of adverse changes in the risk profile. Timely information on the risk devel-

opment ensures prompt and appropriate reaction and set up of correction measures targeted to cure potential deviations and breaches. 

Key developments on the risk profile are presented through: RAS report, Group Risk report, Risk Steering report, Risk Bearing Capacity 

report, Workout and Restructuring report etc. Complete and updated list of risk relevant reports is maintained in IRM. 

While forming reporting the Group adheres to the following principles: 

 Rationality: Reports preparation shall focus on achieving maximum efficiency of the reporting system by ensuring the availability of all 

necessary information meeting the regulatory requirements and allowing making management decisions. 

 Understandability: Reports shall be understandable for the target audience from the perspective of the level of detail and scope of infor-

mation contained therein. 

 Transparency: Reports on risks shall contain correct, comparable and accurate data. 

 Comprehensiveness: Reports shall include information on all material risks, sources of capital to cover risks, as well as information on the 

compliance with the regulatory requirements. Reports shall contain a comparison of the accepted risks against available financial resources 

to cover accepted risks. 
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 Comparability and aggregability: The format of reports shall allow to aggregate information on various types of material risks and busi-

ness units to ensure the complete representation of the risk structure at the Group level. 

 Time lines: The reporting system shall be organized in a way, that, in case of crisis conditions, would allow shifting to prompt provision of 

data on actual and target risk level and structure in order to timely take management measures. 

 Integrity: Reports shall be prepared with an established frequency and the contents of reports shall be provided in a structured form. 

The Group has in place the process of collection, verification and consolidation of data provided by the Group members in order to calculate 

capital value, mandatory ratios and other risk factors. 

 Credit risk 

 Corporate and SME 

In 2019 a number of new  initiatives were initiated to enhance credit risk related approaches and to increase the efficiency of existing processes.  

The following activities have been initiated: 

 Further development of Large Exposure Management Process and the related IT solution being used (Large Exposure Management 

Tool), 

 Further enhancement of SBEU Group SME & Corporate Credit Policy and related centralized monitoring of defined limits and targets 

for all network banks of SBEU Group. 

 Full roll out of “bottom-up” approval process in entire SBEU Group with localized underwriting function on the level of each SBEU 

bank. 

 Simplified “fast track” SME process initiated as a pilot in some of  SBEU banks  

 Retail 

 Introduction of different risk strategies in each local entity, with the mindset “automatic approval approach for small tickets” and higher 

standardization in Underwriting principles (incorporating decision engines for deployment and implementation of credit policy rules and 

Scorecards) 

 Implementation of automatic APS solutions in different local entities,  

 In different banks, creation of application ratings were automated and development is continuing. 

 Start of German lending project and increasing of automatization and Online Lending in the year 2018.  

 Ongoing push for automated solutions in the CEE Banks for higher quality of credit decision and for a market adequate time to decision. 

 

 Risk measurement 

This chapter gives an overview of expected credit loss measurement Overview of the ECL principles. 

 

The adoption of IFRS 9 had fundamentally changed the Bank’s loan loss impairment method by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with 

a forward-looking ECL approach. From 1 January 2018, the Bank has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and 

other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to 

as ‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under IFRS 9. 

 

The 12mECL is the portion of Lifetime-expected-credit-loss (LTECLs) that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 

instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio 

of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis is explained in Note 4.7.11. 

 

Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2,Stage 3 and POCI, as described below: 

 

 Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. Stage 1 loans also include facilities where 

the credit risk has remained stable, improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2 or Stage 3. 

 Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 

2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

 Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired (as outlined in Note 4.7.11.).The bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. 
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 POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets 

are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income is subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are 

only recognised or released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

In accordance with the general approach depending on the deterioration in credit quality as from initial recognition, the Bank assigns credits 

and credit-related commitments to one of the following stages: 

 

 

4.7.3.1. Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

If initial and actual ratings are available, SICR is based on absolute thresholds for rating change. Detection of SICR is additionally based on 

existing monitoring concepts (e.g. watchlist)  and reflected in other Staging triggers.  

Change of internal rating by 7 notches from origination will be considered as one SICR factor used in the staging process.  

Reversal of the staging trigger is possible only when new rating of the client was performed which is leading to the conclusion that change of 

internal rating is less than 7 notches.  

 

For unrated cases , the following approach was set up to determine proper rating value to be used for imputation:  

 

 Mapping of single ratings to the respective mid-PD’s of the rating categories; 

 Calculating subsidiary-specific average of PD values (in retail: EAD-weighted, in non-retail: simple unweighted average); 

 Mapping back final resulting average PD values to rating terms. 

 For Rating at origination always the best Rating class is considered for the respective segment 

 

Calculated ratings to be used for unrated customers is re-assessed regularly, on a yearly basis. 

Other factors defined to indicate a significant increase in credit risk are applied according to asset segments, as shown in the following table: 

Staging criterion Retail  Non-retail 

Monitoring status: red or black or watch list clients Stage  2 Stage  2 

Forbearance flag Stage  2 Stage  2 

Dpd > 30 days Stage  2 Stage  2 

Collective assessment (based on supplementary decision, not rel-

evant for current day to day operations / based on extraordinary 

decisions supported by Risk Committee and approved by the 

Management Board) 

Stage  2 (on portfolio level, expert assess-

ment) 

Stage  2 (on portfolio 

level, expert assess-

ment) 
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4.7.3.2. The calculation of ECLs 

The Bank calculates ECLs based on a five probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, dis-counted at an approxi-

mation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the 

cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

 PD - Probability of default serves as an estimate of the probability that an exposure will experience losses as stipulated by the loss given 

default within a pre-specified period of time. PD estimation is based on historical data collected. In order to initialize the IFRS 9 parameter 

estimation, network banks (NWBs) were requested to provide portfolio snapshots across a time frame of several years (minimum time 

frame is set at 5 years of data history). In addition, NWBs provided dates for default event occurring in the portfolio snapshot timeframes. 

There are two ways of estimating the probability of default over 12 months and over life long period depending on the Stage of the exposure: 

 (Markov chain) estimation of 12 month PiT PD (stage 1) 

In this case PD12m is the probability of defaulting within the next 12 months 

 (Modified) Markov chain estimation of life long PiT PD (stage 2 &3) 

Here, the PDs are marginal PDs describing the probability of default within a certain 12 month period in the future over the lifetime of a 

product. 

 Usage of expert defined PD value is possible in situation where PD modelling results are skewed (too low or unreasonably high) due to 

lack (and insufficient) modelling data. In this case expertly defined value have to be approved by the RiCo and documented for audit trail. 

Expert setting has to incorporate benchmarking based on peer group and / or publicly available data. 

o EAD The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes 

in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or 

otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.  

o LGD The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time.  
 

The loss given default used in the context of loan loss provisioning should be based on historical loss experiences taking into account the effect 

of time value of money and the future cash flows for all of the remaining life of the exposure.  

 

Specific LGD values are allocated to secured and unsecured portion of observed exposure. 

 

When estimating the ECLs, the Bank considers five scenarios (the bank considers a baseline and 2 optimistic and 2 pessimistic scenarios addi-

tionally). When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including 

the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset. 

 

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, , the maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the con-

tractual life of a financial instrument (unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier). Provisions for ECLs for undrawn loan commitments 

are assessed as set out in Note 4.7.9.  

 

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below: 

 Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument 

that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.  

The Bank calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. 

These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an 

approximation to the original EIR.  

 Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. The 

mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime 

of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 

 Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired, the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. The method is similar 

to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%. 

 POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime 

ECLs since initial recognition, based on a probability-weighting of the four scenarios, discounted by the credit adjusted EIR. 

Loan commitments and letters of credit 
 
When estimating LTECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the Bank estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn 

down (based on the Credit Conversion Factor defined for the relevant products) over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present 

value of the expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down, based on a probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The expected 

cash shortfalls are discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the loan. 
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For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, ECLs are calculated and presented together 

with the loan. For loan commitments and letters of credit, the ECL is recognised within Provisions. 

 
 
 

Financial guarantee contracts 
 
The Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised 

in the income statement, and the ECL provision. For this purpose, the Bank estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected pay-

ments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs The shortfalls are discounted by the risk-adjusted interest rate  relevant to the 

exposure. The calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the four scenarios. The ECLs related to financial guarantee contracts are 

recognised within Provisions.  

 

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the statement of financial 

position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised 

cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recog-

nised in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets. 

 

Credit cards and other revolving facilities 

 

The Bank’s product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in which the Bank has the right to 

cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The Bank does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, 

but, instead calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Bank’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Bank’s 

future risk mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities. Based on past experience and the Bank’s expecta-

tions, the period over which the Bank calculates ECLs for these products, is eight years for corporate and retail products. 

 

4.7.3.3. Forward looking information 

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as economic inputs, such as: 

 

 GDP growth 

 Unemployment rates 

 Central Bank base rates 

 House price indices 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements. 

To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasion ally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly 

material.  

 

Sberbank Europe has conducted a sensitivity analysis by running new model estimations with a one percent adverse shift onto our macroe-

conomic scenarios and calculating the provisioning impact of corresponding Retail and Non – Retail portfolios. New probability of default 

curves have been constructed by application of existing macroeconomic regressions along adverse path of considered macroeconomic varia-

bles, such as evolution of real GDP, inflation, gross wages, industrial production, residential consumption, construction output and unemploy-

ment rate. As a result of the simulation exercise, conclusion can be drawn the impacts are not material, totalling up to 157 thousand euros. 

EUR thousand Gross exposure Gross Sensitivity  
Gross Sensitivity in % of Gross 

Exposure 

Non-Retail 6,873,341 2,382 0.03% 

Retail 4,073,898 5,963 0.15% 

Total 10,947,239 8,345 0.08%                 
 

4.7.3.4. Credit risk measurement components 

The credit risk exposure to a debtor can be divided into two components – the Expected Loss (EL), which should be covered by calculated risk 

costs, and the Unexpected Loss (UL), which is compensated by equity capital. The EL is the amount of exposure to a borrower that one can 

expect to lose over a 12-month period. The UL is calculated as the volatility of loss around the expected loss. The expected loss can be further 

divided into following three components: 
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EL = PD x LGD x EAD 

These three components are defined as follows: 

 Probability of Default (PD) is dedicated to a particular borrower and is defined as the probability that the borrower will default within 

one year. Default probabilities are differentiated by the SBAG rating master scale, using as well external ratings for Sovereigns and Financial 

Institutions.  

 Loss given Default (LGD) represents an estimate of the actual losses that would be expected to occur on a defaulted loan as a percentage 

of the EAD at the time of default. LGD rates in SBAG are defined according to the regulatory rules for non-retail segments and align with 

IFRS9 logic for retail segment, taking in to account the impact on fully-collateralized cases.   

 Exposure at Default (EAD) is equal to the exposure that the Bank expects to have to the borrower at the time of default. It is determined 

using facility-specific measures, such as expected drawdown rates for committed loan lines and the expected mark-to-market for deriv-

ative contracts.  

4.7.3.5. Rating Process  

In the rating process, only models can be used which have been approved by the local bank or where general approval by Group exists. The 

PDs connected to the rating scale determine the risk parameters, which are used to calculate the capital needs under the Pillar 2 perspective, 

and an adequate risk-adjusted pricing; providing classification criteria for the treatment under the credit decision making process. Within SBEU, 

the underlying basis in this respect is the annual PD without taking into consideration the lifetime of the loan. Therefore, the Group currently 

applies a 12-month loss expectation approach, but no further rating migration approach. 

 Corporate and SME credit risk monitoring and steering  

SBEU monitors individual loan exposures according to the approved process. Based on predefined early warning indicators, the process iden-

tifies customers with low creditworthiness and detects critical aspects which might lead to deteriorations in the risk profile of the engagement 

and the counterparty itself so that appropriate measures can be taken. Depending on the level of risk, weakening exposures are divided into 

restructuring and work-out cases and are transferred to dedicated departments for further processing. The implemented process enables the 

Bank to monitor the quality of the loan exposure within the specified time frame and to take measures when deteriorations occur. 

4.7.4.1. Credit Process  

SBAG Group applies a unified credit process which is based on the common methodology and approaches, with clear separation of business 

and risk roles, independent risk assessment performed in accordance with unified standards and principles, standardized credit applications 

and risk tools, which are in place to support risk analysis and decision-making based on specific criteria. 

The counterparty risk category, the exposure size and the complexity of the underlying transaction are the parameters for processing the 

individual transactions in terms of assessment and decision making.  

The methodology of the systems used in the credit process are standardized Group-wide. Due to the high complexity of the loan granting 

process, especially for the active business with a low risk profile, measures are implemented with the aim of increasing efficiency. This should 

decrease the manual effort and the subsequent operating risk.     

4.7.4.2. Delegated authorities to subsidiaries 

The delegated approval authorities for local banks are based on a standardized methodology that considers the size of a local bank, the previous 

performance of the loan portfolio and the complexity of its business model. The individual authorities are sub-divided into counterparty risk 

categories based on the rating results. The applicable approval authorities for the Corporate and SME segments are set out in dedicated 

regulations approved by the Management Board of SBAG. 

 Mitigation of Concentration Risk  

Measurement is executed via reports specifically designed to quantify and measure dedicated risks. In order to mitigate a single counterparty 

risk and not exceed the legal lending limit, a self-constraint limit has been set. This maximum limit is being monitored in the course of the 

decision-making process as a maximum threshold for the risk appetite that the Group is willing to take.  

In order to limit concentrations in the real estate area, portfolio limits in this segment are set on group and local bank level. In terms of CHF 

lending, such denominated loan products have in general been suspended. The respective portfolio shows a consecutive shrinking tendency 

over the last four years. In cases of USD-denominated lending, the derived credit risk is mitigated by granting such loans only to borrowers 

with a solid financial standing in their industry segment, thus having the capability to hedge such risks.  
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 Country Default and Transfer Risk 

The business focus clearly emphasizes on originating business where SBAG is represented by its own operations or where the parent is present. 

A country-limit methodology framework, which is based on the risk-appetite strategy on cross-border risks, is implemented. Monitoring, 

allocation and reviewing are concentrated centrally under the responsibility of SBAG. 

 Retail Credit risk monitoring and steering  

4.7.7.1. Credit Process  

The updated Retail Credit Risk Policy aims to ensure business growth with strong risk governance. This regulation clearly defines immediate 

rejections and maximum acceptable lending criteria. Verification of documents and underwriting of loan applications are done centrally by 

specialists based on the loan lending methodology specified by the local Retail credit risk team.  

Increased attention was given to affordability rules and the relation of debt service to income of a customer to avoid high indebtness of new 

clients, which result in a moderate default rate. Automated application processing systems for private individuals have been implemented in 

specific countries where they previously did not exist.  

4.7.7.2. Risk Monitoring  

Risk monitoring is done monthly at portfolio level for each country and product. Any worsening of portfolio numbers and trends is discussed 

and analyzed with the countries and the results are used to adjust the lending criteria or collection processes accordingly. Vintage reports and 

other early risk indicators are used to separate recent portfolio trends from legacy portfolio risk numbers to identify credit risk at an early stage 

and to define actions for preventing future losses. Limits for Vintages are approved by an authorized committee and in case of breach a measure 

is set to avoid deterioration of portfolios. This instrument of monitoring shows good results in steering of the portfolios. 

Risk Reporting: 

 Data quality has improved due to consistency and DQ (data quality) checks, 

 Time to Decision numbers were introduced in banks, 

 Enhancement of Pillar I PQR (performance quality review), for different KRIs (key risk indicators), such as LTVs (loan-to-value ratio), 30+ 

vintages, audit findings, etc.  

Collections: 

 EWS on portfolio Level was introduced 

 In dedicated banks (HR & RS) Collection tools are implemented (end-to-end process) 

 Streamlining of Methodologies and adjustment to European standards and regulations 

 Setting clear NPL reduction strategies and implementing them locally 

 Portfolio overview – credit risk 

Economic risk controlling uses the fair value of an asset to calculate the relevant exposure. For accounting purposes, exposure is calculated on 

the basis of carrying amounts. 

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans 

and advances, loan commitments, financial guarantees and investment securities is shown below. 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Loans and advances to customers (gross) 8,233,565 8,172,442 

Balances with central banks 2,510,796 2,068,265 

Loans and advances to credit institutions (gross) 337,300 533,607 

Investments in securities 744,755 952,226 

Trading assets 69,014 35,697 

Off balance sheet exposure 2,142,373 2,503,707 

Total value of exposures 14,037,803 14,265,943 

Impairment securities (3,376) (2,389) 

Total value of gross exposures 

                                                        

14,041,179  

                                     

14,263,331              
 

In the current year, credit risk-related exposure within the Group decreased by  1.6% to EUR 14,037,803  thousand   

Concentration by geographical location: 

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry and geographic location. The following is an analysis of the concentrations of 

credit risk from receivables, loan commitments, financial guarantees and financial investments. Additional information is in the notes 4.7.4 "Risk 

Assessment" included. 

The geographical distribution of the Group's gross exposure (gross) is as follows: 

Exposure as at 31 December 2019: 

  Exposure as at 31 December 2019 

EUR thousand Total On Balance Off Balance 

AT 2,001,876 1,953,214 48,662 

CZ 3,766,279 3,221,951 544,329 

SI 2,205,758 1,825,497 380,261 

HU 1,530,424 1,225,809 304,614 

RS 1,542,009 1,085,664 456,346 

HR 1,590,034 1,392,262 197,772 

BH 853,464 747,970 105,494 

BL 551,335 446,439 104,895 

Total value of Exposure 14,041,179 11,898,806 2,142,373                 
 

The decrease in gross exposure at Sberbank Europe AG is mostly driven by an reduction of gross exposure in Austria. 

Exposure as at 31 December 2018: 
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  Exposure as at 31 December 2018 

EUR thousand Total On Balance Off Balance 

AT 2.811.783 2.490.323 321,460 

CZ 3.669.609 3.062.349 607,260 

SI 2.085.499 1.714.553 370,946 

HU 1.402.708 1.048.142 354,566 

RS 1.440.806 1.009.243 431,563 

HR 1.487.366 1.269.571 217,795 

BH 840,828 731,692 109,135 

BL 529,733 438,751 90,982 

Total value of Exposure 14.268.331 11.764.625 2.503.707                 
 

Geographical distribution of the Group’s revenues 

 
The composition of the Group’s revenue is presented in the following table that also includes the requirements of Section 64 no. 18 of the 

Austrian Banking Act. Information on the country in which each of the subsidiaries in the Group has its registered office can be found in Note 

1). In addition, the following information is required to be given on a consolidated basis, broken down by country: 

 

2019  
EUR 
thousand 

Net 
interest 
income 

Net fee 
and 

commissi
on 

income 

Net 
income 

from 
financial 

instrumen
ts 

measured 
at FVTPL 

and net 
trading 
income 

Income 
from 

investmen
ts in 

securities 
measured 
at FVOCI 

Other 
operatin

g 
income / 
(expens

e) 

Profit / 
(Loss) 

before 
taxes 
from 

continuin
g 

operation
s 

Tax expense 
(income) 

related to 
profit or 

loss from 
continuing 

and 
discontinuin

g 
operations 

Annual 
result after 

taxes - 
discontinue

d 
operations 

Employe
e (FTE) 

Czech 

republic 71,268 16,373 406 6,487 (3,162) 26,307 (5,319) 20,988 746 

Hungary 28,463 23,923 182 1,426 (12,239) 8,563 (1,440) 7,123 606 

Slovenia 34,418 10,800 631 559 (289) 12,788 (2,375) 10,412 363 

Croatia 36,649 9,877 0 3,175 188 12,765 (2,647) 10,117 447 

Bosnia and 

Herzegovina 36,619 16,984 0 1,854 452 9,932 (968) 8,964 814 

Serbia 36,923 15,956 0 1,917 (1,044) 1,679 918 2,597 674 

Ukraine 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Austria 19,579 6,820 (37) 602 3,777 (19,177) (413) (19,590) 258 

Consolidatio

n 0 0 0 0 (5,862) 0 0 0 0 

Total 263,920 100,734 1,183 16,019 (18,179) 52,856 (12,244) 40,612 3,909                                         
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2018 
EUR 
thousand 

Net 
interest 
income 

Net fee 
and 

commis
sion 

income 

Net 
income 

from 
financial 
instrume

nts 
measured 
at FVTPL 

and net 
trading 
income 

Income 
from 

investment
s in 

securities 
measured 
at FVOCI 

Other 
operatin

g 
income / 
(expense

) 

Profit / 
(Loss) 

before 
taxes 
from 

continuin
g 

operation
s 

Tax expense 
(income) 

related to 
profit or 

loss from 
continuing 

and 
discontinuin
g operations 

Profit for 
the year 

from 
continuin

g 
operation

s 
Employe

e (FTE) 

Czech 

republic 69,374 16,322 0 5,427 (1,593) 0 (3,932) 0 828 

Hungary 29,489 22,359 (16) 3,290 (8,512) 88 (3,346) 0 595 

Slovenia 33,163 9,931 (295) 347 (1,999) 347 (1,860) 0 367 

Croatia 37,363 9,780 0 1,161 (720) 628 (1,425) 0 445 

Bosnia and 

Herzegovina 36,394 16,913 0 1,753 (246) 0 (1,160) 0 827 

Serbia 34,926 13,465 0 2,346 (894) 21 47 0 678 

Ukraine 0 0 0 0 (11) 0 0 0 0 

Austria 50,224 2,076 1,287 365 5,224 (0) 79 0 266 

Consolidatio

n (692) 0 0 0 (6,141) 0 0 (6,141) 0 

Total 290,240 90,846 976 14,690 (14,892) 1,084 (11,597) (6,141) 4,006                                         
 

The return on assets (§ 64 (19) BWG), which is the ratio of the annual result after taxes divided by the balance sheet total is 0.34%  

(2018:  0.29%) at the balance sheet date. 

 Concentration by business segments 

When looking at the business areas, the majority of financial services provided in 2019 were retail, followed by Corporate & Investment banking.  

This distribution reflects the business policy of SBEU, which is focused on Non-financial corporate and retail lending activities. Interbank busi-

ness plays also a key role. 

Distribution of credit risk related exposure by subcategories, YE 2019 and YE 2018: 
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  Exposure as at 31 December 2019 

EUR Tausend 
 2019             

Business area On Balance FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

     Central banks 2,509,562 0 2,509,562 0 0 0 

     General governments 784,052 17,879 765,376 797 0 0 

     Credit institutions 400,373 51,134 348,237 1 1,000 0 

     Other financial corporations 129,175 10,518 110,580 7,557 521 0 

     Non-financial corporations 4,392,586 5,212 3,652,625 539,667 187,972 7,110 

     Households 3,683,057 57,928 3,293,377 213,660 105,615 12,477 

Total value of Exposure 11,898,806 142,671 10,679,758 761,681 295,108 19,588 

Business area Impairment FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

     Central banks (1,286) 0 (1,286) 0 0 0 

     General governments (1,814) 0 (1,776) (37) (0) 0 

     Credit institutions (2,225) 0 (1,225) (0) (1,000) 0 

     Other financial corporations (2,443) 0 (1,628) (378) (436) 0 

     Non-financial corporations (209,515) 0 (39,655) (33,524) (133,463) (2,873) 

     Households (102,124) 0 (24,299) (10,570) (61,513) (5,741) 

Total Impairment (319,406) 0 (69,870) (44,510) (196,412) (8,614) 

Net exposure 11,579,400 142,671 10,609,888 717,171 98,696 10,973                 
 

 

  Exposure as at 31 December 2018 

EUR thousand  
 2018             

Business area On Balance FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

     Central banks 2,068,265 0 2,068,265 0 0 0 

     General governments 982,161 46,400 934,677 1,084 0 0 

     Credit institutions 627,933 22,450 599,979 4,504 1,000 0 

     Other financial corporations 117,798 0 117,164 118 516 0 

     Non-financial corporations 4,560,849 4,520 3,076,397 1,052,772 424,831 2,329 

     Households 3,407,620 0 2,931,626 320,912 125,132 29,950 

Total value of Exposure 11,764,625 73,370 9,728,108 1,379,389 551,479 32,279 

Business area Impairment FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

     Central banks (1,459) 0 (1,459) 0 0 0 

     General governments (2,070) 0 (2,005) (65) (0) 0 

     Credit institutions (2,121) 0 (944) (177) (1,000) 0 

     Other financial corporations (1,676) 0 (1,330) (3) (343) 0 

     Non-financial corporations (371,565) 0 (32,099) (52,641) (286,001) (824) 

     Households (116,056) 0 (24,094) (15,008) (62,604) (14,350) 

Total Impairment (494,946) 0 (61,931) (67,893) (349,948) (15,173) 

Net exposure 11,269,679 73,370 9,666,177 1,311,496 201,530 17,106                 
 

Distribution of off-balance credit risk related exposure by subcategories, YE 2019 and YE 2018: 
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  Exposure as at 31 December 2019 

Business area 
Gross 

Exposure Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

     Central banks 0 0 0 0 

     General governments 42,896 42,896 0 0 

     Credit institutions 32,069 31,724 346 0 

     Other financial corporations 24,614 24,607 8 0 

     Non-financial corporations 1,894,659 1,804,134 87,040 3,485 

     Households 148,133 143,791 3,972 370 

Total off balance 2,142,373 2,047,152 91,366 3,855 

Total value of Exposure 14,041,179 12,726,910 853,047 298,964 

Business area Impairment Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

     Central banks 0 0 0 0 

     General governments (182) (182) 0 0 

     Credit institutions (1,678) (1,648) (30) 0 

     Other financial corporations (115) (115) (0) 0 

     Non-financial corporations (11,199) (4,943) (4,484) (1,772) 

     Households (493) (298) (77) (119) 

Total off balance (13,666) (7,185) (4,590) (1,891) 

Total net value of Exposure 2,128,706 2,039,967 86,775 1,964             
 

  Exposure as at 31 December 2018 

Business area 
Gross 

Exposure Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

     Central banks 0 0 0 0 

     General governments 43,301 43,301 0 0 

     Credit institutions 38,312 17,143 21,169 0 

     Other financial corporations 13,226 13,072 154 0 

     Non-financial corporations 2,210,063 1,941,303 256,647 12,113 

     Households 198,805 188,253 10,126 426 

Total off balance 2,503,707 2,203,073 288,095 12,539 

Total value of Exposure 14,268,331 11,931,181 1,667,484 564,018 

Business area Impairment Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

     Central banks 0 0 0 0 

     General governments (180) (180) 0 0 

     Credit institutions (1,885) (404) (1,481) 0 

     Other financial corporations (76) (75) (1) 0 

     Non-financial corporations (23,757) (6,746) (10,610) (6,400) 

     Households (935) (576) (240) (120) 

Total off balance (26,833) (7,981) (12,331) (6,520) 

Total net value of Exposure 2,476,874 2,195,091 275,764 6,019             
 

Distribution of credit risk related exposure by business areas, YE 2019 and YE 2018: 
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2019 
EUR thousand             

Business area On Balance FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Retail 4,084,011 57,928 3,648,931 241,933 122,741 12,477 

SME 2,439,435 1,476 2,102,133 201,072 127,644 7,110 

Corporate & Investment banking 2,338,587 64,398 1,910,790 318,675 44,724 0 

Other 3,036,773 18,869 3,017,903 1 0 0 

Total value 11,898,806 142,671 10,679,758 761,681 295,108 19,588 

Business area Impairment FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Retail (116,095) 0 (26,954) (11,384) (72,017) (5,741) 

SME (130,237) 0 (22,943) (17,165) (87,256) (2,873) 

Corporate & Investment banking (70,742) 0 (17,640) (15,961) (37,140) 0 

Other (2,332) 0 (2,332) (0) (0) 0 

Total Impairment (319,406) 0 (69,870) (44,510) (196,412) (8,614) 

Net exposure 11,579,400 142,671 10,609,888 717,171 98,696 10,973                 
 

 

2018 
EUR thousand             

Business area On Balance FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Retail 3,873,871 0 3,333,584 359,556 150,937 29,795 

SME 2,269,267 0 1,777,096 240,258 251,676 238 

Corporate & Investment banking 2,757,816 22,649 1,805,537 779,521 147,863 2,246 

Other 2,863,671 50,721 2,811,892 54 1,003 0 

Total value 11,764,625 73,369 9,728,108 1,379,389 551,479 32,279 

Business area Impairment FVTPL Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Retail (131,627) 0 (26,065) (15,900) (75,446) (14,217) 

SME (188,128) 0 (19,395) (13,117) (155,490) (126) 

Corporate & Investment banking (170,353) 0 (12,637) (38,874) (118,011) (831) 

Other (4,838) 0 (3,834) (2) (1,002) 0 

Total Impairment (494,946) 0 (61,931) (67,893) (349,949) (15,173) 

Net exposure 11,269,679 73,369 9,666,178 1,311,495 201,530 17,106                 
 

Distribution of off-balance credit risk related exposure by business areas, YE 2019 and YE 2018: 
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2019 
EUR thousand         

Business area Off Balance Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Retail 269,868 260,923 8,365 580 

SME 948,917 927,085 18,699 3,132 

Corporate & Investment banking 914,071 849,653 64,274 144 

Other 9,518 9,491 27 0 

Total value 2,142,373 2,047,152 91,366 3,855 

Business area Impairment Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Retail (929) (505) (106) (318) 

SME (3,177) (2,258) (111) (808) 

Corporate & Investment banking (9,529) (4,391) (4,374) (765) 

Other (31) (31) 0 0 

Total Impairment (13,666) (7,185) (4,590) (1,891) 

Net exposure 2,128,706 2,039,967 86,775 1,964                     
 

2018 
EUR thousand         

Business area Off Balance Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Retail 198,805 188,253 10,126 426 

SME 798,841 798,841 0 0 

Corporate & Investment banking 1,467,749 1,198,835 256,800 12,113 

Other 38,312 17,143 21,169 0 

Total value 2,503,707 2,203,073 288,095 12,539 

Business area Impairment Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Retail (935) (576) (240) (120) 

SME (2,776) (2,776)     

Corporate & Investment banking (21,236) (4,225) (10,611) (6,400) 

Other (1,885) (404) (1,481) 0 

Total Impairment (26,833) (7,981) (12,331) (6,520) 

Net exposure 2,476,874 2,195,091 275,764 6,019                     
 

The following tables show the exposure allocated to the regions where customers are located:  

      

Exposure as 
at 31 

December 
2019 

EUR thousand Total On Balance Off Balance 

Austria 987,934 981,373 6,561 

EEA incl. Switzerland 54,619 54,614 4 

EU Central- and Eastern Europe 12,682,557 10,585,097 2,097,460 

Non EU Europe 248,425 210,820 37,605 

USA and Canada 56,772 56,772 0 

Others 10,873 10,131 742 

Total 14,041,179 11,898,806 2,142,373                 
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  Exposure as at 31 December 2018 

EUR thousand Total On Balance Off Balance 

Austria 1,162,936 1,155,024 7,911 

EEA incl. Switzerland 56,844 11,840 45,004 

EU Central- and Eastern Europe 12,604,473 10,314,621 2,289,853 

Non EU Europe 353,768 193,153 160,615 

USA and Canada 80,099 80,096 3 

Others 7,822 7,501 321 

Total 14,265,943 11,762,236 2,503,707                 
 

The distribution of the exposure portfolio across the main regions which are used within the Group for controlling purposes shows a focus on 

countries in the CEE region which are members of the EU.  

Off-balance exposures  

In 2019, the off-balance exposure of the Bank decreased by EUR 361,110 thousand and reached EUR 2,142,373 thousand (2018: EUR 2,503,707 

thousand)  as at 31st December 2019:   

Off balance sheet exposure     

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Loan commitments given 1,298,464 1,455,446 

Financial guarantees given 786,437 925,230 

Other Commitments given 57,472 123,030 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 2,142,373 2,503,707             
 

 Credit risk analysis 

Presentation of total exposure according to credit quality and allocation to the individual risk categories: 

 

 

EUR thousand     
Exposure as at 31 

December 2019 

  Total On Balance Off Balance 

Gross carrying amount 13,911,609 11,769,236 2,142,373 

Risk provisions (333,072) (319,406) (13,666) 

Book value 13,578,537 11,449,830 2,128,706                 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI debt instruments   

and available-for-sale debt assets (2019). Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying 

amounts.  
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EUR thousand 2019   

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 
Trade 

receivables Off Balance Total 

Minimum credit risk 4,237,732 27,171 0 4 3,128 283,555 4,551,591 

Low credit risk 5,776,582 199,733 0 0 124,421 1,610,314 7,711,049 

Moderate credit risk 659,356 446,116 0 1,964 13,806 240,733 1,361,975 

High credit risk 14,589 89,004 0 848 0 2,598 107,038 

Default 0 0 294,948 16,772 9,975 5,174 326,869 

Gross carrying amount 10,688,258 762,025 294,948 19,588 151,330 2,142,373 14,058,522 

Risk provision (69,870) (44,510) (196,412) (8,614) (11,472) (13,666) (344,545) 

FV Adjustment (9,666) 0 966 0 0 0 (8,700) 

Net carrying amount 10,608,722 717,515 99,502 10,973 139,858 2,128,706 13,705,277                                 
 

EUR thousand 2018   

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 
Trade 

receivables Off Balance Total 

Minimum credit risk 3,112,734 5,462 0 0 38 289,704 3,407,939 

Low credit risk 5,952,347 803,061 0 6 18,017 1,944,472 8,717,904 

Moderate credit risk 500,834 672,214 0 696 12,354 251,638 1,437,735 

High credit risk 2,520 63,599 0 181 0 3,966 70,266 

Default 0 0 551,447 31,397 150 13,925 596,919 

Gross carrying amount 9,568,435 1,544,336 551,447 32,279 30,559 2,503,707 14,230,763 

Risk provision (62,106) (67,718) (349,948) (15,173) (1,294) (26,833) (523,073) 

FV Adjustment (5,242) 0 0 0 0 0 (5,242) 

Net carrying amount 9,501,087 1,476,618 201,498 17,106 29,264 2,476,874 13,702,447                                 
 

The Group monitors the concentrations of credit risk by sector and by risk classification. The following tables show the carrying amounts of 

financial instruments for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 

 

EUR thousand 2019   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 

Minimum credit risk 266,150 2,176,720 1,165,619 3,128 629,243 279,628 4,520,488 

Low credit risk 85,995 318,147 5,262,188 123,554 110,253 1,590,073 7,490,208 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 659,356 6,247 0 176,033 841,636 

High credit risk 0 0 14,589 0 0 101 14,689 

Default 0 0 0 0 0 1,319 1,319 

Gross carrying amount 352,144 2,494,867 7,101,751 132,929 739,496 2,047,152 12,868,339 

Risk provision (1,226) (1,286) (65,210) (2,477) (2,147) (7,185) (79,532) 

FV Adjustment 0 0 0 0 (9,666) 0 (9,666) 

Net carrying amount 350,918 2,493,581 7,036,540 130,452 727,683 2,039,967 12,779,141                                 
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EUR thousand 2018   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 Stage 1 

Minimum credit risk 555,729 1,711,073 198,519 38 647,413 270,160 3,382,933 

Low credit risk 36,798 127,856 5,508,437 17,855 279,257 1,774,839 7,745,042 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 500,834 9,292 0 146,104 656,230 

High credit risk 0 0 2,520 0 0 1,003 3,523 

Default 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross carrying amount 592,527 1,838,929 6,210,310 27,186 926,670 2,192,106 11,787,727 

Risk provision (1,107) (1,453) (57,192) (764) (2,355) (8,340) (71,210) 

FV Adjustment 0 0 0 0 (5,242) 0 (5,242) 

Net carrying amount 591,420 1,837,476 6,153,118 26,422 919,073 2,183,766 11,711,275                                 
 

The following tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and the exposure on off-balance items for which the loss allowance is 

measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses and that are financial instruments for which credit risk has increased signifi-

cantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets. 

 

EUR thousand 2019   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 

Minimum credit risk 0 0 27,171 0 0 3,927 31,099 

Low credit risk 85 0 195,417 867 4,231 20,241 220,842 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 446,116 7,559 0 64,700 518,375 

High credit risk 0 0 89,004 0 0 2,497 91,501 

Default 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross carrying amount 85 0 757,709 8,426 4,231 91,366 861,816 

Risk provision (0) 0 (44,250) (113) (260) (4,590) (49,213) 

Net carrying amount 85 0 713,459 8,313 3,971 86,775 812,603                                 
 

EUR thousand 2018   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 2 

Minimum credit risk 0 0 5,462 0 0 19,544 25,006 

Low credit risk 4,503 164,912 633,646 162 0 169,633 972,856 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 672,214 3,061 0 105,534 780,810 

High credit risk 0 0 63,599 0 0 2,963 66,562 

Default 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross carrying amount 4,503 164,912 1,374,921 3,223 0 297,675 1,845,235 

Risk provision (2) 0 (67,717) (405) 0 (12,316) (80,439) 

Net carrying amount 4,502 164,912 1,307,204 2,818 0 285,360 1,764,796                                 
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The following tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and the exposure on off-balance items for which the loss allowance is 

measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses and that are financial instruments that are credit impaired at the reporting 

date. 

EUR thousand 2019   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 

Minimum credit risk 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 

Low credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

High credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Default 0 0 293,948 9,975 0 3,855 307,778 

Gross carrying amount 1,000 0 293,948 9,975 0 3,855 308,778 

Risk provision (1,000) 0 (195,412) (8,882) 0 (1,891) (207,185) 

FV Adjustment 0 0 966 0 0 0 966 

Net carrying amount 0 0 99,501 1,093 0 1,964 102,559                 
 

EUR thousand 2018   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Off Blanace Total 

  Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 Stage 3 

Minimum credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Low credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

High credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Default 1,000 0 550,413 150 34 13,925 565,522 

Gross carrying amount 1,000 0 550,413 150 34 13,925 565,522 

Risk provision (1,000) 0 (348,915) (125) (34) (6,177) (356,251) 

                

Net carrying amount 0 0 201,498 25 0 7,748 209,271                 
 

The following tables show the carrying amounts of financial assets and the exposure on off-balance items that are purchased or originated 

credit-impaired financial assets (POCI). 
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EUR thousand 2019   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Total 

  POCI POCI POCI POCI POCI POCI 

Minimum credit risk 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Low credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 1,964 0 0 1,964 

High credit risk 0 0 848 0 0 848 

Default 0 0 16,772 0 0 16,772 

Gross carrying amount 0 0 19,588 0 0 19,588 

Risk provision 0 0 (8,614) 0 0 (8,614) 

Net carrying amount 0 0 10,973 0 0 10,973                             
 

EUR thousand 2018   

  

Loans and 
advances to 

credit 
institutions 

Loans to 
Sovereigns 

and Central 
banks 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
Trade 

receivables 
Debt 

securities Total 

  POCI POCI POCI POCI POCI POCI 

Minimum credit risk 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Low credit risk 0 0 6 0 0 6 

Moderate credit risk 0 0 696 0 0 696 

High credit risk 0 0 181 0 0 181 

Default 0 0 31,397 0 0 31,397 

Gross carrying amount 0 0 32,279 0 0 32,279 

Risk provision 0 0 (15,173) 0 0 (15,173) 

Net carrying amount 0 0 17,106 0 0 17,106                    
 

Loans and receivables to customers not impaired but past due based on Basel II principles:  

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

1 - 30 days overdue 115,580 109,491 

30 - 60 days overdue 19,635 21,856 

60 - 90 days overdue 8,873 7,677 

90 - 180 days overdue 1,021 2,173 

180 - 365 days overdue 924 1,058 

1 year and more overdue 2,813 5,302 

Total 148,845 147,557             
 

Overdue financial assets fully relate to loans to customers. There are no overdue financial assets within other classes of financial instruments.  

The following table shows the credit quality of financial assets measured at FVTPL  as of YE2019 and YE2018: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Loans and advances measured at FVTPL 60,556 4,520 

Minimum credit risk 57,928 0 

Default 2,628 4,520 

Debt securities measured at FVTPL 13,102 46,400 

Minimum credit risk 13,102 46,400 

Total 73,658 50,919         
 

 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements: 

 

2019 
EUR thousand Note 

Gross amount 
of recognized 

financial 
assets-

liabilities 

Gross amount 
of recognized 

financial 
assets-

liabilities set 
off in the 

statement of 
financial 
position Net amount 

Related 
amounts not 
set off in the 
statement of 

financial 
position - 
Financial 

instruments 

Related 
amounts not 
set off in the 
statement of 

financial 
position - 

Cash 
Collateral Net amount 

Derivatives (assets) 18 11,938 0 11,938 1,724 9,698 517 

Total Assets   11,938 0 11,938 1,724 9,698 517 

Derivatives (liabilities) 28 43,547 37,999 5,548 3,007 0 2,541 

Direct Repurchased 

agreement   0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial liabilities 30.1 34,208 71 (34,137) 34,141 0 (4) 

Total Liabilities   77,755 38,070 (28,589) 37,148 0 2,537                                 
 

2018 
EUR thousand Note 

Gross amount 
of recognized 

financial 
assets-

liabilities 

Gross amount 
of recognized 

financial 
assets-

liabilities set 
off in the 

statement of 
financial 
position Net amount 

Related 
amounts not 
set off in the 
statement of 

financial 
position - 
Financial 

instruments 

Related 
amounts not 
set off in the 
statement of 

financial 
position - 

Cash 
Collateral Net amount 

Derivatives (assets) 18 31,321 0 31,321 3,718 8,167 19,437 

Total Assets   31,321 0 31,321 3,718 8,167 19,437 

Derivatives (liabilities) 28 53,730 45,303 8,427 6,348 250 1,829 

Direct Repurchased 

agreement   0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial liabilities 30.1 33,891 71 (33,820) 33,824 0 (4) 

Total Liabilities   87,621 45,374 (25,393) 40,172 250 1,825                                 
 

Master netting agreements are used for reduction of credit risk of derivatives. They provide net settlement of all contracts in the event of 

default of any counterparty. 

The previous tables shows the net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the statement of financial position to the 

line items presented in the statement of financial position. 
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 Non performing loan portfolio / NPL 

The quality of the loan portfolio is protected by periodic reviews and the on-going monitoring of credit exposure. The monitoring process is 

aimed at: 

 Identification of symptoms and threats affecting the client;  

 Undertaking actions preventing the deterioration of credit portfolio quality; 

 Maximizing the probability of recovery of the Bank’s assets. 

Early risk identification is a crucial part of risk management and aims at avoiding or mitigating possible credit losses for the bank. The sooner 

the negative developments are identified and the more consistently solutions are implemented, the greater is the probability to reduce future 

losses for the bank.  

For the recognition of such warning signals the clients are regularly reviewed. In the Non-Retail segment, depending on the internally assigned 

classification of a client, the review can be conducted as often as on quarterly basis with the longest period between reviews of up to one year. 

In the Retail segment, behavioural ratings are regularly updated and direct communication with the client is established by the responsible 

department to obtain more detailed information.  

Based on obtained information during such reviews which include default indicators defined below as well, strategies are selected to avoid a 

deterioration of the client’s situation. If the option which is chosen is restructuring it could lead to a forbearance classification of the client’s 

exposure.  Prior to granting a contract change, the impact on the net present value (NPV) is assessed for which the current NPV is compared 

with the NPV of the adapted repayment plan. If economic loss is higher than 10%, the exposure is transferred to default (distressed restructur-

ing). 

Other indicators for default recognition are listed below whereby different indicators for Non-Retail and Retail segments are defined: 

 

 

 

 

# Default indicators non-retail 

1 90 days past due: A borrower is more than 90 days past due (90+ DPD) on any material obligation to the SBEU Group. 

2 Bankruptcy: The legal entity initiates bankruptcy or undertakes to initiate out-of-court negotiations about the settlement of debt, files 

a lawsuit to recognize the borrower’s bankruptcy; a third party initiates bankruptcy or undertakes to initiate out-of-court negotiations 

about the settlement of debt and the bank is informed about these proceedings, the court declares a borrower’s bankruptcy; a bor-

rower files a lawsuit for bankruptcy itself. 

3 Enforced collection: The legal entity initiates a judicial / extrajudicial enforcement procedure on collection of full or part of the exposure 

amount. 

4 Liquidation: A borrower decides to liquidate or the business has already been liquidated / has ceased financial activity. 

5 Distressed restructuring: Caused by a borrower’s inability to fulfil financial obligations under the terms of the credit contract. 

6 Write-off: The legal entity writes off, partially or fully, debt or financial obligations under financial market transactions.  

7 Sale: Credit exposure is sold with significant economic losses due to a decrease in the quality of credit exposure. 

8 Default in Financial Markets (FM): A decision to terminate the obligation on transactions earlier. 

9 Loan loss provisioning for individually significant exposure: Individual provisions are raised against the exposure. 
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# Default indicators retail  

1 90 days past due: A borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material obligation to the SBEU Group.  

2 Write-off: The legal entity writes off debt, partially or fully. 

3 Sale: Credit exposure is sold with significant economic losses due to a decrease in the quality of credit exposure. 

4 Fraud: Evidence of fraudulent actions by the borrower as validated by the Compliance department and/or Fraud Committee or local 

equivalent – requires client level default. 

5 Specific loan loss provisioning: Specific individual provisions or Group-based provisions are raised against the exposure. 

6 Distressed restructuring: Caused by the borrower’s insolvency or inability to fulfil financial obligations under the terms of a credit con-

tract. 

7 Expected issues with cash flow: obligor is expected to face issues with the generation of cash flow to cover its payment obligations - 

requires client level default. 

8 Additional Unlikeliness to pay (UTP) / Impending insolvency indicators: indicates different reasons and/or customer credit quality prob-

lems, which are not covered by particularly defined indicator types 

9 Cross Default related to joint obligation: Default of individual’s exposures is caused by the default connected to a joint obligation. 

 

The selected default indicators are oriented toward the criteria defined by the European Banking Authority in their publication EBA/GL/2016/07. 

As soon as a default is assigned to a client, the exposure is transferred to the Restructuring and Workout Department (RWO) and the Retail 

Late Collections department resp. being in charge of further steps to be undertaken with the ultimate goal to recover the defaulted exposure. 

In order to reclassify a defaulted exposure to a non-default status, the client needs to fulfil various criteria among which a minimum period in 

default has to pass during which the client proved its capability to comply with the currently valid repayment requirements. The tenor of this 

period depends on the reason for default whereby it is longer (at least 12 months) for those clients who were defaulted due to distressed 

restructuring.  

The table below shows the development of the non-performing portfolio and the respective NPL ratio from YE2018 to YE2019: 

 

10 Default in other member of SBRF : A borrower defaults against other legal entities  within SBRF. 

11 Expected issues with cash flow: obligor is expected to face issues with the generation of cash flow to cover its payment obligations 

12 Additional Unlikeliness to pay (UTP) / impending insolvency indicators: indicates different reasons and/or customer credit quality prob-

lems that are not covered by particularly defined indicator types. 

13 Default within the group of related borrowers: Default of the dominant / controlling group member indicates default of all group 

members. 
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  Total exposure 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

NPL volume 318,432 596,988 

NPL ratio 3.87% 7.30% 

NPE volume 319,432 598,021 

NPE ratio 2,70% 5.10%             
 

4.7.11.1. Collateral valuation 

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral comes in various forms, such as 

cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate and credit enhancements such as netting agreements under ISDA. Collateral, unless 

repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement of financial position. 

However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and depending on type 

of credit risk mitigation as prescribed by CRR regulation or in the course of clients periodical review/monitoring. However, some collateral, for 

example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is valued daily.  

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Non-financial collateral, such as real 

estate, is valued based on data provided by third external or internal qualified independent expert. 

Collateral is considered in order to reduce and minimize the credit risk inherent in the lending business. Nevertheless lending decisions are 

always taken based on a sound analysis of the borrower’s capability to generate sufficient cash flow for repayment and not on possible collat-

eral coverage. Any collateral may be accepted merely as a secondary potential source of repayment. 

The primary significance of collateral is to act as provision against future risks and to limit the potential loss in the case of default or restruc-

turing. 

The different types of collateral are defined in the Group’s collateral guideline, which includes the minimum standards and requirements for 

eligible credit risk mitigation. 

This collateral manual regulates the methods of credit risk mitigation in secured lending from a regulatory and economic perspective. 

The table below shows the development of the internal collateral value from YE2018 to YE2019: 

  Economic collateral 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Business real estate 1,750,149 1,284,077 

Residential real estate 1,746,682 1,519,201 

Financial collateral 184,126 170,195 

Guarantee 586,332 382,028 

Other collateral 447,989 453,830 

Total 4,715,277 3,809,331             
 

Coverage of Loans and advances to customers (LTC) by Basel III collateral: 

Within the regulatory eligible collateral portfolio, immovable properties have the highest share (appr. 77%), followed by eligible guarantees 

(share of 16%) and financial collateral (share of 7%). This real estate portfolio predominantly consits of Residential Real Estate (RRE), located in 

CZ, SI and HU. Credit risk mitigation through guarantees received consists in the first instance of indemnities provided by public authorities (or 

entities acting on behalf of the state), which also encompass ECA coverage.  

In addition to quantitative loan support by collateral, qualitative enhancements by means of covenants are considered in risk mitigation. In 

Corporate lending, it is standard procedure to stipulate covenants and undertakings according to the risk profile of the customer. Such require-

ments are designed for the financial performance and individual situation of the borrower. 
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The significant kinds of collateral which are obtained in the lending business are as follows: 

 A pledge on commercial real estate, pledged cash deposits, warranties and guarantees for Corporate and SME lending;  

 A pledge on residential properties, guarantees and a pledge on equipment for retail lending; 

 ISDA/CSA standards for derivative business with financial institutions;  

 Cash cover for derivative business with non-banks. 

Apart from the regulatory requirement for the eligibility of collaterals, emphasis is given to the specifics of local laws within collateral manage-

ment in SBAG Group. Close attention is therefore paid to: 

 Facts relating to insolvency law;  

 Unlawful financial assistance;  

 Facts relevant to consumer protection law; 

 Requirements under foreign law or applicable national law; 

 Other circumstances to be observed to hamper the bank’s position as a collateralized lender. 

In order not to cast any doubts on legal enforceability, a prompt realization of the collateral is required. In the treasury business field, SBAG 

Group uses standard ISDA/CSA or similar master agreements to mitigate counterparty credit risks arising from these transactions. 

Collateral repossessed 

 
Assets for which selling is determined are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell 
for non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Bank’s policy. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations are 
transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. 

 
In its normal course of business, the Bank does not physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail portfolio. 

 

Collaterals taken into possession     

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Mortgages 4,910 4,597 

Movable Goods 0 28 

Other 1,436 702 

Total 6,346 

                                              

5,326               
 

Development of collateral coverage 

Risk mitigation through residential properties relates in particular to the retail lending business where SBAG Group is present. The majority of 

mortgages are located in congested urban areas.  

Liens on commercial real estate, in particular, act as loan support for loans of a long-term nature. The portfolios of such collaterals, in accord-

ance with their purposes, are scattered with some concentrations on logistics, production, retail and office.  

Real estate collateral is evaluated on the basis of its arm’s-length market value and its usage and type considered by internal or external experts. 

In cases of small-scale loans, statistical approaches for value monitoring that take local market specifics into consideration might be used. 

Legal enforceability is ensured and general legal conditions are monitored on an ongoing basis.  

Loan collaterals are entered into respective systems with the necessary information continuously updated. 

Coverage of Loans and advances to customers (LTC) by Basel III collateral: 

Within the regulatory eligible collateral portfolio, immovable properties have the highest share, followed by eligible guarantees  and financial 

collateral . 

This real estate portfolio predominantly consist of Residential Real Estate (RRE), located in CZ and HU. 

Credit risk mitigation through guarantees received consists in the first instance of indemnities provided by public authorities (or entities acting 

on behalf of the state), which also encompass ECA coverage Impairment assessment 

For accounting purposes, the Bank uses an expected credit loss model for the recognition of losses on impaired financial assets.  
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There are three general types of impairments: 

 

 Portfolio loan loss provisions 

 Individual impairments (impairment for individually significant loans);  

 Credit losses measured at collective bases; 

Portfolio loan-loss provisions according to IFRS9 represents the provisions in stage 1 & stage 2 which are described in the Note 4.7.9.  
 
Individual impairments and credit losses measured at collective bases are only recognized when objective evidence of a specific loss event has 
been observed. Events which represent an objective evidence are aligned with the default triggers. 

 

Individual impairment represents the correction of the asset value for the amount expected not to be collected (recovered) at the contracted 

maturity date. The amount of loss for which the remaining outstanding exposure is corrected is a result of gross exposure (on and/or off 

balance sheet) reduced for expected future cash flows discounted at today’s value. Individually significant receivables require individual reviews 

regarding impairment. Individual loan-loss provisions represent risk measures for identified losses (default event occurred) and can always be 

allocated to a single account. 

For Credit losses measured at collective bases, future expected cash flows are estimated for the pool of similar accounts but can be recog-

nized (allocated) to each single account in the pool of the accounts. Group-based impairment is calculated for all exposures containing evidence 

of receivables impairment but at the same time not being individually significant (their exposure does not exceed the individually significant 

limit). 

The following tables show the structure of impairments for loans and advances to customers: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Individually measured allowances 125,403 249,902 

Collectively measured allowances 194,003 245,044 

Total 319,406 494,946 

      

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Loan loss provision for Off-balance exposure 13,666 26,833 

Total 13,666 26,833             
 

 

4.7.11.2. Write-offs 

 
Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be 

written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied 

against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense. 

 

4.7.11.3. Forborne and modified loans 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the borrower’s financial difficulties, 

rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of a collateral. 

 

The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s present or expected 

financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties 

include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. Forbearance may involve extending the payment 

arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.  

The identification of forborne exposures is undertaken on transaction level and exposures are only assessed if a concession is granted. Thus, 

exposures without a concession are not assessed as no forbearance-relevant measure is applicable. 

 

Concessions can be initiated by the bank or borrower. Among other measures the reduction in interest rate, extension of the tenor or write-

off indicates that exposures need to be classified as forborne. 
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Exposures which are classified as forborne are differentiated in two main categories: 

 Performing forborne (incl. on probation and exposures healed from non-performing forborne); 

 Non-performing forborne. 

Exposures to which a concession is granted are classified as performing if: 

 The exposure was classified as performing at the time of signing the concession and 

 The concession did not lead the exposure to a non-performing status. 

Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain in this status for at least 36 months if the classification as forborne was conducted 

while the exposure was already classified as non-performing or the concession led to a non-performing classification. The classification as 

forborne can be reset to not forborne if the following criteria are met: 

 The exposure is considered as performing; 

 A probation period of at least 2 years has passed since the forborne exposure was classified as performing; 

 Regular payments of a significant amount of principal or interest have been made for half of the probation period; 

 At the end of the probation period, none of the exposures of the debtor is more than 30 days past due 

In the following table exposures of SBEU and its coverage ratios as of 31 December 2019 are presented:  

 

EUR thousand     
Forbearance status as at 31 
December 2019 

Gross carrying amount / nominal amount of exposures 
with forbearance measures TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading 170,149 76,273 93,876 

Debt securities other than trading 0 0 0 

Loan commitments given 817 807 10 

 Total 170,967 77,080 93,887 

        

Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative 
changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading (67,597) (3,808) (63,789) 

Debt securities other than trading 0 0 0 

Loan commitments given (10) (10) 0 

 Total (67,608) (3,818) (63,789) 

        

Coverage ratio TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading 39.73% 4.99% 67.95% 

Debt securities other than trading 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Loan commitments given 1.29% 1.26% 3.68% 

Total ratio 39.53% 4.93% 67.94%                 
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EUR thousand     
Forbearance status as at 31 
December 2018 

Gross carrying amount / nominal amount of exposures 
with forbearance measures TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading 522,571 309,319 213,252 

Debt securities other than trading 0 0 0 

Loan commitments given 1,432 1,404 28 

 Total 524,003 310,722 213,281 

        

Accumulated impairment, accumulated negative 
changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading (143,094) (13,589) (129,504) 

Debt securities other than trading 0 0 0 

Loan commitments given (90) (90) 0 

 Total (143,184) (13,679) (129,504) 

        

Coverage ratio TOTAL 

Performing exposures 
with forbearance 

measures 
Non-performing exposures 
with forbearance measures 

Loans and advances other than trading 27.38% 4.39% 60.73% 

Debt securities other than trading 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Loan commitments given 6.28% 6.41% 0.00% 

Total ratio 27.29% 4.34% 60.72%                 

 

 

The following table represents a migration matrix and provides details on how the forborne exposure as of 31 December 2019 moved since 31 

December 2018: 

EUR thousand   

Forbearance 
status as at 31 
December 
2019 

Exposure as at 31 December 2018 

Performing 

exposures 

with 

forbearance 

measures 

Non-

performing 

exposures 

with 

forbearance 

measures 

Performing 0 0 

Performing exposures with forbearance measures 0 675 

Non-performing 0 0 

Non-performing exposures with forbearance measures 0 30,035 

Not applicable 0 0 

Total 0 30,710             
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EUR thousand   

Forbearance 
status as at 31 
December 
2018 

Exposure as at 31 December 2017 

Performing 

exposures 

with 

forbearance 

measures 

Non-

performing 

exposures 

with 

forbearance 

measures 

Performing 28,661 10,481 

Performing exposures with forbearance measures 271,869 3,596 

Non-performing 31 23,824 

Non-performing exposures with forbearance measures 8,032 175,160 

Not applicable 2,130 221 

Total 310,722 213,281             
 

The significant decrease in the forbearance exposures are influenced by repayment or write-offs. Some clients had non-performing forborne 

status, which are not included anymore. Additionally, two clients of Sberbank Europe AG have no forborne status anymore. 

Modifications of financial assets 

Modifications cover all types of changes to the contractual terms of a financial instrument that are effected after initial recognition of such 

instrument. They are not limited to a specific type of change, but cover all contractual changes, irrespective of the reason for the adjustment 

e.g. concessions, renegotiations, forbearance measures, market-driven adjustments. 

At SBEU Group, modifications of contractual cash flows mainly result due to: 

 financial difficulties of the borrower e.g. forbearance measures or 

 changed economic situation in combination with a negotiating power of the borrower in order to keep up future business relations. 

The financial assets is to be derecognized if the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, hence in cases when the 

contractual rights are modified significantly. 

 

To determine the significance of the modifications the Bank uses different qualitative and quantitative criteria depending on the reason for the 

modification. For the modifications triggered by the financial difficulties of the borrower qualitative criteria are used e.g. change in the currency, 

introduce contractual clauses which determine a change in the financial instrument classification, change in type of instrument, etc. 

 

For the modifications which are note related to the difficulties of the borrower additionally quantitative criteria i.e. >10% change of GCA and 

maturity change >100% are used in order to determine the significance. 

 

Financial assets for which modification result from renegotiation of a performing non-forborne lending agreement (expectation Stage 1) and 

are required by customer and the new terms are at market rate is treated as significant modification. 

 

If the modification of a financial instrument is not classified as significant, the financial instrument remains in balance sheet and the difference 

between amortized cost prior to the modification and after the modification is booked and reported in the profit and loss statement.  

 

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired – POCI 

In SBEU Group POCI assignment is mainly obtain for: 

 

 Assets bought from a previous creditor where they have already been considered as defaulted 

 Assets newly recognized after a substantial modification in the case of distressed restructuring, where the old asset was derecognized, but 

the financial difficulties of the borrower are still persistent and this is obvious from the very moment of recognition of the new asset which 

is deemed significant either in absolute terms or relative terms compared with the amount of the original asset(s) modified. SBEU considers 

a modified asset as “significant” if the original asset(s) before derecognition exceed the amount of EUR 10,000. 
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POCI assets are always provisioned according to the principles applicable for LTECL provisioning with remarks that at initial recognition a POCI 

asset is recognized at fair value and there is no need for creation of provisions. In case of positive recovery expectations negative provisions 

are calculated according for POCI asset (positive gain is recognized in the profit statement under POCI category). In case of negative recovery 

expectations POCI assets are provisioned according to LTECL approach. 

 Liquidity risk 

 Definitions, Processes, Governance 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of the bank not being able to meet its payment obligations on the due date or only being able to do so by 

incurring significant economic losses. Liquidity risk in the Group is classified as market liquidity risk and funding liquidity risk, with the former 

referring to the risk the bank cannot easily offset or eliminate a position at the market price due to inadequate market depth or market 

disruption. Funding liquidity risk, on the other hand, refers to the risk that the bank will not be able to meet efficiently both expected and 

unexpected current and future cash flows and collateral needs without affecting either daily operations or the financial condition of the bank. 

Funding liquidity risk is further divided into insolvency risk and structural liquidity risk, where the former is defined as the short-term risk that 

current or future payment obligations cannot be met in full on time in an economically justified way. Structural liquidity risk refers to the long-

term risk of losses due to a change in the own refinancing cost or spread. 

Apart from both mentioned types of liquidity risks, the Group also accounts for liquidity concentration risk, which is risk arising from concen-

trations in both assets and liabilities that can lead to liquidity problems and regulatory liquidity risk, which is the risk of non-compliance with 

any mandatory liquidity ratios required by the regulatory requirements demands. 

The general framework of liquidity risk management in the Group, with the related process definitions, responsibilities and the subordinated 

guidelines structure, is summarized under the Group Liquidity Policy. All entities in the Group are obliged to comply with all Group standards 

on the introduction and monitoring of the methods, principles and policies of the Group. In order to ensure strict compliance with international 

and national regulations and best practices within the sector, the strengthening of IT systems, on which the liquidity risk reporting process is 

heavily based, as well as the continuous improvement of data quality and automation of processes are at the core of the Group’s initiatives. 

 Methods and Instruments for Risk Controlling and Mitigation 

Cash-flow projections are done regularly (both contractual and behaviour) for the next 12-month-period with business-as-usual assumptions 

(base scenario). Funding Gap per time buckets and counterbalancing capacity are calculated on the solo and group level and reported to the 

management regularly. 

A survival period analysis, which refers to the period during which the Bank can continue operating without needing to generate additional 

funds and still meet all its payments due under the assumed stress scenarios, is measured on both the solo and group level. Regular stress tests 

are executed both for institute specific and market driven crisis scenarios as well as a combination of the two. The liquidity gaps and buffers 

are calculated and analyzed for each entity for all relevant currencies, in which business operations are conducted. It is ensured that the Bank 

possesses a sufficient liquidity buffer (highly liquid assets; mainly cash and central bank eligible securities) to absorb the cumulative negative 

liquidity gap that may arise for each subsidiary during the next month in each stress scenario. The internal limit-controlling process ensures an 

appropriate amount of liquidity buffer to guarantee a strict compliance with the regulatory minimum survival horizon of one month at any 

point in time. Internal trigger levels are settled, which activates corresponding contingency plans (depending on the levels), where the related 

processes and measures are described in an operationally detailed way in the respective guidelines.  

It will also be assured that a sufficient amount of cash will be held in Central Bank accounts in subsidiaries to comply with all local regulatory 

minimum reserve requirements. All the liquidity metrics, where a local regulatory requirement is enforced, are regularly reported by each 

subsidiary to the Group in order to enable a monitoring function on the group level, thereby ensuring a continuous compliance with the local 

legal requirements 

Basel III risk ratios, Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) are calculated and reported to ALCO on a regular basis. 

The results are evaluated both on the solo and consolidated level.  

Limits on Loans-to-Deposits Ratio (LDR) and Primary Funds Ratio (PFR) are ensuring the target of the Group to be self-financed and stimulate 

funding from non-FI clients’ deposits, which represent main source of funding for the SBEU Group. These met-rics are calculated and reported 
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to ALCO on a monthly basis. While stimulating funding from clients, the Group applies also limita-tion on portion of top-10 clients’ depositors 

via Concentration Ratio. 

Limit on Asset Encumbrance Ratio ensures control over overall level of Asset Encumbrance of the SBEU Group. 

Other key liquidity metrics are calculated and reported to the Management regularly as an indicator of the degree of implemen-tation of the 

Group’s strategy 

 Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities 

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

EUR thousand           2019 

Non-derivative liabilities 
Carrying 
amount 

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 

3 months – 1 
year 1 - 5 years 

More than 5 
years 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 933,392 62,775 215,894 326,330 250,336 78,057 

Due to customers 9,010,364 5,778,058 1,070,669 1,361,238 748,280 52,119 

Debt securities in issue 43,123 0 1,087 42,036 0 0 

Subordinated debt 326,205 1,194 0 0 325,011 0 

Negative Fair value from Derivatives 12,922 2,891 (1,818) 1,041 10,702 104 

For trading purposes             

Receiving part 1,216,879 461,661 170,724 153,798 239,018 191,679 

Paying part 1,203,958 458,770 172,542 152,756 228,316 191,574 

For risk management purposes             

Receiving part 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Paying part 0 0 0 0 0 0 

              

EUR thousand           2018 

Non-derivative liabilities 
Carrying 
amount 

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 

3 months – 1 
year 1 - 5 years 

More than 5 
years 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 1,425,174 89,103 233,228 145,879 917,186 39,779 

Due to customers 8,221,801 5,383,128 938,797 1,106,360 771,053 22,465 

Debt securities in issue 52,386 0 0 9,524 42,862 0 

Subordinated debt 335,173 0 1,223 8,890 0 325,059                             
 

 

Cash flows from negative fair value derivatives are presented undiscounted in the table above. 

 

2019 
Carrying 
amount 

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 

3 months – 1 
year 1 - 5 years 

More than 5 
years 

Loans and advances to credit institutions 

(net) 335,074 261,623 191 46,376 16,585 10,299 

Loans and advances to customers at 

amortised cost (net) 7,860,333 377,980 315,206 1,297,794 3,266,085 2,603,268 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 60,556 126 259 1,360 11,703 47,108 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 158 158 0 0 0 0                             
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2018 
Carrying 
amount 

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 

3 months – 1 
year 1 - 5 years 

More than 5 
years 

Loans and advances to credit institutions 

(net) 531,498 347,449 83,406 47,900 44,527 8,216 

Loans and advances to customers at 

amortised cost (net) 7,678,529 358,437 342,754 1,242,773 3,307,113 2,427,452 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 4,520 330 112 843 3,235 0 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 397 377 0 7 13 0                             
 

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities expected to be recovered or settled 

more than 12 months after the reporting date: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

  

Expected to 
be recovered 

in less than 12 
months 

Expected to 
be recovered 
in more than 

12 months 

Expected to 
be recovered 

in less than 12 
months 

Expected to 
be recovered 
in more than 

12 months 

Financial assets         

Loans and advances to credit institutions 308,190 26,884 480,744 52,862 

Loans and advances to customers 1,992,883 5,928,164 2,045,434 6,127,008 

Trading assets 45,994 23,019 4,554 31,143 

Investment securities 411,495 351,630 482,438 469,787 

Financial liabilities         

Amounts owed to credit institutions 604,999 328,393 468,209 956,965 

Amounts owed to customers 8,209,965 800,399 7,428,284 793,517 

Trading liabilities 39,576 37,976 8,998 6,099                     
 

 Cash-flow projections as at 31 December 2019 (Base Scenario) 

Short description on the major assumptions: 

Expected cash inflows, outflows and realizable (additional) liquidity per period are understood to be both contractual and projected maturities 

and volumes under normal market conditions.  

Therefore expectations on the basis of planned values are assumed for the projections. Reported planned values are questioned critically on 

the basis of the relevant ongoing assessment by Risk Management and deviations from the planned values are determined in accordance with 

the prudence principle: Cash inflows and realizable (additional) liquidity have to be corrected downwards, cash outflows upwards. All cash 

flows are calculated under conservative assumptions. 

Cash-flow projections as at 31 December 2019: 
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In EUR million               

2019               

Positions Initial stock up to 5 days 
> 5 days, ≤ 1 

month 
> 1 month, ≤ 3 

months 
> 3 months, ≤ 

6 months 
> 6 months 

≤ 12 months > 12 months 

Loans due from credit 

institutions (unsecured) 682 602 68 2 3 5 2 

Loans due from credit 

institutions (secured; 

reverse repo) 424 138 286 0 0 0 0 

Expected issuances (short 

term <1y, e.g. CP, CD, FRN) 

[incl. private placements] 

[conservative estimate] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

thereof secured issuances 

(short-term <1y) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected issuances (long-

term >1y, e.g. bonds) [incl. 

private placements] 

[conservative estimate] 42 0 1 2 2 0 0 

thereof secured issuances 

(long-term >1y) 39 0 1 1 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

unsecured interbank 

deposits [conservative est.] 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

secured interbank deposits 

(Repos) [conservative est.] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

wholesale deposits 

[conservative estimate] 4,024 170 237 195 261 401 0 

thereof sight deposits - 

wholesale 2,609 181 216 103 135 232 0 

Expected inflow of new 

retail deposits [conservative 

estimate] 4,800 132 196 333 399 584 0 

thereof sight deposits - 

retail 3,127 103 123 152 184 327 0 

Expected loans due from 

non-banks 8,145 138 136 305 500 791 5,790 

Expected inflow due to new 

FX-swaps [conservative est.] 0 27 17 15 0 0 0 

Expected inflow due to 

maturing FX-swaps 1,138 324 352 223 99 129 12 

Expected inflow from 

maturing assets in own 

portfolio 0 0 22 99 167 83 374 

other 0 0 0 219 196 150 377 

Sum Cash Inflows 0 1,530 1,316 1,393 1,627 2,149 6,555 

Tender (due) 82 0 0 0 0 0 82 

Liabilities due to credit 

institutions (interbank 

deposits) 588 35 23 226 231 73 0 

Repos (due) 33 0 0 4 1 3 25 
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Short-term paper due (e.g. 

CP, CD, FRN) [incl. private 

placements] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

thereof secured paper 

(short-term) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Long-term paper due (e.g. 

bonds, incl. coupon) [incl. 

private placements] 42 0 0 1 41 0 0 

thereof secured paper 

(long-term) 39 0 0 0 39 0 0 

Planned advances to credit 

institutions (money market) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Outflow of wholesale-

deposits 

(estimated/modelled) 

[conservative est.] 4,024 358 267 192 244 238 2,725 

thereof sight deposits - 

wholesale 2,609 317 203 99 126 117 1,748 

Outflow of retail-deposits 

(estimated/modelled) 

[conservative est.] 4,800 127 156 212 212 247 3,846 

thereof sight deposits - 

retail 3,127 101 115 115 111 105 2,579 

Expected new loans 0 144 114 471 692 1,095 0 

Liquidity support of 

subsidiaries/branches 

(actually required) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected outflow due to 

new FX-swaps 0 27 4 15 0 0 0 

Expected outflow due to 

maturing FX-swaps 1,129 324 344 222 98 129 13 

Other (e.g. payments for 

long-term liabilities, 

coupons) 0 191 10 23 32 69 592 

Expected calling of credit 

commitments [non-banks, 

conservative estimate, no 

stress] 1,418 16 26 40 39 63 0 

Expected calling of credit 

commitments [banks, 

conservative estimate, no 

stress] 7 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Expected financial 

investments 0 0 22 89 158 80 334 

Sum Cash Outflows 0 1,223 969 1,495 1,747 1,997 7,616 

Net Funding Gap 
(Difference Sum Cash 
Inflows/Sum Cash 
Outflows) 0 307 348 (102) (119) 152 (1,061) 

Accumulated Net Funding 
Gap 0 307 655 553 433 585 (476) 

Realisable (additional) 
Liquidity per Period 
[Counterbalancing 
Capacity] 0 2,227 (275) (4) (6) (2) (2) 

avg. haircut: in %               
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Tender/unencumbered 

collateral 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 

Liquid Assets**** 

(Marketable Securities, excl. 

Collateral posted with CBs) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Cash; excess reserves at 

CBs 0 1,411 0 0 0 0 0 

   AAA rated 3 76 0 0 0 0 0 

   AA rated 4 297 (275) 0 0 0 0 

   A rated 5 10 0 0 0 0 0 

   BBB rated 0 173 0 0 0 0 0 

   Others 13 162 0 (4) (6) (2) (2) 

Other assets assets 

available for 

collateralisation [e.g. credit 

claims and other illiquid 

assets) 0 21 0 0 0 0 0 

Callable, committed 

creditlines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Liquidity support received 

from holding company 

(binding commitment)***** 0 55 0 0 0 0 0 

Accumulated realisable 
Liquidity [Realisable 
additional Liquidity per 
Period +/- Net Funding 
Gap] 0 2,534 2,607 2,501 2,375 2,525 1,462                 
 

 

Cash-flow projections as at 31 December 2018: 
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In EUR million               

2018               

Positions Initial stock up to 5 days 
> 5 days, ≤ 1 

month 
> 1 month, ≤ 3 

months 
> 3 months, ≤ 

6 months 

> 6 months ≤ 

12 months > 12 months 

Loans due from credit 

institutions (unsecured) 260 114 105 32 0 5 5 

Loans due from credit 

institutions (secured; 

reverse repo) 352 91 260 0 0 0 0 

Expected issuances (short 

term <1y, e.g. CP, CD, FRN) 

[incl. private placements] 

[conservative estimate] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

thereof secured issuances 

(short-term <1y) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected issuances (long-

term >1y, e.g. bonds) [incl. 

private placements] 

[conservative estimate] 48 0 1 2 2 4 3 

thereof secured issuances 

(long-term >1y) 39 0 1 2 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

unsecured interbank 

deposits [conservative est.]   0 2 0 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

secured interbank deposits 

(Repos) [conservative est.]   0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected inflow of new 

wholesale deposits 

[conservative estimate] 3,669 186 274 222 234 366 18 

thereof sight deposits - 

wholesale 2,496 152 180 94 153 216 18 

Expected inflow of new 

retail deposits [conservative 

estimate] 4,526 99 223 325 385 662 95 

thereof sight deposits - 

retail 2,959 67 146 186 239 361 22 

Expected loans due from 

non-banks 7,782 74 126 316 428 777 5,537 

Expected inflow due to new 

FX-swaps [conservative est.]   5 49 0 0 16 0 

Expected inflow due to 

maturing FX-swaps 1,062 141 253 142 147 292 87 

Expected inflow from 

maturing assets in own 

portfolio   0 138 61 160 85 463 

other   0 0 181 1 2 383 

Sum Cash Inflows 0 710 1,431 1,280 1,357 2,209 6,592 

Tender (due) 63 0 0 0 0 0 63 

Liabilities due to credit 

institutions (interbank 

deposits) 1,003 27 54 214 100 0 608 

Repos (due) 33 0 0 0 0 0 33 
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Short-term paper due (e.g. 

CP, CD, FRN) [incl. private 

placements] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

thereof secured paper 

(short-term) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Long-term paper due (e.g. 

bonds, incl. coupon) [incl. 

private placements] 48 0 0 0 2 4 42 

thereof secured paper 

(long-term) 39 0 0 0 0 0 39 

Planned advances to credit 

institutions (money market) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Outflow of wholesale-

deposits 

(estimated/modelled) 

[conservative est.] 3,669 298 251 243 160 233 2,484 

thereof sight deposits - 

wholesale 2,496 265 190 162 111 150 1,619 

Outflow of retail-deposits 

(estimated/modelled) 

[conservative est.] 4,526 98 184 262 265 366 3,351 

thereof sight deposits - 

retail 2,959 76 139 154 246 182 2,262 

Expected new loans   92 100 314 592 935 0 

Liquidity support of 

subsidiaries/branches 

(actually required)   0 0 0 0 0 0 

Expected outflow due to 

new FX-swaps   5 46 0 0 15 0 

Expected outflow due to 

maturing FX-swaps 1,061 141 254 139 148 291 87 

Other (e.g. payments for 

long-term liabilities, 

coupons) 0 1 11 24 37 78 593 

Expected calling of credit 

commitments [non-banks, 

conservative estimate, no 

stress] 1,732 21 33 42 42 66 0 

Expected calling of credit 

commitments [banks, 

conservative estimate, no 

stress] 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Expected financial 

investments 0 0 136 61 145 78 411 

Sum Cash Outflows   681 1,072 1,299 1,491 2,069 7,673 

Net Funding Gap 
(Difference Sum Cash 
Inflows/Sum Cash 
Outflows)   28 359 (19) (134) 141 (1,080) 

Accumulated Net Funding 
Gap   28 387 368 234 375 (706) 

Realisable (additional) 
Liquidity per Period 
[Counterbalancing 
Capacity]   2,428 (253) 0 (14) (5) (37) 

avg. haircut: in %               
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Tender/unencumbered 

collateral 0 68 0 0 0 0 0 

Liquid Assets**** 

(Marketable Securities, excl. 

Collateral posted with CBs) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Cash; excess reserves at 

CBs 0 1,653 0 0 0 0 0 

   AAA rated 3 133 0 0 0 0 0 

   AA rated 4 280 (250) 0 0 0 0 

   A rated 5 2 (2) 0 0 0 0 

   BBB rated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

   Others 12 225 0 0 (14) (5) (37) 

Other assets assets 

available for 

collateralisation [e.g. credit 

claims and other illiquid 

assets) 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 

Callable, committed 

creditlines 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Liquidity support received 

from holding company 

(binding commitment)***** 0 55 0 0 0 0 0 

Accumulated realisable 
Liquidity [Realisable 
additional Liquidity per 
Period +/- Net Funding 
Gap]   2,456 2,563 2,543 2,396 2,532 1,414                 
 

 Operating lease commitments 

Due to the implementation of IFRS 16, operating lease commitments are no longer applicable. Where the Group was the lessee, the future 

minimum lease payments under the cancellable operating lease as of 31.12.2018 were as follows: 

 

EUR thousand 2018 

  

Minimal lease 
payable under 

cancellable 
operating 

lease to pay 

Minimal lease 
payable under 

non-
cancellable 

operating 
lease 

<= 1 Year 3,445 64 

>= 1 Year and <= 5 Year 12,226 194 

> 5 Year 8,237 0 

Total operating lease commitments 23,907 257         
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 Market risk 

 Definition 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash-flows of an asset, liability or off-balance-sheet position changes due to changes in 

market variables, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices, commodity prices or credit spreads. Market risks can arise from 

trading and non-trading activities. SBAG differentiates between the following market risk sub-groups: 

 Market risk in the trading book; 

 Foreign exchange risk; 

 Interest rate risk in the banking book; 

 Credit spread risk. 

 Objectives and principles of market risk management 

Market Risk is responsible for assessing, evaluating and monitoring adverse market movements resulting mainly from the interest rate, foreign 

exchange rate and credit spread fluctuations. Controlling and management activities apply to those financial instruments that, depending on 

the trading intention, are revalued and allocated either to the trading or banking book.  

Responsibilities, processes, principles and tools for market risk monitoring and management are documented in the Group Market Risk Policy 

and subordinated guidelines.  

 Organization and risk strategy 

At SBEU, the Market Risk is responsible for all matters related to market risk management. All tasks are performed at the local bank level as 

well as at the group level of the group. The Market Risk units (local and head office) deal with the following tasks: 

1. Monitoring trading activities by means of risk key performance indicators (KPIs), including value-at-risk (VaR), basis point sensitivity and 

profit and loss; 

2. Development and continuous review and improvement of risk quantification and risk assessment 

 Preparation of analyses and reports on a daily, weekly, monthly or yearly basis for the 

Executive Board 

1. Support and improvement of system infrastructure and methods; 

2. Implementation and support through internal and external reports; 

3. Support and knowledge transfer on all relevant market risk issues;  

4. Monitoring limit values and escalation procedures for limit violations. 

 Interest rate risk in the banking book 

Interest rate risk in the banking book is the risk of potential losses from net asset value changes and the future development of net interest 

income due to adverse changes in market rates. Being exposed to interest rate risks is a central part of the banking business and is a key source 

of income. However, excessive interest rate risks represent a significant threat to the earnings and capital situation. Accordingly, an effective 

risk management system that monitors and limits the interest rate risk in line with the scope of business is vital for maintaining the Bank’s 

ability to bear risk. 

ALCO is the coordination body for managing the ALM processes, including banking book issues. It meets on a monthly basis. The ALM depart-

ment is responsible for ensuring the ALM organization is adequate, organizes the meetings of the ALCO and is the main execution body for 

ALCO decisions. 

The Market Risk Management unit is responsible for specifying risk measurement methods and enhancing them on an ongoing basis. Preparing 

evaluations and analyses, setting parameters and monitoring limits also fall within its remit. The reports it produces serve as decision-making 

tools for the ALCO in the performance of its management tasks. In order to prepare accurate interest rate risk reports, all interest-sensitive 

positions within the Group are included in the measurement of interest rate risk. This reporting takes place on a monthly basis.  
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The declared aim of interest rate risk management is to identify all material interest rate risks associated with assets, liabilities and off-balance 

positions in the banking book. 

Positions with uncertain interest commitments, in particular core products such as savings deposits and current account balances, but also 

loans without a defined maturity, are taken into account in the risk measurement by means of assumptions. These assumptions are based on 

statistical analyses of historical data. All assumptions made are documented and regularly reviewed. 

Positions with embedded optionality (automatic and behavioural) are taken into account by means of the models. The model assumptions are 

documented and regularly reviewed. 

Monthly reporting on interest rate risk includes the impact of the regulatory required 200 base points parallel shift on the net asset value, the 

overview of gaps (basis point values) for each currency and time-bucket, as well as a net interest rate simulation. In addition, the impact of a 

set of scenarios on the net asset value is performed on a monthly basis, including: 

 Yield curve shift - long-term interest rates rise 

 Yield curve shift - short-term interest rates rise 

 Yield curve shift - long-term interest rates drop 

 Yield curve shift - short-term interest rates drop 

 Butterfly – short and long-term interest rates rise 

 Butterfly – short and long-term interest rates drop 

 Steepener - Yield curve gets steeper due to rising long-term interest rates or falling short-term interest rates 

Flattener - Yield curve gets flatter due to falling long-term interest rates or rising short-term interest ratesBesides the limit defined by the 

regulatory authority of 20% of eligible own funds with a standardized interest rate curve shift of 200 base points based on the regulatory 

interest rate risk statistics as well as 15% of Tier 1 as per supervisory outlier test, the following internal limits are defined and monitored: 

 Short-end BPV 

 Long-end BPV 

 Total BPV 

 NII sensitivity limit 

 

Sensitivity of changes in interest rates in EUR thousand:   2019 

  
100 bp 

decrease Equity impact 

ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 

Loans and advances to credit institutions (net) 34,069 34,069 

Loans and advances to customers (net) 48,567 48,567 

Trading assets 1,006 1,006 

Investments in securities 9,910 9,910 

LIABILITIES     

Amounts due to credit institutions (18,825) (18,825) 

Deposits and current accounts (46,323) (46,323) 

Trading liabilities (15,626) (15,626) 

Debt instruments issued (148) (148) 

Subordinated liabilities (749) (749)             
 

There is no contractual maturity for cash and cash equivalents, that is why there is not any interest rate risk.  

Based on the splitting you sent us I think that only “Mandatory cash balances with central banks-gross” is a discussable. Nevertheless, I am not 

aware of any “maturity” or other predefined terms that could indicate future cash flows even for this segment. 

Based on the table above, the overall level of interest rate risk is relatively low.  
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In addition, on a monthly basis, SBEU monitors the sensitivity of the net interest income to parallel shift of yield curve by 100bp . The impact 

to 100bp shift aggregated by currencies are represented in the table below: 

100 bps shift in curves effect on net interest income one year horizon in EUR thousand:   2019 

Currency 
Favourable 
P&L impact 

Adverse P&L 
impact 

EUR 2,527 0 

USD 276 0 

CHF 0 (115) 

HUF 0 (515) 

BAM 1,202 0 

HRK 326 0 

RSD 544 0 

CZK 6,771 0 

Remaining currencies 0 (476) 

Total 11,646 (1,106)              
 

100 bps shift in curves effect on net interest income one year horizon in EUR thousand:   2018 

Currency 
Favourable 
P&L impact 

Adverse P&L 
impact 

EUR 5,605 0 

USD 0 (509) 

CHF 0 (72) 

HUF 1,001 0 

BAM 1,185 0 

HRK 190 0 

RSD 226 0 

CZK 3,219 0 

Remaining currencies 0 (556) 

Total 11,426 (1,137)             
 

 

 Market risk in the trading book 

The Bank has a trading book according to the regulatory standardized approach, therefore not applying the rules for the small trading book 

according to Art. 94 of EU regulation 575/2013 (CRR). However, a state-of-the-art risk management for all trading activities, including a Value-

at-Risk model based on regulatory requirements for an internal model, is available. All Market Risks arising from trading activities are covered 

i.e. Interest Rate Risk, FX Risk, and Options Risk.  

The management and monitoring of market risks in the area of trading is performed by independent market risk units (locally and at group 

level). Daily risk reporting includes the calculation and monitoring of profit or loss and corresponding stop-loss limits, monitoring of Value-at-

Risk, and sensitivity limitations. The market risk framework includes limits at the group level as well as on local bank and portfolio level. All 

limits are regularly reviewed and have to be approved by the Management Board. 

The Value-at-Risk (VaR) model is based on a historical simulation approach. Following the identification and definition of the market risk 

factors to be included in the modelling process, historical changes are identified from the time series of the market risk factors. The historical 

simulation method is based on the assumption that future changes can be forecast from these historically observed changes. 

To identify the future (hypothetical) development of market risk factors required for the VaR calculation, in each case the historically observed 

changes are added as an alternative to the current development of a risk factor, thus producing a hypothetical distribution for the future 

development of individual market risk factors. In the next step, hypothetical portfolio values are defined for the scenarios generated in this way 

that are then used to calculate the profit or loss distribution by mapping the differences between the hypothetical future and currently observed 

portfolio value. The VaR is obtained by applying the relevant quantile to the empirically calculated profit or loss distribution. The time series 

length used at SBEU corresponds with the minimum legal requirement of one year. 
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The amount of VaR is calculated from the 5% quantile of the hypothetical profit or loss distribution, in line with the requirements for an internal 

model of assuming a one-sided forecast interval with a probability level of 95% in the VaR calculation. The calculation is based on a holding 

period of one day, which can be multiplied by the square root of ten for the purpose of extrapolating a ten-day VaR. The model is back-tested 

on a daily basis. 

The following table sets out the trading risks of the Group by means of the VaR calculation method described above (values in EUR): 

 

Date Bank Total VaR FX VaR IR VaR 

31.12.2019 SBEU 48,242 45,81 16,81 

31.12.2018 SBEU 147,993 130,914 184,099                     
 

 Sensitivity analysis  

Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions could lead to 

different measurements of fair value. This is particularly the case if the market inputs are not directly observable in the market as is the case 

with Level 3 assets. SBEU has only immaterial volume of 9 Mio EUR of financial instruments classified as Level 3.. As of 31.12.2019, the difference 

was approximately 7.500 EUR which can be explained by different methodology applied and different assumptions used. The amount is 

deemed to be immaterial. 

 Foreign Exchange (FX) Risk 

FX risk in SBEU arises from open currency positions as well as from participations in non-euro currencies. Open currency positions in each 

bank, and at the group level, are limited via a set of limits. Market risk management monitors compliance with the limits and provides daily 

and monthly reports on open currency positions. In terms of major open currency positions as a percentage of the Group’s own funds, SBEU 

has the following open foreign currency exposure: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

  FX position 
FX Sensitivity 

(1%) 
in % of own 

funds FX position 
FX Sensitivity 

(1%) 
in % of own 

funds 

BAM (15,320) 152 0.94% (11,777) 116,6 0.72% 

RSD (11,109) 110 0.68% (14,294) 141,5 0.87% 

HRK 31,180 (309) 1.91% (9,339) 92,5 0.57% 

CHF (196) 2 0.01% (193) 1,9 0.01% 

HUF 1,086 (11) 0.07% (6,370) 63,1 0.39% 

USD 278 (3) 0.02% 2,281 (22,6) 0.14% 

RUB 735 (7) 0.05% 636 (6,3) 0.04% 

PLN 588 (6) 0.04% 337 (3,3) 0.02% 

DKK 353 (4) 0.02% 271 (2,7) 0.02% 

AUD (45) 0 0.00% 58 (0,6) 0.00% 

SEK (443) 4 0.03% 247 (2,4) 0.02% 

GBP (776) 8 0.05% (859) 8,5 0.05% 

NOK 281 (3) 0.02% 464 (4,6) 0.03% 

CZK (804) 8 0.05% 23,705 (234,7) 1.44% 

JPY 57 (1) 0.00% (74) 0,7 0.00% 

UAH 0 0 0.00% 0 0,0 0.00% 

CAD 21 (0) 0.00% 239 (2,4) 0.01% 

RON 183 (2) 0.01% 210 (2,1) 0.01% 

TRY 123 (1) 0.01% 19 (0,2) 0.00% 

CNY 51 (1) 0.00% 1 0,0 0.00% 

HKD (1) 0 0.00% (1) 0,0 0.00%                             
 

The total amount of assets denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date was EUR 6,288,533 thousand (2018: EUR 5,808,695 

thousand) and liabilities EUR 6,641,666 thousand (2018: TEUR 6,144,627).  

 Credit Spread Risk in the banking book 

Credit spread risk refers to the risk of decreasing market values of securities due to changes in the credit spreads. SBEU holds a portfolio of 

liquid bonds in order to maintain the regulatory required liquidity buffers in the local banks, which are mainly securities issued by governments 

and central banks. No other exposure to credit spread sensitive instruments (credit linked notes or credit derivatives) exists.  

Credit spread risk is measured and managed by reporting credit spread basis point values (CS01) for each currency and issuer to ALCO, corre-

sponding targets have been defined as part of the risk appetite framework. For assessing the economic capital required for credit spread risk, 

a simulation model is applied to calculate VaR. The model simulates credit spread changes and calculates the impact of those simulations to 

the portfolio valuation.  

The credit spread sensitivities (CS01) for the Group can be found in the following table. The CS01 is defined as the valuation impact of a one 

basis-point increase in credit spreads. 

  31.12.2019 31.12.2018 

EUR thousand CS01 CS01 

Mandatorily at FVTPL 0 0 

Designated at FVTPL 0 0 

FVOCI - Debt instruments (149,343) (132,390) 

FVOCI - Equity instruments 0   

Amortised cost (12,102) (3,638)             
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 Risk reports 

The following reports are made available by Market Risk Management: 

 Measurement of value-at-risk and sensitivities for global market activities, including limit monitoring;  

 Reporting of P&L for financial markets products; 

 Monitoring the utilization of counterparty limits for financial markets transactions; 

 Monitoring of open FX positions; 

 Interest rate risk reporting, including regulatory reports, basis point value sensitivities, and net-interest-income simulation; 

 Risk reports presented to ALCO and Group Risk Committee; 

 Regular reports to the regulatory authorities and to management; 

 Liquidity risk stress-testing; 

 Ad hoc reports. 

Activities and changes in 2019 

Besides regular tasks and continuous maintenance and improvement of existing processes, tools, and models, market risk has conducted 

analyses and pre-studies of expected future changes to the regulatory requirements. Those requirements include planned changes in the 

interest rate risk management framework, the fundamental review of the trading book, and the new standardized approach for counterparty 

credit risk exposure calculation. Additionally, preparation for the upcoming 2019 ECB liquidity stress-test was performed. 

 Capital management 

Capital management in the Group is performed on the basis of the regulatory capital. The entity is subject to external standards governing its 

equity requirements based on the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) 575/2013. This regulation transposed the Basel III standards into EU 

law and replaces the capital requirements according to BWG from 1 January 2014. 

The Group uses the rules regarding capital ratios specified there as the central management variable for the Group. These ratios reflect the 

relationship between regulatory capital and credit, market and operational risk. Accordingly, the risk/return management of the Bank is based 

on the capital allocated to one transaction or, ultimately, one organizational unit and the income to be generated from this, taking into account 

the corresponding risk considerations. 

Credit risk is determined by multiplying on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures on the basis of their relative risks by the attributed 

risk-weight of the counterparty. The procedure for determining risk-relevant parameters (exposure, risk weighting) is based on percentages 

specified by regulatory requirements (standardized approach). The capital requirements for operational risk are calculated by multiplying rev-

enues by the respective percentages for the relevant business areas. 

After the implementation of Basel III requirements the regulatory capital is divided as follows:  

 Common Equity or Tier I capital; 

 Supplementary capital or Tier II capital; 

The equity ratio of the Group is based on the sum of eligible capital instruments of all companies within the regulatory consolidation scope 

(group of institutions according to CRR). The minimum equity ratio is calculated according to the rules stated in Art 92 CRR and currently 

amounts to 8% for Tier I on group level. According to legal requirements, the capital conservation buffer according to § 23 BWG will be appli-

cable from 2016. 

The Group complied with and exceeded these regulatory requirements during the entire reporting period. 

Beside ongoing analyses and monitoring of the equity pursuant to regulatory requirements, the overall bank risk is also measured in the Internal 

Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) model. 

The basis of a quantitative implementation of ICAAP is the risk bearing capacity to be calculated on monthly basis. This ensures the coverage 

of the risks assumed through adequate risk coverage capital. For this purpose, all material individual risks are aggregated to form a bank-wide 

risk. SBAG Group calculates the credit risk amount under pillar 2/ICAAP on the basis of a simplified unexpected loss (UEL), whereby potential 

shortfalls between the actual allocated risk provisions and the calculated expected loss (EL) are also taken into account in the risk coverage 
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capital. The bank-wide risk position is then compared to the existing and previously defined risk coverage capital. The utilization is also reported 

to the Risk Committee on a monthly basis in the course of the Group risk report. 

Regulatory requirements are split into three pillars in the Group in accordance with Basel III.  

Pillar 1: Minimum capital requirements of the Group  

The following methods are used to calculate the minimum capital requirements for each type of risk under Pillar 1: 

 Credit risk: Standardized approach;  

 Settlement risk: Standardized approach; 

 Market risk: Standardized approach; 

 Operational Risk: Standardized approach. 

Pillar 2: Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) 

ICAAP constitutes one of the core Group-wide risk management and control activities covering all risk types and risk portfolios in a compre-

hensive way, primarily focusing on risk management and steering from Pillar 2’s perspective. The main aim of the ICAAP framework is to ensure 

alignment with legal (regulatory) and internal expectations and requirements with the ultimate goal of developing and deploying adequate 

steering and management of risks and capital, ensuring the sustainable development of the Group and, at all times, the running of its operations 

with a sufficient capital level to cover all material and relevant risks. The ILAAP supplements the ICAAP process to ensure that the Group is 

adequately positioned in terms of liquidity and funding. 

Details on the implemented ICAAP framework in the Group are enclosed in the section entitled "ICAAP framework in the Group". 

Pillar 3: Disclosures  

The requirements of Pillar 3 are met through the publication of the qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements in accordance with 

the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) and national regulations related to the disclosure obligations of banks, and are published on the 

bank’s website at www.sberbank.at.  

Equity pursuant to CRR  

The Bank as an EU parent institution according to CRR is subject to regulatory requirements on group level set out in Art. 11 et seq. CRR.  

In 2019 the calculations of the Group`s capital adequacy ratio in accordance with CRR were as follows: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

  Tier 1 Capital (T1) 1,344,681 1,316,054 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) 1,344,573 1,315,947 

Additional Tier 1 Capital (AT 1) 108 107 

  Tier 2 Capital 286,795 325,741 

Total own funds 1,631,477 1,641,795 

  Risk weighted assets for credit risk 7,287,326 7,145,626 

  Risk weighted assets for operational risk 725,614 720,386 

  Risk weighted assets for position, foreign exchange and commodities risks 53,035 54,131 

  Risk weighted assets for other position 16,013 17,505 

Total risk weighted assets 8,081,987 7,937,649 

Capital adequacy ratio 20.19% 20.68%             
 

The own funds requirement calculation for the Group’s risk weighted assets pursuant to the standardized CRR approach shows the following 

picture: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

  Own funds requirement for credit risk 582,986 571,650 

  Own funds requirement for operational risk 58,049 57,631 

  Own funds requirement for position, foreign exchange and commodities risks* 4,243 4,330 

  Own funds requirement for other position 1,281 1,400 

Total funds requirement 646,559 635,012             
*Including traded debt instruments (Big trading book of the Group) 

The Group complied with and met these regulatory requirements during the entire reporting period 2019. 

According to ICAAP, the Bank’s risk coverage capital according to ICAAP is presented in Note 4.11.8.  

Issuance of the Group included in Tier II: 

 

2019         

Name 
Disclosure 

IFRS 
Repayment 

date Conditions 

Nominal 
value in EUR 

thousand 

Subordinated loan 

  05.03.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

3.40%p.a. 175,000 

Subordinated loan 

Subordinated 

liabilities 31.07.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

3.80%p.a. 100,000 

Subordinated loan 

  28.11.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

4.95%p.a. 50,000 

                              
 

2018         

Name 
Disclosure 

IFRS 
Repayment 

date Conditions 

Nominal 
value in EUR 

thousand 

Subordinated loan 

  05.03.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

3.40%p.a. 175,000 

Subordinated loan 

Subordinated 

liabilities 31.07.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

3.80%p.a. 100,000 

Subordinated loan 

  28.11.2024 

EURIBOR3M 

plus 

4.95%p.a. 50,000 

Subordinated loan EIF   22.12.2019 6.07% p.a. 8,750                     
 

Interest expenses for subordinated debt were EUR  12,439 thousand for the year 2019 (2018: EUR 13,718 thousand). Sberbank Slovenia repaid 

the subordinated liability to the European Investment Bank at the end of the year 2019. 

 Capital allocation 

The target risk profile for the Group is represented by the allocation of risk coverage capital using the risk-bearing capacity model.  Capital is 

allocated for all core risks including other risks, as well as to the strategic buffer. In that way it is ensured that the Bank has sufficient risk-

coverage capital to achieve adequate level of protection against adverse circumstances. 
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According to the current methodology, the allocated RCC is additionally decreased for both gone and going concern views by the amounts of:  

 negative shortfall,  

 settlement risk buffer,  

 country cross-border risk capital charge, 

 participation risk capital charge,  

 Stress test shortfalls (in the budgeting and limit setting process). 

 

The total internal capital is therefore compared with the risk coverage capital. The Bank needs to have available capital greater than total 

internal capital on both Going and Gone scenario. 

 ICAAP framework in the Group 

The Bank establishes the ICAAP framework as an approach for identifying, quantifying, managing and monitoring of all material risks. The 

process should ensure that the internal capital and regulatory capital is fully covered by available capital at all times. 

The RBC is closely linked to the Bank’s strategic business aims, risk appetite and risk profile as well as capital adequacy, providing a multidirec-

tional interaction mechanism between these building blocks. 

 

 

The initial step is represented identification of material risks. All material risks, the bank is or might be exposed to, are identified during the Risk 

Identification and Materiality assessment process starting from the risk taxonomy (see Risk Identification and materiality Assessment policy). 

It results in a Risk Inventory, a set of material risks, which are further considered in the subsequent stages.  

The following risk quantification and aggregation phase encompasses measurement of particular risks and assessment of internal capital 

requirement  Result of a risk quantification phase serve to evaluate how much capital for risk coverage the Group needs.  

Next to risk identification and quantification, available capital for coverage of all material risks should be established within risk coverage capital 

consolidation phase – how much capital Group has available for coverage of internal capital needs. 

Stress testing together with the internal capital planning is a key element to validate and verify the forward looking strategy. Stress testing is 

performed to evaluate resilience of the Bank to negative developments in its operating environment. More details in the Stress test policy and 

methodology. 

RBC calculation following the risk quantification and aggregation, compares internal capital requirement with the available risk coverage 

capital .  

Limit setting and risk appetite, set tolerance thresholds considering the overall capital constraints, taking into account its risk profile and risk 

strategy, and vulnerabilities.  

  

Risk 

identification 

Risk 

Quantification

Stress testing

RBC 

calculation
Limit Systems

Planning 

Budget

Risk steering 

& monitoring
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Forward looking approach of the RBC is ensured through budgeting and forecasting phase. It involves allocating available capital to particular 

risks, business segments and capital surplus, which – along with capital targets and structure – is subject to an on-going control, monitoring 

and reporting. RBC is further embedded into the overall risk management and steering process. 

The aim of risk reporting and steering is to give timely, complete and accurate information about the level of risk to the Management Board 

allowing for conscious decision-making that starts RBC process again. 

As part of the ICAAP two complemented perspectives are defined:  

 Normative perspective: a multi-year ICAAP perspective under which the institution manages its capital adequacy by ensuring that 
it is able to fulfil all of its capital-related legal requirements and supervisory demands and cope with other internal and external 
capital constraints on an ongoing basis.  

 Economic perspective: an ICAAP perspective under which the institution manages its economic capital adequacy by ensuring that 
its economic risks are sufficiently covered by available internal capital.  

Both perspectives mutually inform each other and are integrated into all material business activities and decisions 

 Normative perspective 

The normative perspective is a multi-year assessment of the ability to fulfil all of its capital-related quantitative regulatory and supervisory 

requirements and demands, and to cope with other external financial constraints, on an ongoing basis.  

The normative perspective takes into account the material risks affecting the relevant regulatory ratios, including own funds and risk exposure 

amounts, over the planning period which are Credit Market and operational risk. 

All details are described in the policy GL499 Group Capital management guideline 

 Economic perspective 

After having identified and quantified all material risks that may cause economic losses and deplete internal capital, within the economic 

perspective he bank ensures that its risks are adequately covered by internal capital in line with its internal capital adequacy concept.  

Economic capital adequacy requires that the internal capital of the institution is sufficient to cover its risks and supports its strategy on an 

ongoing basis.  

The bank performs a point-in-time risk quantification of the current situation as of the reference date. This is complemented by a medium-

term assessment of the impact of material future developments that are not incorporated in the assessment of the current situation, e.g. 

potential management actions, changes in the risk profile or in the external environment.  

 Interaction between the economic and normative perspectives  

Under the economic perspective, economic risks and losses affect internal capital immediately and to their full extent. Hence, the economic 

perspective gives a very comprehensive view of risks. Some of these risksmay also partially or fully materialise later under the normative 

perspective via accounting losses, own funds reductions or prudential provisions.  

The normative perspective takes in consideration how the risks identified and quantified under the economic perspective may affect its own 

funds and total risk exposure amount (TREA) in the future. Hence, the projections of the future capital position under the normative perspective 

are informed by the economic perspective assessments.  

More specifically, risks and impacts that are not necessarily apparent when focusing solely on the accounting/regulatory capital framework, 

but could materialise and affect future regulatory own funds or the TREA, are considered.  

Conversely, the outcomes of the normative perspective inform the economic perspective risk quantifications to adjust or complement the 

latter if the risks arising from the adverse scenario(s) are not fully captured. Thus, the normative and economic perspectives mutually inform 

each other.  

Effective risk management requires the implementation of both perspectives. 

 Overview Risk quantification and aggregation under the ICAAP 

Risk quantification represents an integral part of the process of managing individual risks. Risk-bearing capital assessment is actively used in 

risk monitoring, reporting and management. 

The table below specifies models used for the quantification of material risks: 
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Risk type Risk Subtype Regulatory Capital Economic capital 

Credit risk 

Single Name Credit Risk 
Standardized Approach 

8%*RWA 

Modified IRB approach with 99.7% confidence interval and 

1 year time horizon 

Single Name Concentra-

tion Risk 
 

Gordy’s granularity adjustment of IRB formula for 99.7% 

confidence interval 

Industry Concentration 

Risk 
 

Based on the product of the asset exposure and the risk 

weights defined for each industry risk bucket and risk grade 

Market risk 

FX Risk (OCP+FX risk from 

participations) 
Regulatory OCP*8% 

VaR based model with 99.9% confidence interval and 1 year 

time horizon 

Trading book risk (covering 

interest rate risk, commod-

ity risk, options risk) 

Standardized approach Standardized approach  

Interest rate risk in the 

banking book 
 

Historical simulation model with 99.9% confidence interval 

and holding period of 1 year 

Credit Spread risk  

Simulation of changes in NAV of bond portfolio due to 

changes in credit spreads over one year, 99.9% quantile 

used 

CVA Standardized approach Standardized approach 

Liquidity risk Funding cost risk  
Measuring spread sensitivities of individual balance sheet 

positions to the spreads shocks 

Operational risk  Standardized approach 
VaR model is used with a 99.9% confidence interval and 1-

year time horizon. 

Other Risks 
based on risk materiality 

results 
 Capital add-on (based on risk materiality results) 

Buffers 
Management Buffer 

Strategic Buffer 
 

10% of the total internal capital requirement 

5% of the total internal capital requirement 

 

Country default transfer risk settlement are addressed as well but as deductible item to the Risk Coverage Capital. 

 Stress testing 

Stress testing is performed in order to test the Bank’s vulnerability to highly unfavorable conditions, focusing on an adequate action plan and 

on a confirmation of the Bank’s endurance in case of unfavorable macroeconomic developments. Comprehensive stress testing is performed 

on the consolidated level in line with industry standards, considering macroeconomic projections estimated on a country basis, and its impact 

on relevant risk drivers. Group-wide stress tests are followed by a series of additional sensitivity analyses and reverse stress testing, a risk 

management tool of identifying possible combinations of events that might lead to a significantly negative outcome. Additionally, in case of 

risks for which no Value-at-Risk model is applied, results of stress tests may also function as a basis for assessing internal capital. 

In 2015, the ICAAP stress testing framework was enhanced by introducing a new credit risk calculation engine to translate macroeconomic 

scenarios into credit risk parameters and by automating the calculation. New quantification approaches for other material risks were also 

introduced in subsequent years. From 2017 the group stress test is performed semi-annually (while stress testing methodology updates, process 

and reverse stress rest are performed annually). 

 Limit setting  

The limit setting framework is based on the interaction of targeted risk coverage capital and targeted loan volumes, based on the budget 

forecasts, with predetermined risk quality. The limits are to be set on an annual basis, aligned with the budgeting process and monitored on a 

monthly basis after their implementation. If the material risk changes, limits may be reviewed and adjusted accordingly. 

ICAAP limits are set  for all material risks and strategic buffers, for risk coverage capital and risk coverage capital deductible items as well as 

for expected losses, and can be further broken down into portfolio business segments.  

 Risk reporting within ICAAP framework 

Internal capital requirements of all single risks items including buffers, are summed up defining the total internal capital requirement. As a 

conservative approach, no benefit from intra risk correlation is considered.  
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Total internal capital requirement is compared to the available capital after adjustment of add-on and deductible items. 

RBC reporting is integrated into the Bank’s internal reporting system. Internal capital for particular risks and overall RBC utilization levels are 

reported an on-going basis as part of the regular risk reports comprising among others: 

 RBC Report, presented monthly to the SBEU Risk Committee, describing current level of available risk coverage capital vs economic capital 

in the Pillar II framework as well as single risk impact and main drivers behind the changes in the monthly reports  

 RWA and capital steering report, presented bi-weekly on the SBEU Credit Risk Committee incorporating the anticipated changes of the 

relevant Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 ratios stemming from the realization of planned pipe-line. 

 Stress test report, presented on semi-annual basis to the SBEU Risk Committee, consisting in the results of the comprehensive stress test 

exercise and impact on the relevant risk matrices, followed by a set of adequate management actions  

 Concentration Risk Report, discussed quarterly on the SBAG Risk Committee, presenting concentration level by Cross border; Industry 

segment; Currency and Collateral types. 

 Market risk reports are presented on a monthly basis to the ALCO (Asset and liability committee). 

 

The essential risks that SBEU is exposed to in its business operations as at 31 December 2019 are credit risk 66% (2018: 71%), followed by market 

risk 10% (2018: 8%), other risks 3% (2018: 7%), operational risk 7% (2018: 5%) and liquidity risk 2% (2018: 1%).  

Risk coverage capital according to the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP): 
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EUR million 
31 December 

2019 
31 December 

2018 

Risk coverage capital 1,329 1,630 

Total risk 866 1,076 

Credit risk 567 724 

Market risk 85 86 

Operational risk 57 50 

Liquidity risk 14 6 

Other risk 29 72 

Strategic buffer 113 98 

Unused risk coverage capital 465 555 

Unused risk coverage capital used up to 65% 66%             
 

 Operational risk 

Operational risk (OpRisk) is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from 

external events (including legal and compliance risks). According to Basel III, SBEU applies the standardized approach based on gross earnings 

in each business segment. Internal capital assessment for operational risk is based on internal VaR model. 

The management of operational risk in SBEU consists of the following elements: risk identification, risk measurement/evaluation, reporting 

and monitoring, risk control and mitigation at the overall portfolio and single transaction levels. Both quantitative and qualitative methods are 

applied within the operational risk management process, including collection of internal and external loss data, risk and control self-assess-

ments, capital quantification, set of operational risk appetite limits. 

Based on the three lines of defense model, the basic responsibility for managing operational risk is with the line management and the so called 

Business Line Operational Risk Managers (BLORMs), supported by the local and Group operational risk managers. While the main task of 

central risk management is to define the framework and methods used and to perform risk measurement and analysis, decentralized risk 

managers are responsible for taking measures to reduce, prevent, or avoid risks. 

In 2019 Sberbank Europe AG focused on improving the internal loss data quality, the revision of risk self-assessment methodology, EBA Out-

sourcing guideline implemen-tation and closer monitoring of the internal control performance. 

Loss data on OpRisk events is collected and appropriate measures are defined in close cooperation with other departments such as Internal 

Audit, Compliance, Legal, Corporate Banking, Operations, Corporate Credit Risk, etc.  

In the future, activities in operational risk area will focus on: 

Fraud preventionFurther development of the risk self-assessment and budgeting processesRevision of the outsourcing providers in accordance 

with the new risk assessment methodology.Information on operational risks is reported on a monthly basis to the Risk Committee with the 

aim of integrating operational risk processes within the bank. This is done within the scope of various reports, including a report for the Risk 

Committee which informs on major loss events, monitoring of mitigation actions and internal controls performance. The reporting on current 

operational risk issues and developments including mitigation measures is presented at a monthly Risk Committee meeting. Operational risk 

capital bearing capacity is reported along the overall risk bearing capacity, which is also submitted to the Risk Committee on a monthly basis. 

The major categories of operational risk are as follows: 

 Internal fraud: Losses owing to unauthorized activity, fraud, embezzlement or violation of laws, regulations or business directives that 

involve at least one internal member of the bank; 

 External fraud: Losses owing to fraud, embezzlement or violation of laws by subjects external to the bank; 

 Employment practices and workplace safety: Losses arising from actions in breach of employment, health and workplace safety laws or 

agreements, from personal injury compensation payments or from cases of discrimination or failure to apply equal treatment; 

 Clients, products and business practices: Losses arising from non-fulfilment of professional obligations towards clients or from the nature 

or characteristics of the products or services provided; 

 Damage to physical assets: Losses arising from external events, including natural disasters, acts of terrorism and vandalism;  
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 Business disruption and system failures: Losses owing to business disruption and system failures or interruptions; 

 Execution, delivery and process management: Losses owing to operational or process management shortfalls as well as losses arising from 

transactions with commercial counterparties, sellers and suppliers. 

The chart below shows the percentage composition by event type of operational risk (data based on effect date, including credit related losses): 

Operational Risk event type 2019 2018 

Execution, Delivery and Process Management 9.5% 48.0% 

External Fraud 6.0% 7.8% 

Clients, Products and Business Practices 79.6% 34.7% 

Employment Practices and Workplace Safety 2.2% 7.6% 

Business Disruption and System Failures 2.3% 0.3% 

Internal Fraud 0.3% 1.4% 

Damage to Physical Assets 0.0% 0.3%             
 

In 2019, the main source of operational risk was “Execution, Delivery and Process Management”, ”Clients, Products and Business Practices“, 

„Employment Practices and Work Safety” and ” External Fraud”. The remaining losses, in decreasing order, stemmed from  “Business Disruption 

and System Failures”, “Internal Fraud” and “Damage to Physical Assets”. 

 Derivatives and Hedge Accounting 

Details of derivatives designated as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships are provided below. The Group uses other deriva-

tives, not designated in a qualifying hedging relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency, interest rate, equity market and credit 

risks. The instruments used include interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward contracts, futures, options, credit swaps and equity 

swaps  

The Group hedges interest rate risk only to the extent of benchmark interest rates. The benchmark rate is a component of interest rate risk 

that is observable in the relevant environments. Hedge accounting is applied where economic hedge relationships meet the hedge accounting 

criteria.  

By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates, the Group also exposes itself to credit risk of the 

derivative counterparty, which is not offset by the hedged item. The Group minimises counterparty credit risk in derivative instruments by 

entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties whose credit rating is higher than A, requiring the counterparties to post collateral 

and clearing through CCPs. 
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 Derivative financial instruments  

 

  
Nominal 
value       Fair value   

EUR thousand Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years 
More than 5 

years Total 2019 2018 

Interest related transactions 3,159 22,908 17,170 43,237 6,646 7,951 

Caps & floors 52 3,403 256 3,711 188 8 

Interest rate swap 3,108 19,505 16,914 39,527 6,458 7,943 

Currency related transactions 19,833 46 0 19,879 (110) (386) 

Cross currency swaps 93 0 0 93 (39) (46) 

FX-Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 

FX-Swaps 14,572 0 0 14,572 648 (559) 

FX-Forwards 5,169 46 0 5,215 (720) 219 

Equity related transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 22,993 22,954 17,170 63,117 6,536 7,565                             
All derivative financial instruments are OTC products. 

 Fair value hedges 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from fixed interest rate corporate loans and financial investments (hedged item). Interest rate 

risk is defined as the potential risk of loss resulting from an increase in long-term interest rates. To hedge or cover (eliminate) this loss the 

Group uses interest rate swaps, which can offset the corresponding market rates.  

When fair value hedge accounting is applied by the Group, the Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship 

is expected to be and has been highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value of the hedged item using a regression analysis. The assessment 

is based on an evaluation of the quantitative measures of the regression results.  

Net change in fair value of hedging and hedged instruments: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Net change in fair value of underlying (hedge) instruments (971) (3,249) 

Net change in fair value of  hedging derivatives 1,602 3,597 

Net change in fair value of  hedging and hedged instruments 631 348             
 

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk  

Under the Group policy, in order to conclude that a hedge relationship is effective, all of the following criteria should be met.  

 The regression co-efficient, which measure the correlation between the variables in the regression, is at lease 0,8. 

 The slope of the regression line is within a 0,8-1,25 range. 

 The confidence level of the slope is at least 95%. 

In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are: 

 The effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the interest rate swap, which is not reflected in the fair 

value of the hedged item attributable to the change in interest rate;  

 Differences in maturities of the interest rate swap and the loans or the notes. 
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At 31 December 2019, the Group held the following interest rate swaps as hedging instruments in fair value hedges of interest risk. 

      Maturity     

EUR thousand 
Less than 1 

month 1-3 months 
3 months-1 

year 1-5 year 
More than 5 

years 

Interest rate risk           

Hedge of loans and advances 0 0 0 464,421 0 

Nominal amount 0 0 0 464,421 0 

Average fixed interest rate 0 0 0 2% 0                         
 

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness were as follows: 

 

EUR thousand 
Nominal 
amount 

Carrying 
amount 
assets 

Carrying 
amount 
liabilities 

Line item in 
the SOFP 
where the 
hedging 
instrument is 
included 

Change in fair 
value used for 
calculating 
hedge 
ineffectivenes
s for 2019 

Ineffectivenes
s recognized 
in profit or 
loss 

Line item in 
profit or loss 
that includes 
hedge 
ineffectivenes
s 

Interest rate risk               

Interest rate swaps – hedge 

of loans and advances 

464,421 6,458 0 

Loans and 

advances to 

customers 

(net) 1,274 159 

Net income 

from financial 

instruments 

measured at 

FVTPL and net 

trading 

income                                 
 

 

  
Carrying 
amount 

Carrying 
amount 

Accumulated 
amount of fair 
value hedge 
adjustments 
on the hedged 
item included 
in the carrying 
amount of the 
hedged item 

Accumulated 
amount of fair 
value hedge 
adjustments 
on the hedged 
item included 
in the carrying 
amount of the 
hedged item 

Line item in 
the SOFP in 
which the 
hedged item 
is included 

Change in 
value used for 
calculating 
hedge 
ineffectivenes
s 

Accumulated 
amount of fair 
value hedge 
adjustments 
remaining in 
the SOFP for 
any hedged 
items that 
have ceased 
to be adjusted 
for hedging 
gains and 
losses 

EUR thousand Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities       

Loans and advances 

0 0 (7,043) 0 

Loans and 

advances to 

customers 

(net) (1,115) 0                                 
 

 Cash flow hedges 

Cash Flow Hedge Accounting was not applied during 2018 and 2019.  

The cash flow hedge was terminated in 2015. As the derivative was sold, hedge accounting was discontinued and from that time the amount 

recognized in other comprehensive income has to be amortized according to the repayment structure and maturity structure of the underlying 

loan portfolio 
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 Other risks 

Within the risk materiality process, the Bank assesses the materiality of a wide range of other risks that have had certain impacts on the Bank's 

performance in the past or are foreseen to have an impact in the future. All such assessed risks, considered as a part of the other risks class in 

the risk map, are assessed periodically for their materiality. Within ICAAP, any potential losses arising from other risks are accounted for via a 

dedicated capital buffer.  

Additionally to capital buffer internal controls and systems for managing other risks are, wherever possible, established with the purpose of 

minimising and limiting potential losses from other risks. 

 

 Net interest income 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Interest income 361,287 380,915 

Interest Income using effective interest rate method 343,644 372,199 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,226 1,585 

Loans and advances to credit institutions 11,003 7,861 

Loans and advances to customers 316,256 346,220 

Debt securities at amortized cost 204 277 

Debt securities at FVOCI 12,510 13,507 

Debt securities designated at FVTPL 958 2,036 

Negative Interest from financial liabilities 486 712 

Other 0 0 

Interest Income from derivatives held for risk management purposes 17,643 8,717 

Interest expenses (97,367) (90,675) 

Interest expense using effective interest rate method (80,194) (77,692) 

Amounts due to credit institutions (including central banks) (8,037) (9,652) 

Deposits and current accounts (49,562) (45,505) 

Debt instruments issued (979) (1,813) 

Subordinated liabilities (12,439) (13,718) 

Negative Interest from financial assets (7,262) (6,998) 

Other (1,915) (6) 

Interest expense from derivatives held for risk management purposes (17,173) (12,983) 

Net interest income 263,920 290,240             
 

The amounts reported above include interest income and expense, calculated using the effective interest rate method. 

Included within various line items under interest income for the year ended 31 December 2019 is a total of EUR 11,176 thousand (2018: EUR 

27,987 thousand) relating to impaired financial assets.  

The following table presents the Interest income from financial instruments not measured at FVTPL using the effective interest rate method: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Financial assets not measured at FVTPL 342,686 372,199 

financial asssets measured at amortized cost 330,184 356,591 

of which unwinding 11,176 27,987 

financial assets measured at FVOCI 12,502 13,572 

Financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL (78,370) (77,692) 

financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (78,370) (77,692)             
 

 Net fee and commission income 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Fee and commission income 122,930 121,048 

lending operations 24,263 29,750 

securities businesses 963 1,064 

from custody business 190 231 

payment transactions 58,318 55,089 

foreign exchange, foreign notes and coins transactions 12,967 13,298 

other banking services 26,230 21,614 

Fee and commission expenses (22,197) (30,201) 

lending operations (3,869) (13,560) 

securities businesses (63) (75) 

from custody business (259) (97) 

payment transactions (13,850) (11,573) 

foreign exchange, foreign notes and coins transactions (2,939) (3,858) 

other banking services (1,217) (1,038) 

Net fee and commission income 100,734 90,846             
 

Net fee and commission income does not include any income or expenses from financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value 

through profit or loss.  

 

 Impairment for financial instruments 

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial instruments of the 

years 2019 and 2018. Explanation of the terms: 12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired are included in Note 4.7.3.  
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EUR thousand 2019 

Loans and advances 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired POCI Total 

Balance as at 1 January 59,751 67,718 349,915 15,173 492,558 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 18,378 3,390 14,399 0 36,167 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition 

(net) 31 11 0 0 42 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) (19,222) (12,629) 34,768 (1,745) 1,172 

Decreases due to derecognition (423) (5,824) (14,404) (9,090) (29,742) 

Write-offs (0) (4,944) (193,772) (457) (199,173) 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology 

for estimation (net) 1,087 150 1,311 980 3,528 

Unwinding 0 0 3,468 1,310 4,777 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 6,336 (4,751) (1,585) 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (4,512) 8,715 (4,203) 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired 86 (6,133) 3,226 2,821 0 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 (40) (6,996) (7,036) 

Other movements 6,157 (1,559) 618 6,985 12,215 

Foreign exchange 55 107 2,712 (368) 2,506 

Balance as at 31 December 67,722 44,250 196,412 8,614 317,013                         
 

 

EUR thousand 2018 

Loans and advances 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired POCI Total 

Balance as at 1 January 56,252 79,946 515,156 16,875 668,229 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 11,345 1,605 11,877 0 24,826 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition 

(net) 28 (5) (20) 0 4 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) (4,226) (4,473) 30,501 605 22,407 

Decreases due to derecognition (5,961) (557) (158,130) (3,051) (167,699) 

Write-offs 0 0 (73,871) (287) (74,158) 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology 

for estimation (net) 0 0 0 0 0 

Unwinding 0 0 13,502 2,031 15,533 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 4,314 (7,541) 3,227 0 (0) 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (1,284) (2,344) 3,628 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired 584 (3,553) 2,969 0 0 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 (315) (11) (326) 

Other movements (1,047) 4,783 399 (435) 3,701 

Foreign exchange (254) (144) 992 (554) 41 

Balance as at 31 December 

                 

59,751  

                 

67,718  

              

349,915  

                 

15,173  

              

492,558                          
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EUR thousand 2019 

Debt securities 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired POCI Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2,355 0 34 0 2,389 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 120 0 0 0 120 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition 

(net) (5) 0 0 0 (5) 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) (208) 260 (12) 0 40 

Decreases due to derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 

Write-offs 0 (1) (21) 0 (22) 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology 

for estimation (net) 0 0 0 0 0 

Unwinding 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements (110) (1) 0 0 (111) 

Foreign exchange (5) 3 (0) 0 (3) 

Balance as at 31 December 2,147 260 0 0 2,407             
 

EUR thousand 2018 

Debt securities 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired POCI Total 

Balance as at 1 January 1,674 189 0 0 1,864 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 0 0 0 0 0 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition 

(net) 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) 528 0 (0) 0 528 

Decreases due to derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 

Write-offs 0 0 0 0 0 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology 

for estimation (net) 0 0 0 0 0 

Unwinding 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 190 (190) 0 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (33) 0 33 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 0 0 0 

Other movements 0 0 0 0 0 

Foreign exchange (5) 1 1 0 (3) 

Balance as at 31 December 

                   

2,355  

                           

0  

                         

34  0 

                   

2,389              
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EUR thousand 2019 

Provisions for guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired Total 

Balance as at 1 January 8,340 12,316 6,177 26,833 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 2,503 29 49 2,580 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition (net) 0 0 0 0 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) (7,006) (4,149) (438) (11,593) 

Decreases due to derecognition (358) 0 (4,000) (4,358) 

Write-offs 0 0 0 0 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology for estimation 

(net) 87 9 0 96 

Unwinding 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 4,100 (4,100) (0) 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (218) 218 (0) 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (126) (1) 127 (0) 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 0 0 

Other movements (136) 266 (0) 130 

Foreign exchange (1) 2 (23) (22) 

Balance as at 31 December 7,185 4,590 1,891 13,666             
 

EUR thousand 2018 

Provisions for guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments 12-month ECL 

Lifetime ECL 

not credit-

impaired 

Lifetime ECL 

credit-

impaired Total 

Balance as at 1 January 7,403 7,953 1,619 16,976 

Increases due to origination and acquisition 1,410 240 292 1,942 

Changes due to modifications without derecognition (net) 0 0 0 0 

Impairment or reversal of impairment (net) 261 4,329 6,912 11,502 

Decreases due to derecognition (441) (371) (2,691) (3,503) 

Write-offs 0 0 0 0 

Changes due to update in the institution's methodology for estimation 

(net) 0 0 0 0 

Unwinding 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to 12-month ECL 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 

Income from loans and advances previously written off 0 0 0 0 

Other movements (229) 163 45 (21) 

Foreign exchange (65) 1 (0) (64) 

Balance as at 31 December 

                   

8,340  

                 

12,316  

                   

6,177  

                 

26,833              
 

All 12-month ECLs and Lifetime ECLs are calculated on an individual level using collective methods of measurement. All expected credit losses 

can be allocated to the relating exposures on an individual basis. 

The following table shows impairment for financial instruments: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Impairment for financial instruments (40,770) (61,208) 

Loans and advances (40,909)            (47,236) 

Debt securities 

(155) 

                 

(528) 

Provisions for guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments 293 (13,444)             
 

 

 Net gain/losses arising from derecognition of 

financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group sold certain loans and advances measured at amortised cost. Loans and advances were 

sold due to their non performance and due to workout process. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets sold and the result arising from the derecognition are set out below. 

 

2019 
EUR thousand     

  

Carrying 
amount of 

financial 
assets sold 

Results 
arising from 

derecognition 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 1 (1) 

Loans and advances to customers 108,036 11,213 

Total 108,037 11,214             
 

2018 
EUR thousand     

  

Carrying 
amount of 

financial 
assets sold 

Results 
arising from 

derecognition 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 0 0 

Loans and advances to customers 36,667 9,798 

Total 36,667 9,798             
 

During the year ended on the 31 December 2019 a gain was recognized in the amount of EUR 11,214 thousand (2018: EUR 17,989 thousand) 

relating to the derecognition of financial assets (loans) measured at amortized cost.  

Sberbank Europe AG partially sold a loan in the nominal value of 80 million EUR concerning Signa Prime Selection AG loan (original principal 

amount of 200 million EUR) on 16th of August 2019. The loan was classified as a stage 2 loan and therefore stage 2 lifetime expected credit 

losses had been booked before the sale. With the sale the proportional amount of the impairment was released and booked as “Net gain/losses 

arising from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The impact was EUR 5,649 thousand.  
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As Sberbank Europe AG, Sberbank CZ a. s. transferred as well a loan in the nominal value of EUR 80 million to Sberbank RU to reduce the 

concentration risk of their loan portfolio. The consideration received correlated approximately to the fair value of the loan transferred. The 

difference of the received consideration and the net carrying amount of the loan of CZK 97 million was reported within gains arising for selling 

financial assets at amortised costs. The impact amounted to EUR 5,519 thousand.  

Whereas Sberbank Magyarország Zrt sold non-performing loans to decrease the NPL ratio to avoid uncertain results due to real estate market 

influence, debt trading market price changes and other market related situational changes and to decrease OPEX related items. The sold AC 

loans were classified at inception (or at transition to IRFS 9 in case of loans granted before 2018) into a business model with the management 

board’s intention to hold these loans. IFRS 9, however, allows to repel loans measured at amortised costs to prevent an increase of credit risk 

on the asset side. In 2019, approximately 1400 loans measured at amortised cost or classified as fair value through other comprehensive income 

were sold by Sberbank Magyarország Zrt. The impact amounted to EUR 7,453 thousand. 

In April 2019, Serbian Government adopted a special law, a Lex specialis, related to the conversion of housing loans from Swiss franc (CHF) into 

euro, which includes haircut (write-offs) of one part of the debt and the conversion of the remaining debt into euro. Each bank in Serbia was 

obliged to hand over an indicative offer to their clients, who hold CHF loans, till 7 June 2019. The clients had to accept or deny the offer until 7 

July 2019. Accepting clients remaining debt was converted from CHF to EUR and the converted amount was reduced by 38%. The bank had to 

absorb 23% of this haircut, whereas the remaining part of 15% was carried by the Serbian state. Sberbank Srbija a.d. realized gains on derecog-

nition for the full amount of loan loss provisions (LLPs) and additionally loss on derecognition for the haircut on these loans. Clients, who did 

not accept the conversion agreement of the Serbian government were subject to provisioning according to loan loss provision methodology. 

The negative impact amounted to EUR 9,368 thousand. 

 

 General administrative expenses 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Staff expenses (150,628) (156,911) 

Wages and salaries (105,273) (111,303) 

Expenses for statutory social security (31,161) (31,097) 

Fringe benefits (10,651) (11,263) 

Expenses for retirement benefits 0 0 

Allocation to provision for severance payments (3,543) (3,247) 

Other administrative expenses (90,231) (101,739) 

Amortization and depreciation of intangible and tangible assets (40,406) (26,228) 

Amortization and depreciation (40,658) (26,134) 

Impairment of intangible and tangible assets 252 (95) 

General administrative expenses (281,265) (284,879)             
 

Amortization and depreciation include depreciation of Right of Use of EUR 13,638 (2018: 0 EUR thousand) originated by introduction of IFRS 

16.  

In the business year 2019 see bellow expenses for the financial auditor Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H.: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Expenses for Audit services (Ernst & Young) 1,809 2,541 

Audit of the financial statement 1,231 1,491 

Other audit 386 770 

Tax consultancy services 162 89 

Other services 30 191             
 

Information Key management personnel compensation is given in note 36. 
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In Serbia, PWC is engaged for statutory audit services for financial statements. Expenses relating the audit of the financial statement amounted 

to EUR 100 thousand (2018: EUR 32 thousand), which are not part of the presentation above. In Bosnia and Herzegovina (Sberbank Sarajevo),  

PWC is engaged for statutory audit services for financial statements from June 2019. Expenses relating the audit of the financial statement 

amounted to 80,502 EUR thousand  which are not part of the presentation above. In Sberbank Croatia, PWC is as well engaged for statutory 

audit services for financial statements from June 2019. Expenses relating the audit of the financial statement amounted to EUR 66,538 thousand  

which are not part of the presentation above. 

The Group employed 3,909 staff members as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 4,006) and 3,958  staff members in 2019 (2018: 4,056) on average. 

Personnel expenses include payments for defined contribution plans totalling EUR 2,392 thousand (2018: EUR 2,102 thousand). 

Allocation to provision for severance payments includes an amount of EUR 1,627 thousand provisions for restructuring that was approved by 

Board of Management at the end of the year 2017. During 2018, EUR 724 thousand were used. The project was not finalized in the year 2019 

and will continue in the year 2020. 

Other administrative expenses include expenses for business locations of EUR 8,971 thousand (2018: EUR 23,532 thousand ), expenses for con-

sultancy and auditing of EUR 12,616 thousand (2018: EUR 13,886 thousand), expenses for electronic data processing of EUR 21,187 thousand  

(2018: EUR 17,914 thousand), expenses for marketing and representations of EUR 12,407 thousand (2018: EUR 12,297 thousand) and other posi-

tions of EUR 35,045 thousand (2018: EUR 34,220 thousand). 
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 Net income from other financial instruments at 

FVTPL and net trading income 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Net income from financial instruments mandatorily measured at FVTPL (Net trading income) 15,158 15,211 

Net gains/losses from derivative instruments 8,189 (3,923) 

Net gains/losses on foreign exchange revaluations 1,715 18,850 

Securities held for trading 2,160 108 

Net gains/losses on equity securities 849 149 

Loans and advances 2,245 27 

Net income from financial instruments designated at FVTPL 234 (869) 

Investment securities (932) (2,034) 

Loans and advances 0 0 

Deposits 0 0 

Net gains/losses from derivative instruments 1,165 1,165 

Others 0 0 

Net income from financial instruments under Hedge Accounting 629 348 

Net change in fair value of  hedging instruments 1,600 3,597 

Interest rate swaps 1,600 3,595 

foreign exchange derivatives 0 0 

commodity derivatives 0 2 

other derivatives 0 0 

Net change in fair value of underlying (hedged) instruments (971) (3,249) 

Loans and advances (971) (3,249) 

Investment securities 0 0 

Deposits 0 0 

Others 0 0 

Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL 16,019 14,690             
 

Among “Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL” the Bank presents the entire profit or loss impact of financial assets mandatorily 

measured at FVTPL other than those held for trading and the realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives held for risk management 

purposes but not forming part of a qualifying hedging relationship. The Bank presents also here the valuation gains and losses arising from 

instruments designated at FVTPL on initial recognition and from instruments under hedge accounting.  
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 Other operating income / (expense)  

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Other operating income 11,390 12,706 

Other operating income (+) 11,051 12,376 

Net gain on revaluation of investment properties (+) 89 160 

Income from consolidated affiliates 0 0 

Income from participating interests 0 0 

Income from investments in other companies 143 136 

Rental income investment property 55 27 

Rental income from operating lease contracts 52 8 

Other operating expenses (29,569) (27,587) 

Other operating expenses (-) (8,963) (9,211) 

Other taxes (-) (20,467) (17,285) 

Impairment  of goodwills (-) 0 0 

Net loss on revaluation of investment properties (-) (139) (1,091) 

Other operating income / (expense) (18,179) (14,881)     
 

Other operating expenses consist of banking tax in the amount of EUR 834 thousand (2018: EUR 842 thousand).  

 

 Income from investments in securities measured at 

FVOCI 

The line “Income from investments in securities measured at FVOCI contain debt securities,  which resulted in a gain of EUR 1,183 thousand in 

the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: EUR 976 thousand).   

  

  Income taxes, tax assets and tax liabilities  

 Income taxes 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Current income taxes (10,502) (10,946) 

Deferred income taxes (1,799) (736) 

Income taxes of discontinued operation 0 0 

Income taxes for the current fiscal year (12,301) (11,682) 

Income taxes from previous periods 58 85 

Income taxes (12,244) (11,597)             
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The following reconciliation shows the relationship between the computed and reported tax expenditure:  

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Annual result before taxes 52,856 45,583 

Annual result before taxes - discontinued operation 0 0 

Annual result before taxes 52,856 45,583 

Computed tax expenses 25 % (13,214) (11,396) 

Tax relief resulting from 0 0 

recognition of deferred taxes on previously not recognised tax loss carryforwards 

0 0 

unused tax losses from the current year and temporary differences (613) (1,223) 

from the amortization of deferred tax assets from previous years 564 409 

different foreign tax rates 6,847 6,584 

non-deductible expenses (1,352) 516 

from current minimum corporate tax (1,447) (3,353) 

investment allowances 0 0 

changes in tax rates 0 0 

other differences (3,085) (3,219) 

adjustment of deferred taxes stemming from previous year's tax losses and temporary 

differences 0 0 

Income taxes from previous periods 56 85 

Income taxes (12,244) (11,597) 

Effective tax rate 23.16% 25,44%             
 

Deferred taxes totalling EUR 31 thousand (2018: EUR 69 thousand) were charged directly to equity. 

 Tax assets 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Current taxes 139 512 

Deferred taxes 14,562 17,304 

Tax assets 14,701 17,816             
 

The table below sets out the differences resulting from the figures in the statement of financial position reported in accordance with tax 

legislation and IFRS giving rise to deferred tax assets. 

non-binding electronic copy



 

  

 
100  

Sberbank Europe AG                                               

Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2019 

Data in EUR Thousand unless stated otherwise 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Loans and advances to customers, including risk provisions 14,309 7,409 

Trading assets 33 20 

Investments in securities 315 0 

Participations 160 159 

Intangible and tangible fixed assets 1,371 302 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 0 0 

Trading liabilities 393 17 

Provisions for severance payments and other provisions 1,288 1,002 

Other assets and liabilities 4,112 985 

Tax loss carryforwards 12,524 9,447 

Deferred taxes before offsetting 34,505 19,340 

Offset against liabilities-side deferred taxes (19,944) (2,042) 

Reported deferred tax assets 14,562 17,304             
 

According to IAS 12 deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities can only be offset to the extent that they relate to the same company.  

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards in the amount of up to EUR 1,565 thousand (2018: EUR 2,851 thousand) incurred in the current 

financial year were not recognized since, in the opinion of the management, the realization of these loss carryforwards and deferred tax assets 

Tax claim in a reasonable time is not likely. Therefore, no deferred tax assets were recognized on tax loss carryforwards in the amount of EUR 

643,104 thousand (2018: EUR 651,851 thousand). 

 Tax liability 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Current taxes 2,935 1,193 

Deferred taxes 630 682 

Tax liabilities 3,564 1,875             
 

The table below sets out the differences resulting from the figures in the statement of financial position reported in accordance with tax 

legislation and IFRS, giving rise to deferred tax liabilities: 

EUR thousand 2019 2018         
Loans and advances to customers, including risk provisions 526 896 

Trading assets 0 0 

Investments in securities 1,401 906 

Intangible and tangible fixed assets 17,153 895 

Trading liabilities 332 0 

Provisions for severance payments and other provisions 0 0 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 0 0 

Other assets and liabilities 1,161 27 

Deferred taxes before netting 20,573 2,724 

Offset against asset-side deferred taxes (19,944) (2,042) 

Reported deferred tax liabilities 630 682             
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Deferred taxes are either booked via Profit or Loss or via Other Comprehensive Income according to their nature. The following table should 

give an overview on the movements in 2018 and 2019: 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 
Movement in 

2019 
Movement in 

2018 

Deferred tax assets 14,562 17,304 (2,742) (737) 

Deferred tax liabilities 630 682 (52) 72 

Net deferred tax asset 15,191 17,986 (2,690) (666) 

Thereof via other comprehensive income         

Deferred tax for assets Available for Sale         

Deferred tax for assets FVOCI     (491) 18 

Deferred tax from defined benefit obligations     (55) (92) 

Deferred tax from the hedging revaluation reserve     53 125 

Deferred tax on FV changes to financial liability at FVTPL attributable to 

changes in credit risk of that liability     0 0 

Currency differences, minority interest     47 18 

Total     (446) 69 

Thereof via profit and loss         

Net deferred income tax     (2,244) (736) 

Net deferred income tax on net income/expense from/on non-current 

assets (groups of non-current assets) held for sale     0 0 

Total     (2,690) (736)                     
 

The following table states out the unused tax losses for the year end, brake down by maturity: 

EUR thousand Unused tax losses 

Maturity breakdown of tax loss carryforwards 2019 2018 

Less than 1 year 0 0 

Between 1 – 5 years 39,158 84,492 

More than 5 years 603,946 620,562 

Total 643,104 705,054             
 

In order to verify the usability of tax loss carry forwards, a period of five years was taken as a basis in line with the Group’s tax planning. For 

EUR 643,104 thousand unused tax losses no deferred tax was recognized in the statement of financial position. Total sum of tax losses amounts 

to EUR 704,754 thousand. 
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 Discontinued operations and other assets classified 

as held for sale 

 In the years 2018 and 2019 Sberbank Europe AG has not abandoned, sold, or else wise disposed operations of the business. 

  

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Cash in hand 176,651 144,793 

Cash and cash equivalents with central banks 2,509,511 2,066,812 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,686,162 2,211,605             
 

The amounts reported under “Cash and cash equivalents with central banks” include the amount of EUR 1,286 thousand of expected credit 

losses (2018: 1,453 EUR thousand). 

In 2019, balances with central banks include EUR 420,036 thousand paid in respect of securities purchased under reverse repos (2018: EUR 

351,934 thousand). The fair value of the securities collateral held amounted to EUR 424,081 thousand (2018: EUR 351,966 thousand). Detailed 

information about these inputs are provided in Note 32. 

Balances with central banks include mandatory cash reserve amounting to EUR 393,632 thousand (2018: EUR 359,376 thousand). 

 

 Loans and advances to credit institutions 

Loans and advances to credit institutions amounting to EUR 305,623 thousand (2018: EUR 531,498 thousand) are classified in the business 

model “Hold to collect” and are measured at amortized cost.  

 

EUR thousand   2019   

  Gross amount 
Loss 

allowance Net amount 

Loans and advances to credit institutions at amortised cost (net) 337,300 (2,226) 335,074 

Due on demand 162,898 (13) 162,885 

Term placement with banks 174,402 (2,214) 172,189 

-  Ultimate parent company 27,570 0 27,570 

-  Other counterparties 146,832 (2,214) 144,618         
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EUR thousand   2018   

  Gross amount Loss allowance Net amount 

Loans and advances to credit institutions at amortised cost (net) 533,607 (2,108) 531,498 

Due on demand 270,951 (120) 270,831 

Term placement with banks 262,655 (1,988) 260,668 

-  Ultimate parent company 30,273 0 30,273 

-  Other counterparties 232,383 (1,988) 230,395                 
 

 

 Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers amounting to EUR 8,172,851  thousand (2018: EUR 8,167,525 thousand) are classified in the business model 

“Hold to collect” and are measured at amortized cost. Loans and advances to customers amounting to EUR 158 thousand are measured at 

FVOCI ( 2018: EUR 397 thousand) in Hungary and are part of the business model “Hold and sell”. For loans measured at FVTPL the total value 

is 60,556 thousand EUR (2018: EUR 4,520 thousand).  

 

EUR thousand   2019   

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost (net) Gross amount Loss allowance Net amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 3,962,803 (174,328) 3,788,476 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 585,081 (36,212) 548,869 

Mortgage loans to individuals 1,943,665 (29,140) 1,914,525 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 1,584,307 (68,431) 1,515,876 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 93,093 (4,323) 88,770 

Car loans to individuals 3,901 (84) 3,817 

  8,172,852 (312,518) 7,860,333 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI Gross amount Loss allowance 

Fair value 

amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 622 (466) 157 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 341 (341) 0 

Mortgage loans to individuals 160 (159) 1 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 0 (0) 0 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 0 0 0 

Car loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Total fair value amount 1,124 (966) 158 

Loans and advances to customers subject to impairment 8,173,976 (313,485) 7,860,491 

        

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL Gross amount  

Fair value 

amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 2,628 0 2,628 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 0 0 0 

Mortgage loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 57,928 0 57,928 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 0 0 0 

Car loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Total fair value amount 60,556 0 60,556 

        

Loans and advances to customers (net) 8,234,532 (313,485) 7,921,047         
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EUR thousand   2018   

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost (net) Gross amount 

Loss 

allowance Net amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 4,204,665 (322,616) 3,882,049 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 555,375 (50,325) 505,050 

Mortgage loans to individuals 1,963,643 (42,690) 1,920,953 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 1,326,293 (68,192) 1,258,102 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 83,585 (4,190) 79,394 

Car loans to individuals 33,964 (984) 32,980 

  8,167,525 (488,996) 7,678,529 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI Gross amount 

Loss 

allowance 

Fair value 

amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 728 (465) 263 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 352 (352) 0 

Mortgage loans to individuals 298 (164) 134 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 0 0 0 

Car loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Total fair value amount 1,378 (981) 397 

Loans and advances to customers subject to impairment 8,168,904 (489,977) 7,678,926 

        

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL Gross amount   

Fair value 

amount 

Loans to legal entities of general risk-profile 4,520 0 4,520 

Loans to legal entities of project risk-profile 0 0 0 

Mortgage loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Consumer and other loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals 0 0 0 

Car loans to individuals 0 0 0 

Total fair value amount 4,520 0 4,520 

        

Loans and advances to customers (net) 8,173,423 (489,977) 7,683,446         
 

During the financial year 2019 loans to customers in the amount of EUR 147,463 thousand were written off which are still subject of enforce-

ment activities.  
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 Trading assets 

  

Pledged 
trading assets 

 

Non-
pleadged 

trading assets 
Total trading 

assets 

Pledged 
trading assets 

 

Non-
pleadged 

trading assets 
Total trading 

assets 

EUR thousand 2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 

Government bonds 0 17,879 17,879 0 13,247 13,247 

Trading loans to banks 0 31,678 31,678 0 0 0 

Positive fair value derivatives 0 19,457 19,457 0 22,450 22,450 

Interest rate 0 15,424 15,424 0 8,576 8,576 

Foreign exchange 0 4,033 4,033 0 13,874 13,874 

Trading assets 0 69,014 69,014 0 35,697 35,697                 
 

 Sberbank Europe AG increased its portfolio in trading loans to banks in the amount of EUR 31,678 thousand in the year 2019. 

Unobservable valuation differences on initial recognition 

Group enters into derivative transactions with corporate clients and financial institutions. The transaction price in the market in which these 

transactions are undertaken may be different from the fair value in the Group’s principal market for those instruments. On initial recognition, 

the Group estimates the fair values of derivatives transacted with counterparties using valuation techniques. In many cases, all significant 

inputs into the valuation techniques are wholly observable – e.g. with reference to information from similar transactions in the principal market. 

If not all of the inputs are observable – e.g. because there are no observable trades in a similar risk at the trade date – then the Group uses 

valuation techniques that include unobservable inputs. 

Any difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price is not recognised in profit or loss immediately but is 

deferred, unless the fair value on initial recognition is:  

 evidenced by a quoted price in an active market; or  

 based on a valuation technique in which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to measuring the day one 

difference.  

The following table shows the aggregate difference yet to be recognized in profit or loss (bot for trading assets and liabilities) at the beginning 

and end of the year and the reconciliation of the changes of the balance during the year. 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Balance as at 1 January (unrecognised gains) 3,858 5,077 

Increase due to new trades 244 (2) 

Reduction due to passage of time (853) (894) 

Reduction due to redemption/sales/transfers/etc (372) (323) 

Balance as at 31 December (unrecognised gains) 2,877 3,858             
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 Investments in securities 

The carrying amount of the investments in securities are classified into the following categories: 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL 10,518 0 

Investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL – equity instruments 2,584 0 

Investment securities designated as at FVTPL 0 33,153 

Investment securities measured at amortised cost 27,376 15,226 

Investment securities measured at FVOCI – debt instruments 704,278 903,847 

Total 744,756 952,226             
 

The investement securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL are coming from an investment in the company Fortenova by Sberbank Croatia 

and Sberbank Slovenia and present debt and quity instruments. Investment securities designated as at FVTPL expired in June 2019 and were 

held by Sberbank Hungary. 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Securities listed on stock exchange 628,157 940,142 

Fixed-interest securities 625,573 939,912 

Equities and other variable-yield securities 2,584 230 

Securities allocated to fixed assets 347,468 435,981 

Rediscountable securities 222,467 526,009             
 

At the end of the year 2019, not listed bonds amounted to EUR 26,030 thousand (2018: EUR 12,084 thousand).  

Investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI are held mainly for liquidity purposes. 

Investments in securities have been designated at fair value through profit or loss as the Group manages these investments on a fair value 

basis in accordance with its investment strategy. The portfolio as at 31 December 2018 relates to a group of financial assets in the am0unts of 

EUR 33,153 thousand, which are administered according to a documented risk management and investment strategy. These assets are meas-

ured at fair value through profit or loss and reported to management. There were no reclassifications from/to at fair value through profit or 

loss in the business year 2018. 

Hungary applies the fair value option for the deals hedging the interest rate risk of HIRS deals in Market-based Lending Scheme introduced by 

the National Bank of Hungary in 2016.   

For HIRS trades, the bank pays a below-market interest rate while contributing the preferred deposits receive an interest rate above the 

market rate.  The gain of a financial instrument granted by the State interest rate is considered as State subsidy. This is the difference between 

the income received and the fair value of the financial instrument based on the prevailing market interest rate sized. Government grants are 

systematically recognized in profit or loss over the periods in which the Group recognizes the associated costs to compensate them Grants 

are used as an expense. The profit from government grants on one hand is reported under interest expense.  

In accordance with the requirements defined in IAS 20 Government grants are only recognized if sufficient certainty that the bank meets the 

conditions attached to it and the Grant is received.  Accordingly, state subsidies are not unfulfilled conditions or otherwise.  
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 Disclosures on mortgage bonds  

 

EUR thousand Covering loans Debt instruments issued Surplus cover 

2019       

Mortgage Bonds 74,976 39,160 35,479 

2018       

Mortgage Bonds 186,205 39,105 146,851                 
 

The required coverage of debts instruments issued includes surplus cover of 2% calculated on the basis of the face value of all outstanding 

mortgage bonds. The significant decrease comparing the years 2019 und 2018 is resulting of dissolution of mortgage bond portfolio of Sberbank 

Hungary.  

 

 Investment property 

Reconciliation of carrying amount: 

EUR thousand Investment property 

Cost on 1 January 2018 16,625 

 Currency translation  4 

 Additions, including transfers  2,575 

 Disposals, including transfers  (15,561) 

Cost as at 31 December 2018 3,643 

 Currency translation  (0) 

 Additions, including transfers  333 

 Disposals, including transfers  (2,026) 

Cost as at 31 December 2019 1,951         
 

EUR thousand Investment property 

Cumulative write-downs and reversals 1.1.2018 (2,230) 

 Currency translation  (43) 

 Revaluations in fiscal year  (354) 

 Disposals, including transfers  1,493 

Cumulative write-downs and reversals 31.12.2018 (1,134) 

 Currency translation  0 

 Revaluations in fiscal year  (120) 

 Disposals, including transfers  473 

Cumulative write-down and reversals 31.12.2019 (781)         
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EUR thousand Investment property 

2018   

Cost as at 31 December 2018 3,643 

Cumulative fair value adjustments (1,134) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 2,510 

 Revaluations in fiscal year  (354) 

    

2019   

Cost as at 31 December 2019 1,951 

Cumulative fair value adjustments (781) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 1,170 

 Revaluations in fiscal year  (120)         
 

Investment properties are owned by subsidiaries in Slovenia, Hungary, Bosnia Hercegovina and Croatia. The rental income from investment 

property was EUR 54,633 thousand for the year 2019 (2018: EUR 26 thousand). 

Number of objects measured at FV are 2 (2018: 6 properties), which are recognized under investment properties. There are no other obligations 

to purchase, construct, develop or maintain investment property assets. 

 

 Investments in associates and other participations 

 

EUR thousand 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 

Investments in affiliates not consolidated 3,278 4,110 

Investments in other companies 19,749 19,093 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and other companies 23,027 23,203             
 

During 2019 there were no sales of investments and participations.   

The equity instruments designated at FVOCI are as follows: 
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EUR thousand 
Fair value as 
at 31.12.2019 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2019 

Fair value as 
at 31.12.2018 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2018 

Garay Center Kft 0 0 357 0 

V-Dat Informatikai Szolgáltató és Kereskedlmi Kft. 1 0 10 0 

East Site Ingatlanforgalmazó és Ingatlanhasznosító Kft. 51 0 59 0 

Károlyi Ingatlan 2011 Kft. 415 0 452 0 

Privatinvest d.o.o. 599 0 676 0 

SUPER KARTICA d.o.o. 1,276 0 1,270 0 

ALB EDV-Service GmbH 936 0 1,285 0 

SA CoopEst 1,020 10 1,020 0 

Kapsch IT Services for finance and industries GmbH 1 0 1 0 

Fiducia Mailing Services eG 0 0 0 0 

ARZ-Volksbanken Holding Gmbh 0 0 0 0 

Einlagensicherung d. Banken und Bankiers GmbH 0 0 0 0 

Einlagensicherung Austria  GmbH 1 0 1 0 

Garantiqa Hitelgarancia Zrt. 30 0 31 0 

Fundamenta-Lakáskassza Lakás-takarékpénztár Zrt. 204 107 210 109 

Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication (S.W.I.F.T.) 54 0 54 0 

Registar vrijednosnih papira u FBiH d.d. Sarajevo 9 0 9 0 

Hrvatski registar obveza po kreditima d.o.o. 19 0 19 0 

Bankart d.o.o. 11 7 11 7 

Sklad za reševanje bank 16,404 0 16,330 0 

Centralni Registar HOV a.d. Banja Luka 84 5 55 5 

Equity instruments designated at FVOCI 21,115 129 21,850 121                     
*Fiducia Mailing Services eG has a fair value of EUR 50.00, ARZ-Volksbanken Holding GmbH EUR 206.89 and Deposit insurance d. Banks and 

Bankers GmbH EUR 312.40.  

The equity instruments above are designated at FVOCI because they are strategical investments for the Group. Some of them were acquired 

due to mandatory local requirements. The Group doesn´t have any intention to sell them. 

The equity instruments designated at FVTPL are as followed: 

EUR thousand 
Fair value as 
at 31.12.2019 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2019 

Fair value as 
at 31.12.2018 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2018 

Visa Inc. 1,619 1 1,122 3 

KRKA, D.D. 293 13 231 12 

Equity instruments measured at FVTPL 1,912 14 1,353 15                     
 

EUR thousand 
Fair value as 
at 31.12.2019 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2019 

Fair value as 
at 31.12.2018 

Dividend 
income 

recognised 
during 2018 

Equity instruments designated at FVOCI 21,115 0 21,850 121 

Equity instruments measured at FVTPL 1,912 14,156 1,353 15 

Total 23,027 14,156 23,203 136             
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 Intangible assets 

 

EUR thousand Software Goodwill Other Total 

Cost as at 01 January 2018 140,800 71,867 13,625 226,291 

 Currency translation  (968) (33) (5) (1,005) 

 Additions, including transfers  32,334 0 505 32,839 

 Disposals, including transfers  (1,440) 0 (2,682) (4,122) 

 Disposal due to deconsolidation          

Cost as at 01 January 2019 170,726 71,834 11,443 254,002 

 Currency translation  (298) 55 (64) (306) 

 Additions, including transfers  35,744 0 1,959 37,703 

 Disposals, including transfers  (5,475) 0 (39) (5,514) 

Cost as at 31 December 2019 200,697 71,889 13,299 285,885                     
 

EUR thousand Software Goodwill Other Total 

Cumulative amortization and impairment losses on 1 January 2018 (61,913) (71,867) (5,760) (139,540) 

 Currency translation  590 33 (15) 608 

 Amortization in fiscal year  (14,414) 0 (933) (15,347) 

 Impairments in fiscal year  0 0 (88) (88) 

 Disposals, including transfers  1,416 0 158 1,574 

Cumulative amortization and impairment losses on 1 January 2019 (74,321) (71,834) (6,638) (152,793) 

 Currency translation  152 (55) 21 117 

 Amortization in fiscal year  (16,224) 0 (919) (17,142) 

 Impairments in fiscal year  (28) 0 0 (28) 

 Disposals, including transfers  4,571 0 39 4,610 

Cumulative amortization and impairment losses on 31 December 2019 (85,849) (71,889) (7,498) (165,237)                     
 

EUR thousand Software Goodwill Other Total 

2018         

 Cost as at 31 December 2018  170,726 71,834 11,443 254,002 

 Cumulative amortization and impairment  (74,321) (71,834) (6,638) (152,793) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 96,405 0 4,805 101,209 

 of which unlimited useful live  0 0 0 0 

 of which limited useful live  96,405 0 4,805 101,209 

2019 0 0 0 0 

Cost as at 31 December 2019 200,697 71,889 13,299 285,886 

Cumulative amortization and impairment (85,849) (71,889) (7,498) (165,237) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 114,848 0 5,801 120,649 

 of which unlimited useful live  0 0 0 0 

 of which limited useful live  114,848 0 5,801 120,649                     
 

In the course of the business year 2019 there were no significant disposal recorded from the position Software. In the year 2019 Sberbank 

Hungary performed a stocktaking of fixed and intangibl assets and not used software and components were disposed.   
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 Goodwill 

As goodwill was fully impaired in 2017, no sensitivity analysis on the goodwill was necessary anymore. 

 

 Tangible assets 

The table below shows the tangible assets: 

EUR thousand 
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

Cost on 1 January 2018 67,124 33,541 34,040 4,967 139,671 

Currency translation (163) (118) (128) (29) (438) 

Additions, including transfers 2,001 4,196 2,061 534 8,792 

Disposals, including transfers (2,524) (3,008) (2,895) (1,285) (9,712) 

Disposal due to deconsolidation 0 0 0 0 0 

Cost as at 31 December 2018 66,437 34,610 33,079 4,188 138,314 

Currency translation (22) (72) (24) (2) (119) 

Additions, including transfers 1,404 6,770 2,276 223 10,672 

Disposals, including transfers (1,680) (1,357) (2,262) (1,285) (6,584) 

Disposal due to deconsolidation 0 0 0 0 0 

Cost as at 31 December 2019 66,138 39,951 33,069 3,125 142,283                         
 

The appreviation of EDP means electronic data precessing and describes hardware.  

 

EUR thousand 
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

Cumulative depreciation and impairment on 1.1.2018 (30,652) (23,271) (21,410) (3,864) (79,197) 

Currency translation 101 89 104 24 317 

Depreciation in fiscal year (3,498) (4,298) (2,500) (491) (10,787) 

Depreciation in fiscal year - discontinued operations           

Impairments in fiscal year (7) 0 (28) 0 (34) 

Disposals, including transfers 1,453 2,874 2,745 1,069 8,141 

Disposal due to deconsolidation           

Cumulative depreciation and impairment on 31.12.2018 (32,602) (24,606) (21,090) (3,263) (81,560) 

Currency translation (29) 19 26 0 16 

Depreciation in fiscal year (3,323) (3,786) (2,499) (270) (9,877) 

Impairments in fiscal year 280 0 0 0 280 

Disposals, including transfers 1,496 1,490 1,560 1,154 5,700 

Cumulative depreciation and impairment on 31.12.2019 (34,177) (26,883) (22,002) (2,379) (85,441)                         
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EUR thousand 
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

2018           

Cost as at 31 December 2018 66,437 34,610 33,079 4,188 138,314 

Cumulative depreciation and impairment (32,602) (24,606) (21,090) (3,263) (81,560) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2018 33,836 10,004 11,989 925 56,754 

Depreciation in fiscal year (3,498) (4,298) (2,500) (491) (10,787) 

Impairments in fiscal year (7) 0 (28) 0 (34) 

2019           

Cost as at 31 December 2019 66,138 39,951 33,069 3,125 142,283 

Cumulative depreciation and impairment (34,177) (26,883) (22,002) (2,379) (85,441) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 31,961 13,067 11,067 746 56,842 

Depreciation in fiscal year (3,323) (3,786) (2,499) (270) (9,877) 

Impairments in fiscal year 280 0 0 0 280                         
 

Group has lease contracts of various items of lands, EDP equipment, vehicles and other equipment used in its operations. Leases of land and 

buildings has have lease terms between 3 and 15 years, while motor vehicles and other equipment generally have lease terms between 3 and 

5 years. 

  

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period: 

 

EUR thousand 
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

Cost as at 01 Jan 2019 74,697 1,065 932 1,207 77,902 

Currency translation (11) 7 0 (6) (9) 

Additions, including transfers 6,013 559 (12) 617 7,176 

Disposals, including transfers (6,888) (513) (100) (29) (7,529) 

Cost as at 31 Dec 2019 73,811 1,119 820 1,790 77,540             
 

EUR thousand 
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

Cumulative amortization and impairment on 01 Jan 2019 0 0 0 0 0 

Currency translation (4) (2) 0 (1) (6) 

Amortization in fiscal year (12,446) (394) (204) (594) (13,638) 

Impairements in fiscal year 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals, including transfers 1,186 161 0 6 1,354 

Disposal due to deconsolidation 0 0 0 0 0 

Cumulative amortization and impairment 31.12.2019 (11,263) (234) (204) (589) (12,290)             
 

  
Land and 
buildings 

EDP 
equipment 

Office 
furniture and 

equipment Other TOTAL 

2019           

Cost as at 31 Dec 2019 73,811 1,119 820 1,790 77,540 

Cumulative amortization and impairment (11,263) (234) (204) (589) (12,290) 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 62,548 884 616 1,201 65,250 

            

Total tangible assets 94,509 13,952 11,683 1,948 122,091             
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 Other assets 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Deferred items 3,107 3,762 

Other receivables and assets 46,478 42,724 

Other assets 49,585 46,486             
 

 

 Amounts owed to credit institutions  

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Central banks 180,382 426,044 

Other credit institutions 753,010 999,131 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 933,392 1.425.174             
 

Amounts owed to credit institutions are measured at amortized cost.  

 

 

 Amounts owed to customers  

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Measured at amortized cost 9,010,364 8,221,801 

Savings deposits 2,152,000 2,001,000 

Other deposits 6,858,364 6,220,801 

Amounts owed to customers 9,010,364 8,221,801             
 

Amounts owed to customers are measured at amortized cost. 
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 Debt instruments issued  

 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Mortgage and local authority bonds 39,160  39,105 

Bond issues 0  269 

Others 3,962  0 

Debt instruments issued 43,123  52,386         
 

Debt instruments issued are measured at amortized cost. 

 

 Trading liabilities 

EUR thousand 
Trading liabilities 

2019 
Trading liabilities 

2018 

Negative fair value derivatives 12,922 14,886 

Interest rate 8,574 2,635 

Foreign exchange 4,348 1,296 

Negative fair value from derivatives (investment book) 0 10,955 

  31,675 0 

Trading liabilities 44,597 14,886     
 

Trading assets are treated in Notes 18.  
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 Provisions 

EUR thousand 

Provision for 
financial 

guarantees 
and other 

contingent 
liabilities 

Other 
operating 
provisions Summe 

Balance at 1 January 2018 16,976 3,088 20,064 

Currency translation  (+/-) (64) (12) 64 

Utilization 0 (109) (2,274) 

Release (1,165) (41) (8,024) 

Addition 11,086 5,041 8,235 

Closing position as at 31 December 2018 26,833 7,967 34,800 

Currency translation  (+/-) (22) (56) (78) 

Utilization (4,228) (419) (4,647) 

Release (11,593) (2,157) (13,749) 

Addition 2,677 10,779 13,456 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 13,666 16,115 29,781         
 

Other provisions are set up if a past event has given rise to a present obligation, it is probable that meeting such an obligation will result in a 

future outflow of resources and the amount has been reliably estimated. These provisions are recognized for pending legal proceedings, inter 

alia. Discounting effect was not material.  

Hrvatska Udruga Potrosac sued eight Croatian banks (including Sberbank d.d.) in 2012 claiming that consumers who obtained CHF loans in 

2004-2008 a) were not properly informed by banks about all risks related to such loans and b) variable interest rate applied in these agree-

ments was unlawful. On 04.07.2013 the first instance court in Zagreb passed the decision in favour of Hrvatska Udruga Potrosac.  

Potrošač submitted constitutional complaint to the Constitutional Court of the Republic of Croatia, but Sberbank d.d. is not a party of that 

proceeding. On 20.12.2016 the Croatian Constitutional Court  published  the decision in Proceeding initiated by Consumer Association against 

the decision of the Supreme Court (Sberbank d.d. was the only bank completely released from any accusation by Supreme Court decision).  

The Croatian Constitutional Court has partially accepted the lawsuit of association “Potrošač”, revoked the judgment of the Supreme Court of 

Croatia (so now Sberbank d.d. basically is in the same position as other banks).  

This proceeding is continued before the Supreme Court  that on 03.10.2018 brought a decision that the previous decision of High Commercial 

Court in this matter is revoked and that this file was returned to High Commercial Court for a decision.  

High Commercial Court delivered its Decision on 20.07.2018. by which it verified in essence the Decision of Commercial Court in Zagreb (first 

level decision from year 2013) against all 8 banks. This Decision declares that the clauses the banks were using to enable them change of the 

interest rate during the repayment of the loan were not valid and states that banks did not properly informed clients about risks related with 

CHF loans and that FX clause in CHF is not valid.  

Bank submitted revision on 17.08.2018. against this Decision to the Supreme Court of the Republic of Croatia; Supreme Court of the Republic 

of Croatia can reject revision or accept it; if it accepts revision, it can return the case to 1st or 2nd instance court, or it can decide and change 

the judgement in whole or in some part. The process is pending.  

Also Bank submitted constitutional claim to Constitutional Court of the Republic of Croatia, against this Decision and this process is pending 

too. In October 2018 "Potrošač" submitted revision regarding decision on costs of the proceeding – Bank replied on that revision in December 

2018.  

Concerning the potential impact on Sberbank, we notice that the number of new lawsuits from retail clients regarding CHF loans increased. 

The effect amounts to EUR 2,513 thousand. 
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 Provisions for severance payments and anniversary bonuses 

Provisions for severance payments relate to obligations towards employees of the Group which contain both a contribution based system as 

well as a defined benefit system. 

The provisions for severance payments apply to legal and contractual entitlement on the employees. The amounts of the severance pay de-

pends on the number of years of service of the affected employees and the relevant salary at the time the employment is terminated. The 

provisions are calculated on an actuarial basis. In accordance with the projected unit credit method, provisions for severance payments are 

calculated on the basis of generally accepted actuarial principles to determine the present value of the overall entitlement and additional claims 

acquired in the reporting period. For severance payments, this procedure takes into account retirement due to attainment of pension age, 

occupational incapacity, disability or death as well as the vested rights of surviving dependents.  

Parameters for calculating social benefits (severance and anniversary bonus payment provisions): 

 

  2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Discount rate 1.05% 2.01% 1.83% 1.35% 2.15% 

Future salary increase 2.20% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 

Fluctuation rate individual individual individual individual individual             
 

The applied fluctuation rate is based on individual company statistics, as well dependent on age and decreasing from the age of 15 to the age 

of 55. 

The biometric underlying values of the current Austrian Pension Insurance Table “AVÖ 2018 P - Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pensionsversi-

cherung, Angestelltenbestand” (Computational Framework for pension insurance as applied to employees) are used as the calculation basis. 

The current retirement age limits are generally taken into account in these calculations. It is assumed that, as a rule, men will retire at the age 

of 65 years and women at the age of 60 years. Any transitional arrangements are disregarded. For staff not employed in Austria, the standard 

retirement age stipulated in the respective country is applied. 

The movement in the provisions for severance payments and anniversary bonuses recognized on the statement of financial position is as 

follows: 
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EUR thousand 

Provision for 
severance 
payments 

Provisions for 
anniversary 

bonuses TOTAL 

Net present value of long-term employee provisions as at 1 Jan 2018 5,698 114 5,812 

Current service costs 659 16 675 

Interest cost 108 3 110 

Contribution paid 0 0 0 

Currency Translation 0 0 0 

Actuarial gains or losses (1,016) (0) (1,019) 

Benefits paid (324) (9) (333) 

Other increase or decrease (442) 0 (442) 

Net present value of long-term employee provisions as at 31 Dec 2018 4,685 119 4,804 

Current service costs 586 17 603 

Interest costs 106 3 109 

Contribution paid 0 0 0 

Currency Translation 0 0 0 

Actuarial gains or losses (727) 13 (714) 

Benefits paid (547) (6) (553) 

Other increase or decrease 442 0 442 

Net present value of long-term employee provisions as at 31 Dec 2019 4,544 146 4,691                 
 

Historical development of the present value for defined benefit plans: 

EUR thousand   2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Net present 

value   4,691 4,804 5,812 4,911 4,190                             
 

The vast majority of the commitments are payable in term of more than one year. 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis for each relevant actuarial assumption showing how the defined benefit obligation (DBO), 

current service costs and interest costs for severance payments would have been affected by possible changes at the reporting date in the 

relevant actuarial assumptions. 

  DBO 

31 December 2018 Effect (EUR thousand) Increase Decrease 

Discount rate (0,75 % movement) (579) 690 

Salary (0,5 % movement) 455 (408) 

Pension (0,25 % movement) 0 0 

31 December 2019 Effect (EUR thousand)     

Discount rate (0,75 % movement) (510) 601 

Salary (0,5 % movement) 395 (357)             
 

Compared to last year, interest rate sensitivities with regard to significant assumptions are immaterial.  
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 Other liabilities 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Deferred items 14,243 15,824 

Other liabilities 105,259 95,232 

Lease liabilities 66,367 0 

Other liabilities 185,868 111,056             
 

The opening balance of the table below about lease liabilities can be reconciled with the table in note 38.1. 

Lease liability at the beginning of the reporting period ( 01.01.2019) 76,801 

Additions of lease liabilities due to new contract 3,721 

Additions of lease liabilities due to business combinations 1 

Accrued interest 1,824 

Remeasurements and modifications of lease liabilities (903) 

Foreign currency revaluation of Lease liabilities issued in foreign currency (158) 

Payments under the contract (13,666) 

Early cancellation of lease (1,588) 

Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries 0 

Other movements (please explain by request) 366 

Foreign currency translation difference (33) 

Lease liability at the end of the reporting period 66,367     
 

Future (next 12-months period) cash outflow for:   

                 - short-term leases (170) 

                - lease of low-value items 148 

                - variable lease payments not included in Lease liability calculation 0 

                - extention and termination options not included in lease term of agreements 0 

                - leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is committed (5,631) 

Total cash outflow for leases for the current reporting period, splitted by: (17,171) 

                - principal amount of lease liabilities paid (16,674) 

                - interest part of lease liabilities paid (248) 

                - payments for leases for which no lease liability recognised (250) 

Income from subleasing Rights-of-use assets 0     
 

EUR thousand 
Due within 1 

year 
Due between 
1 and 5 years Total 

Minimum lease payments as at 31 December 2018 30 73 103 

Less future finance charges (3) (6) (8) 

Present value of minimum lease payments as at 31 Dec 2018 27 67 95 

Tangible assets under financial lease 29 67 96       
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 Subordinated liabilities 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Subordinated liabilities 326,205 335,173             
 

Subordinated liabilities are measured at amortized cost. 

The Group did not have any defaults of principal or interest or other breaches with respect to its subordinated liabilities during the years ended 

31 December 2019 and 2018. Sberbank Slovenia repaid a subordinated loan in the amount of EUR 8,752 thousand to the European Investment 

Fund.  

 

  Assets pledged as collateral 

 

EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Cash and cash equivalents 0 250 

Loans and advances to customers (gross) 51,082 106,180 

Investments in securities 134,512 387,472 

Assets pledged as collateral 185,594 493,902             
 

Assets are pledged as collaterals for refinancing loans from credit institutions. All risks and rewards related to the pledged assets still belong to 

the Group. 

Due to change in refinancing structure by National Bank in one of the operations, the Group does not have repurchase agreements anymore.   

The Group also enters into reverse repo and repurchase agreements. The summary of such operations is provided in the table below: 

EUR thousand   2019   2018 

Financial assets 

Amount of 
loans granted 

under repo 
agreements 

Fair value of 
securities 

received as 
collateral 

Amount of 
loans granted 

under repo 
agreements 

Fair value of 
securities 

received as 
collateral 

Cash and cash equivalents 424,036 424,081 351.934 351.966 

Total 424,036 424,081 351.934 351.966                     
 

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell or repledge in the absence of 

default was EUR 424,081  thousand (2018: EUR 351,966 thousand).  
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 Equity  

 Share capital 

As at 31 December 2019, the Bank’s authorised, issued, called up and fully paid share capital comprises 3,890,323 (2018: 3,890,323) ordinary shares 

of EUR 100 (2018: EUR 100) each. All issued shares rank pari passu in the event of a winding up.  

In 2019, no capital increase was received.  

 Reserves 

 Share premium 

Share premium comprises of premiums on share capital issuances.  

 Retained earnings 

Due to restructuring the presentation of the equity, retained earnings comprise the accumulated profit after taxes earned in the course of the 

operating life of an entity of the Group less any dividend payment. There is no available Retained Earnings for distribution for the parent of the 

holding company. 

 Currency translation reserve 

The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

operations.  

 Other reserves 

Other reserves comprise reserves that are not available for distribution due to the legal requirements in the different jurisdictions of the Group, 

or decided by the management. (jurisdiction details).   

 Other comprehensive income 

The Group measure debt instruments and designates equity instruments to be measured at Fair Value through OCI. Furthermore the Group 

provide Severance payment that is also measured through OCI. The Group shows here foreign currency reserve, which arises from the trans-

lation of the financial statements of foreign business operations.   

 Non-controlling Interest (NCI) 

Within the Equity the Group discloses that proportionate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets at the  reporting date. The Group does 

not have significant NCI. 
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 Classification of financial instruments and Fair value 

hierarchy 

The table below shows financial assets and liabilities in accordance with their individual categories and fair value: 

 

EUR thousand Note 

Mandatorily 
measured  at 

FVTPL 

Designated as 
measured at 

FVTPL 
Measured at 

FVOCI 

Measured at 
amortized 

cost 

Carrying 
amount - 

Total Fair value 

2019               

Cash and cash equivalent 15 0 0 0 2,686,162 2,686,162 2,686,162 

Loans and advances to 

credit institutions (net) 16 0 0 0 335,074 335,074 339,536 

Loans and advances to 

customers (net) 17 60,556 0 158 7,860,333 7,860,333 7,800,064 

Trading assets 18 69,014 0 0 0 69,014 69,014 

Investments in securities 19 2,584 10,518 704,278 27,376 744,755 744,675 

Participations 21 0 1,912 21,115 0 21,115 21,115 

  24 0 0 0 0 0 0 

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total   132,154 12,429 725,551 10,908,944 11,716,452 11,660,565 

    0 0 0 0 0 0 

Amounts owed to credit 

institutions 25 0 0 0 933,392 933,392 971,496 

Amounts owed to 

customers 26 0 0 0 9,010,364 9,010,364 9,012,071 

Debt instruments issued 27 0 0 0 43,123 43,123 42,843 

Trading liabilities 28 44,597 0 0 0 44,597 44,597 

Subordinated liabilities   0 0 0 0 0 0 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 

Total   52,804 0 0 10,034,536 10,049,421 10,021,196                                 
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EUR thousand Note 
Held for 
trading 

At fair value 
P&L 

Held to 
maturity 

Available for 
sale 

Loans and 
receivables 

Carrying 
amount - 

Total 

2018               

Cash and cash equivalent 15 0 0 0 2,211,605 2,211,605 2,211,605 

Loans and advances to 

credit institutions (net) 16 0 0 0 531,498 531,498 679,297 

Loans and advances to 

customers (net) 17 4,520 0 397 7,678,529 7,683,446 7,652,391 

Trading assets 18 35,697 0 0 0 35,697 35,697 

Investments in securities 19 0 33,153 903,847 15,226 952,226 952,335 

Participations 21 1,353 0 21,850 0 23,203 23,203 

Positive fair value from 

derivatives (investment 

book) 24             

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total   41,569 33,153 926,095 10,436,857 11,437,674 11,554,528 

                

Amounts owed to credit 

institutions 25 0 0 0 1,425,174 1,425,174 1,398,344 

Amounts owed to 

customers 26 0 0 0 8,221,801 8,221,801 8,220,344 

Debt instruments issued 27 0 0 0 52,386 52,386 52,510 

Trading liabilities 28 14,886 0 0 0 14,886 14,886 

Subordinated liabilities 31             

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 

Total   14,886 0 0 10,034,536 10,049,421 10,021,196                                 
 

The table below shows all financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value and classified according to their various fair value 

hierarchies: 

 

EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2019         

Loans and advances to customers 0 0 60,714 60,714 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 0 0 60,556 60,556 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 0 0 158 158 

Trading assets 17,879 69,014 0 69,014 

Investments in securities 489,990 198,175 29,215 717,379 

Investments in securities at fair value through profit or loss (designated 

financial instruments) 0 0 13,102 13,102 

Investments in securities at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 489,990 198,175 16,113 704,278 

Investments in associates and other participations 293 0 22,735 23,027 

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total 508,162 267,189 112,663 870,134 

Trading liabilities 0 44,597 0 44,597 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - Total 0 44,597 0 44,597             
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EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2018         

Loans and advances to customers 0 0 4,917 4,917 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 0 0 397 397 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 0 0 4,520 4,520 

Trading assets 0 35,697 0 35,697 

Investments in securities 735,207 192,784 9,009 937,000 

Investments in securities at fair value through profit or loss (designated 

financial instruments) 33,153 0 0 33,153 

Investments in securities at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 702,054 192,784 9,009 903,847 

Investments in associates and other participations 230 0 23 253 

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total 735,437 228,481 9,037 972,955 

Trading liabilities 0 14,886 0 14,886 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - Total 0 14,886 0 14,886             
 

The table below shows all financial assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value classified according to their various fair value 

hierarchies: 

 

EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2019         

Cash in hand 176,651 0 0 176,651 

Balances with central banks 0 2,509,511 0 2,509,511 

Loans and advances to credit institutions (net) 0 196,210 138,864 335,074 

Loans and advances to customers (net) 0 0 7,860,333 7,860,333 

Investments in securities (amortized cost) 0 0 27,296 27,296 

Other non-derivative assets 0 0 0 0 

Total assets 177 2,706 7,966 10,849 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 0 2,033,803 435,661 2,469,464 

Amounts owed to customers 0 0 9,012,071 9,012,071 

Debt securities in issue 0 0 42,843 42,843 

Other financial liabilities (without derivatives or provisions) 187 1,650,557 9,548,254 11,198,997 

Subordinated debt 0 383,247 79,093 462,340 

Total liabilities 187 4,067,607 19,117,922 23,185,715                     
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EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2018         

Cash in hand 144,793 0 0 144,793 

Balances with central banks 0 2,066,812 0 2,066,812 

Loans and advances to credit institutions (net) 0 543,266 136,031 679,297 

Loans and advances to customers (net) 0 0 7,652,391 7,652,391 

Investments in securities (amortized cost) 3,315 0 12,020 15,335 

Other non-derivative assets 0 0 46,486 46,486 

Total assets 148,108 2,610,078 7,846,928 10,605,114 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 0 1,149,979 248,364 1,398,344 

Amounts owed to customers 0 0 8,220,344 8,220,344 

Debt securities in issue 0 0 52,510 52,510 

Other financial liabilities (without derivatives or provisions) 0 0 111,056 111,056 

Subordinated debt 0 335,113 0 335,113 

Total liabilities 0 1,485,093 8,632,273 10,117,366                     
 

EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2019         

Loans and advances to customers 0 0 60,714 60,714 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 0 0 60,556 60,556 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 0 0 158 158 

Trading assets 17,879 69,014 0 69,014 

Investments in securities 489,990 198,175 29,215 717,379 

Investments in securities at fair value through profit or loss (designated 

financial instruments) 0 0 13,102 13,102 

Investments in securities at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 489,990 198,175 16,113 704,278 

Investments in associates and other participations 293 0 22,735 23,027 

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total 508,162 267,189 112,663 870,134 

Trading liabilities 0 44,597 0 44,597 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - Total 0 44,597 0 44,597             
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EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2018         

Loans and advances to customers 0 0 4,917 4,917 

Loans and advances to customers at FVTPL 0 0 397 397 

Loans and advances to customers at FVOCI 0 0 4,520 4,520 

Trading assets 0 35,697 0 35,697 

Investments in securities 735,207 192,784 9,009 937,000 

Investments in securities at fair value through profit or loss (designated 

financial instruments) 33,153 0 0 33,153 

Investments in securities at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 702,054 192,784 9,009 903,847 

Investments in associates and other participations 230 0 23 253 

FINANCIAL ASSETS - Total 735,437 228,481 9,037 972,955 

Trading liabilities 0 14,886 0 14,886 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - Total 0 14,886 0 14,886             
 

The Group uses mainly market data from observable markets. The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets 

are determined by using measurement techniques. They include DCF models, a comparison to similar instruments for which observable prices 

exist, and other measurement models. Where measurement techniques are used to determine fair value, they are validated and periodically 

reviewed by qualified personnel. 

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair value of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. 

Investment property which is measured at fair value is classified according to its various fair value hierarchies as follows: 

 

EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2019         

Investment property 0 0 1,170 1,170 

Total 0 0 1,170 1,170                     
 

EUR thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

2018         

Investment property 0 0 2,510 2,510 

Total 0 0 2,510 2,510                     
 

 Cash in hand, balances with central banks, other assets and 
other liabilities 

The management assessed that cash in hand, balances with central banks, other non-derivative assets and other non-derivative liabilities 

approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

 Loans and advances to credit institutions, loans and advances 
to customers 

Fair value of loans and advances to credit institutions and loans and advances to customers is calculated by discounting future cash flows using 

market interest rates. For a small part of the portfolio of loans and advances to customers, it is reasonable to use the carrying amount as an 

approximation of the fair value. 
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 Derivatives and financial investments 

The fair value of derivatives and financial investments is calculated by discounting the future cash flows, if they are not traded in an active 

market. They are discounted with corresponding yield curves. FX options are valued using the Black-Scholes model.  

For measurement of commodities and index derivatives prices quoted by the counterparty are used.  

 Due to banks and due to customers, debt instruments issued 
and subordinated liabilities 

The fair value of amounts owed to banks and due to customers is calculated by discounting the future cash flows using current interbank rates 

and with regards to the change in credit spreads.  

For a small part of the portfolio, it is reasonable to use the carrying amount as an approximation of the fair value. 

 Description of unobservable inputs to measurement used in 
the fair value measurement for Level 3 

Fair value of loans and advances to credit institutions, loans and advances to customers, amounts owed to credit institutions, due to customers 

and subordinated debts are measured with discounted cash flow (DCF) model. Unobservable input is asset liability management (ALM) credit 

spread. Increase (decrease) in the spread would decrease (increase) the fair value. 

The maximum default risk of the loans and advances measured at market value corresponds to the book value. 

 Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 

The group checks the portfolio in relation to fair value hierarchy level changes on a constant base. Changes are done, if allocation criteria 

change. Such changes are applied then at the following balance sheet date. 

In 2019 and 2018 there was no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels. 

 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial 
assets and financial liabilities 

The valuation of financial instruments classified in level 3 involves one or more significant inputs that are not directly observable on the market. 

Additional price verification steps have to be done. These may include reviewing the relevant historical data and benchmarking for similar 

transactions. The following table shows the reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for recurring fair value measure-

ments categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets and liabilities 
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EUR thousand                       

Assets 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
FVOCI 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Investments 
at FVOCI – 

debt 
securities 

Investments 
in associates 

and other 
participations Total 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 2018 756 4,755 0 1,334 6,845 

Total gains/losses 0 0 0 0 0 

in profit or loss 0 27 207 0 234 

In OCI 0 0 5 (70) (65) 

Purchases and sale 0 0 8,797 (36) 8,761 

Issues 0 0 0 0 0 

Settlements (359) (263) 0 11 (611) 

Transfers out of Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers into Level 3 0 0 0 21,664 21,664 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 397 4,519 9,009 22,973 36,871             
 

 

EUR thousand                             

Assets 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 
FVOCI 

Loans and 
advances to 

customers 

Investments 
at FVOCI – 

debt 
securities 

Investments 
at FVTPL - 

debt 
securities 

Investments 
in associates 

and other 
participations Total 

Opening Balance as at 1 January 2019 397 4,520 9,009 0 22,973 36,899 

Total gains/losses 18 (1,891) (6) 0 139 (1,740) 

in profit or loss 18 (1,891) (6) 0 460 (1,420) 

In OCI 0 0 0 0 (320) (320) 

Purchases and sale (258) 57,928 7,111 13,102 (378) 64,403 

Issues 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Settlements 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers out of Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers into Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 158 60,556 16,113 13,102 22,734 99,561                 
 

In the year 2019 Sberbank Hungary launched a new product, named “Baby Loans”, which are measured at FVTPL. 

 

 Contingent liabilities and credit risks 

The table below presents the future cash flows of contingent liabilities classified according to their contractual maturity (the period when the 

commitment can be disbursed for the first time) and, in case of guarantees, also according to their expected maturity (if it is probable that a 

guarantee will be called): 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Contingent liabilities     

Financial guarantees 786,437 925,230 

Total contingent liabilities 786,437 925,230 

Commitments    

Unutilised loan commitments 1,298,464 1,455,446 

Other commitments 57,472 123,030 

Total commitments 1,355,936 1,578,476 

 

EUR thousand 

Unutilised 
loan 

commitments 
Guarantees -     
as contracted 

Other 
commitments 

2019       

Carrying amount 1,298,464 786,437 57,472 

Contractual Maturity 1,298,464 786,437 57,472 

On demand 38,016 45,771 41,029 

Up to 3 months 19,813 51,042 3,381 

Up to 1 year 120,033 152,860 1,869 

Up to 5 years 412,311 346,214 452 

More than 5 years 708,291 190,551 10,741 

2018       

Carrying amount 1,455,446 925,230 123,030 

Contractual Maturity 1,455,446 925,230 123,030 

On demand 793,873 330,961 110,984 

Up to 3 months 493,950 169,267 4,832 

Up to 1 year 112,080 256,855 6,962 

Up to 5 years 14,638 43,704 254 

More than 5 years 99,905 124,442 0         
 

 

The expected provisions for unused loan commitments and guarantees (calculated according to IFRS 9) amounts to EUR 13,666 thousand in 

2019 (2018: EUR 26,833 thousand). 

 

 Related parties (disclosures on business relationship 

with related parties) 

The ultimate parent company as well as the ultimate controlling party of Sberbank Europe AG is Sberbank of Russia. The subsidiaries of the 

Group are detailed in note 3. 

The Bank regards the members of the Management Board and the members of the Supervisory Board of the parent company as management 

members in key positions.  

The notes below include open positions at the respective due date related to on- and off-balance items. The revenues and expenses in financial 

year are included in consolidated income statement items.  

Related party transactions at year-end:  
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EUR thousand Parent company 
Unconsolidated 

Group companies 

Related parties 
through the 

Parent company 

Related parties 
through key 

management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

2019           

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0 0 

Loans and advances to credit 

institutions (net) 37,694 0 9,287 0 0 

Loans and advances to customers 

(net) 0 1,444 24 6 0 

Trading assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Investments in associates and other 

participations 0 1,875 0 0 0 

Other receivables and assets 0 0 14 0 0 

Guarantees received 5,570 0 0 0 0 

Amounts due to credit institutions 50,478 465 174 0 0 

Deposits and current accounts 0 447 60,778 0 0 

Trading liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 

Other liabilities 134 0 0 1 0 

Subordinated liabilities 326,195 0 0 0 0 

Liabilities arisig from guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 

Nominal amount of derivatives 106,948 0 14,255 0 0                         
 

EUR thousand Parent company 
Unconsolidated 

Group companies 

Related parties 
through the 

Parent company 

Related parties 
through key 

management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

2018           

Cash and cash equivalents 13,349 0 2,615 0 0 

Loans and advances to credit 

institutions (net) 30,273 0 4,503 0 0 

Loans and advances to customers 

(net) 0 2,652 2,420 27 0 

Trading assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Investments in associates and other 

participations 0 665 0 0 0 

Other receivables and assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Guarantees received 21,622 0 0 0 0 

Amounts due to credit institutions 229 0 197 0 0 

Deposits and current accounts 0 842 0 1,701 0 

Trading liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 

Other liabilities 257 0 194 212 0 

Subordinated liabilities 326,223 0 0 0 0 

Liabilities arisig from guarantees 0 0 0 0 0 

Nominal amount of derivatives 62,180 0 9,046 0 0                         
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EUR thousand Parent company 
Unconsolidated 

Group companies 

Related parties 
through the 

Parent company 

Related parties 
through key 

management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

2019           

Net interest income (10,330) 40 303 0 0 

Net fee and commission income (761) 2 70 0 0 

Impairment for financial instruments 0 0 0 0 0 

General administrative expenses (1,112) 0 (419) (4,512) 0 

Other operating income / (expense) 0 (527) 0 (2) 0 

Profit before taxes from continuing 

operations (12,204) (484) (46) (4,514) 0 

Income taxes from continuing 

operations 0 0 0 0 0 

Profit for the year from continuing 

operations (12,204) (484) (46) (4,514) 0 

Profit for the year from discontinued 

operations 0 0 0 0 0 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (12,204) (484) (46) (4,514) 0 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 

Total comprehensive income (12,204) (484) (46) (4,514) 0                         
 

 

EUR thousand Parent company 
Unconsolidated 

Group companies 

Related parties 
through the 

Parent company 

Related parties 
through key 

management 
personnel 

Other related 
parties 

2018           

Net interest income (11,235) 43 82 (11) 0 

Net fee and commission income (781) 3 (435) 0 0 

Impairment for financial instruments 0 0 0 0 0 

General administrative expenses (357) 0 (910) (6,268) 0 

Other operating income / (expense) 0 (298) 0 0 0 

Profit before taxes from continuing 

operations (12,373) (253) (1,263) (6,279) 0 

Income taxes from continuing 

operations 0 0 0 0 0 

Profit for the year from continuing 

operations (12,373) (253) (1,263) (6,279) 0 

Profit for the year from discontinued 

operations 0 0 0 0 0 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (12,373) (253) (1,263) (6,279) 0 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 

Total comprehensive income (12,373) (253) (1,263) (6,279) 0                         
 

Transactions between the Bank and fully consolidated companies are not recognized in the consolidated statements as they have been elim-

inated.  

Transfer prices between the Group and its affiliated companies are in line with market prices. 

Key management personnel compensation compromised the following: 
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EUR thousand 2019 2018 

Short term benefits 3,010 4,543 

Post employment benefits 162 223 

Other long-term benefits 718 695 

Termination benefits 0 0 

Total remuneration of Management Board Members 3,890 5,461 

Short term benefits 590 580 

Post employment benefits 15 14 

Other long-term benefits 0 0 

Termination benefits 0 0 

Total remuneration of Supervisory Board Members 605 594             
 

The figures for the Board of Management consist of employees of the parent company. At SBAG Group level, the members of the Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board of the parent company are classified as management members in key positions. During 2019, members of 

the Supervisory Board of Sberbank Europe AG received remuneration in the amount of EUR 444 thousand (2018: EUR 594 thousand). 

 

 Branches 

As at 31 December 2019 the Group conduct its business in Austria, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Croatia, Czech Republic, Germany, Hungary, Serbia 

and Slovenia. There are not changes in the number of branches in comparison of the years 2019 and 2018. 

The number of branches (or networks) were as follows: 

 

  2019 2018 

Austria 1 1 

Foreign 187 187 

Total number of branches 188 188           
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 Changes in Accounting Policies  

 Changes in Accounting Policies due to the initial application of 
IFRS 16 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 

Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 

Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to 

account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes 

two recognition exemptions for lessees: 

• leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers), and  

• short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).  

The Group will make use of both exemptions. 

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing 

the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the 

interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset, which will lead to a higher charge being recorded 

in the income statement compared to IAS 17. Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events 

(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those 

payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 

asset. 

During 2018, the Group has performed a detailed impact assessment of IFRS 16 and has applied the modified retrospective approach as per-

mitted by the standard. The Group will recognise a right-of-use asset at the date of initial application for leases previously classified as an 

operating lease applying IAS 17. As permitted by the standard, this amount will be equal to the lease liability, adjusted for any prepayments or 

accrued leaspayments relating to that lease. The lease liability will be measured at an amount equal to the outstanding lease payments at the 

date of initial application, considering extension and termination options, discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate in the eco-

nomic environment of the lease. The capitalised right-of-use asset will mainly consist of office property, namely the retail branches. 

In summary, the adoption of IFRS 16 is expected to have no impact on retained earnings.The recognised right-of-use asset and lease liability 

will both equal approximately 212  million. 

The following table reconciles the carrying amount under IAS 17 to the carrying amount under IFRS 16 on transition to IFRS 16 on 1 January 

2019. The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of  31 December 2018,  ref 4.8.5 Operating 

lease commitments.   
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Lease payable under operation lease as at 31.12.2018 24,164 

Lease payable under cancellable operating lease to pay 24,164 

Lease payable under non-cancellable operating lease 0 

Future lease payments that are due in periods subject to lease extension options that are reasonably certain to be exercised 61,504 

Recognition exemption: short-term leases (641) 

Recognition exemption: the underlying asset is of low value (409) 

Revision of lease agreements: exclusion from register of lease agreements 0 

Revision of lease agreements: exclusion from register of lease agreements (168) 

Future lease payments under IFRS16 84,451 

Effect of discounting (7,650) 

Lease liability under IFRS16 76,801 

Amount of prepayments and irrevocable security payments on agreements 1,101 

Right of use under IFRS16  as at 01.01.2019 77,902     
 

  

 Subsequent events 

There were no significant events after balance sheet date.   
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 Governing bodies of Sberbank Europe AG 

Supervisory Board: 

Chairman 

Siegfried WOLF (since 16 February 2012) 

Deputy Chairman 

Igor KOLOMEYSKIY (Supervisory Board member since 11 August 2017 until 20 December 2019; Deputy Chairman since 23 May 2018 until 

20th December 2019) 

 

Members 

Stanislav KUZNETSOV (since 11 May 2017) 

Pavel BARCHUGOV (since 11 May 2017) 

Grigory ANASHKIN (since 11 May 2017) 

Ernst WELTEKE (since 14 December 2017) 

Dzhangir DZHANGIROV (since 14 September 2018) 

 

Delegated by the works council: 

Jörg LANGNER (since 6 December 2012) 

Csongor KRISTO (since 6 December 2012) 

Martina VUCKOVIC (from 6 December 2012 until 10 February 2017; since 11 May 2017) 

Heinz KALVODA (since 8 February 2018) 

 

State Commissioners: 

Paul SCHIEDER (since 1 January 2011) 

Kristina FUCHS (since 1 October 2018) 

 

Government Commissioners: 

Melitta SCHÜTZ (since 1 July 2013) 

Sabine SCHMIDJELL-DOMMES (since 1 March 2017) 

 

Management Board 

Chief Executive Officer 

Sonja SARKÖZI (Management Board member since 1 August 2017; Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of the Management Board 

since 1 July 2018) 

Members 

Arndt RÖCHLING (since 1 June 2016) 

Stefan ZAPOTOCKY (from 2nd January 2017 until 30 April 2019)  

Alexander WITTE (since 6 December 2017) 

Aleksei MIKHAILOV (since 7 March 2018) 
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Vienna, 28 February 2020 

 

 

 

The Management Board 

 

 

Sonja Sarközi                                          Dr. Arndt Röchling 

 

 

 

 

Dr. Alexander Witte                                        Aleksei Mikhailov 
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Group Management Report for the 

Business Year 2019 

1. Report on Business Development and 

Economic Situation 

1.1. Economic environment in 2019 

1.1.1. International development 

Global economic growth slowed down to 2.9%, the lowest pace of expansion since the global financial 

crisis of 2009 (as recently as 2017, global economy grew by as much as 3.8%). Partly, this represents a 

cyclical downturn, although structural factors such as rising trade barriers, especially between the US and 

China, played a role as well. The increase of US tariffs and retaliation by China and other US trading 

partners has steadily broadened since the start of 2018, making intermediate inputs more expensive and 

dampening economic growth, especially in strongly export-oriented economies such as Germany. As a 

result, global trade volumes were in decline in the first and second quarters of the year on a quarterly 

basis (albeit they recovered somewhat in the third quarter). The uncertainty surrounding the trade 

policies as well as Brexit have been increasingly weighing on investment decisions. Mirroring the 

weakening global trade, the dynamics of industrial production (especially of investment goods) has been 

losing momentum as well, and turned negative in the third quarter of 2019 (-0.1% on a quarterly basis). 

In addition, the car industry recorded a sharp downturn due to a combination of specific supply- and 

demand-side factors. In contrast, private consumption and the global services sector (which account for 

the vast majority of GDP in every significant economy) generally held up well, helped by improved labour 

market conditions, rising wages, and expansionary policies in several advanced economies. 

1.1.2. Development in the European Union 

The EU economy started to slow down considerably in the second quarter of 2019, and for the year as a 

whole growth fell to 1.4%. In the euro area, it was only 1.1%, constrained primarily by the weakness of 

foreign demand and the drawdown of inventories. In Germany, real GDP grew by a mere 0.4%, reflecting 

not least production problems in the crucial car industry. The latter were due to the recent emissions 

scandals, difficulties in adjusting to the new emission standards, and the faltering demand for cars in some 

markets such as China (following the expiration of tax incentives). Elsewhere in the euro area, the 

economy of Italy continued stagnation while that of France grew by 1.3%.  

At the same time, labour markets in Europe remained strong and the unemployment rate fell to 6.3% on 

average – the lowest level since the global financial crisis, fueling robust growth of wages and private 

consumption. With the average CPI inflation nowhere near the 2% target, the ECB cut its deposit rate 

and resumed its Quantitative Easing programme, contributing to a decline in sovereign bond yields (many 

of which are now negative) and enabling more accommodative fiscal policies.  
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1.1.3. CEE/SEE (Central and Eastern European Countries) 

Considering the scale of the external slowdown, the resilience of the CEE/SEE region has so far been 

impressive. The EU Member States from CEE grew by 3.8% on average last year, almost 3 percentage 

points higher than the euro area, with which most of them have very close trade and investment links. 

Growth performance in SEE remained generally solid as well, not least thanks to large-scale FDI inflows, 

with several countries (notably Serbia) increasingly establishing themselves as a cheaper alternative to 

CEE countries, especially when it comes to car production. More generally, the main factor of resilience 

in CEE/SEE was stubbornly strong domestic demand, reflecting a combination of labour shortage-

induced wage increases, loose fiscal policy, rapid credit growth, and robust public investment. Real 

income was also being supported by the low inflation – despite negative real interest rates in many 

countries of the region. Still, in the historical context no CEE/SEE country was really showing strong signs 

of overheating. Even in Hungary and the Czech Republic (as well as Romania), which showed the most 

potential for this, overheating was mostly confined to the labour and real estate markets, while the overall 

price pressures remained subdued. 

1.1.4. Austria 

Growth of the Austrian economy had been for some time well above the euro area average, but by mid-

2019 negative external trends increasingly made themselves felt. As a result, growth in 2019 as a whole 

decelerated to 1.7%. Along with neighbouring Germany and much of the rest of Europe, Austrian industry 

suffered a sharp contraction, reflecting the fallout from the US-China trade war, weakness in some parts 

of the Chinese economy, and the uncertainty for business generated by Brexit. Austrian firms have also 

reported knock-on effects related to weaker investment sentiment among firms, and the problems in the 

German automotive sector. At the same time, private consumption held up well, boosted by a slowdown 

in inflation as well as tax reforms and pension adjustments implemented by the previous government. 

Activity in the building sector remained robust as well, given historically ultra-low interest rates and rising 

property prices. 

1.1.5. Bosnia and Herzegovina 

Economic growth slowed somewhat in 2019, to 2.6%, largely because of the slowdown in the euro area 

– the key source of export demand and remittances for Bosnia and Herzegovina. Industrial output 

dropped on account of weaker foreign demand (according to the central bank), with the decline 

registered across the manufacturing, mining and energy sectors. Export of services continued to grow, 

but this was not enough to make up for the slowdown in exports of goods. Thanks to rising demand for 

labour, the unemployment rate continued to decline and reached around 16% (compared to 28% as 

recently as 2015). Outward migration has been also exerting downward pressure on the rate of 

unemployment, while the central bank also noted the impact of a rise in retirement and negative 

demographic trends. 

1.1.6. Croatia 

The economy grew by 2.9% in 2019, an improvement compared to the previous year, mainly due to the 

strengthening of domestic demand. Private consumption picked up by 3.5%, boosted by real wage 

increases and rising remittances from abroad. Investment growth reached its highest level since the onset 

of the global financial crisis, most notably thanks to the high inflows of EU transfers, and was reflected in 
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a noticeable increase in construction output. However, industrial production was largely stagnant, 

reflecting most notably the downturn in the crucial shipbuilding industry, as the two country’s two main 

shipyards - 3. Maj and Uljanik – continued to struggle (the bankruptcy procedure was initiated against 

Uljanik in Pula). In July 2019, Croatia sent a letter of intent expressing interest for entering the ERM II – a 

necessary step in the process of accession to the euro area, committing itself to a wide range of reforms 

by mid-2020:  

 to further strengthen the supervision of the banking system by establishing close cooperation 

between the Croatian National Bank and the ECB,  

 strengthen the macro-prudential policy framework by introducing an explicit mandate for borrower-

based measures; 

 strengthen the anti-money laundering framework; 

 upgrade the system of statistical data collection, processing and publication; 

 improve public-sector management, and  

 reduce the administrative and financial burden on the economy. 

1.1.7. Czech Republic 

GDP growth has been losing momentum and declined to an estimated 2.5% in 2019. The main reason 

behind was a decline in productive investments – despite labour resources nearing depletion: the number 

of vacancies reached an all-time high at the start of the year. Only investment in dwellings and other 

buildings and structures (related to the realisation of infrastructural projects) still kept rising, though at a 

very low rate. The recessionary tendencies coming to the fore in Germany were increasingly spilling over 

into Czech manufacturing, which is tightly integrated with the German industry. In response to 

somewhat higher inflation, the Czech National Bank hiked the policy interest rate to 2%; it is however 

still negative in real terms. Correspondingly, the growth in loans has been slowing down, although loans 

supporting the real estate activities have expanded quite dynamically, especially in Prague. Despite the 

growing interest rates’ differential vs. the euro area, the exchange rate has remained remarkably stable, 

helping the country’s exporters. 

1.1.8. Hungary 

Hungary’s economic growth remained exceptionally strong, with an estimated 4.9% in 2019 – despite 

deteriorating global environment. However, it was accompanied by signs of ‘overheating’, manifested 

inter alia in the deteriorating current account and the relatively high – albeit subsiding in the second half 

of the year – consumer price inflation (in excess of 3% p.a.). Another indication of overheating has been 

the ongoing boom in real estate prices: of all CEE/SEE countries, Hungary recorded by far the highest 

increase in property prices over the past five years (by nearly 90% in euro terms). The high pace of 

economic expansion has been decisively helped by the expansionary policy mix. Despite the currency 

weakening in the second half of the year, the Hungarian Central Bank saw no reason to modify its 

extremely loose monetary policy, with its main policy rate standing at just 0.9%. On the fiscal side, the 

government policy focused inter alia on front-loaded disbursement of EU funds, which boosted 

(particularly infrastructure) investments. Fiscal expansion was also helped by the increased purchase of 

government bonds by households (at a 4.95% yield, which makes the financing of the government debt 

rather expensive). 
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1.1.9. Serbia 

After posting comfortably its strongest real GDP increase for a decade in 2018 (4.3%), the Serbian economy 

adjusted back to a more muted growth path and expanded by an estimated 3.2% last year. This reflected 

a combination of domestic and external headwinds, such as the 100% tariff on imports from Serbia 

imposed by Kosovo, production shutdowns at the key Fiat-Chrysler plant, and the broader downturn in 

the global manufacturing sector. The growth contribution from agriculture was also held down by the 

high statistical base. At the same time, investment held up very well, with ongoing big infrastructure 

projects (partly financed by China in the framework of its Belt and Road Initiative) and robust FDI inflows. 

Private consumption was strong as well, fuelled by rising employment and high real wage growth, with 

labour shortages starting to bite and increasing employees’ bargaining power. Given low inflationary 

pressures, the National Bank of Serbia felt comfortable cutting policy rates twice last year. The real policy 

rate is now at just around 1%, compared with almost 8% as recently as 2015, which is helping the growth 

of lending and private consumption. 

1.1.10. Slovenia 

After a strong increase in 2018, economic activity slowed in the course of 2019 due to weakening foreign 

demand but GDP growth still ended up at a fairly robust 2.9%. Growth was mainly driven by domestic 

demand. Private consumption was supported by rising employment, wages and increasing household 

loans, while investments benefited from the strong inflow of EU funding. Investment growth was 

particularly felt in rising construction activities, but was almost negligible with respect to machinery and 

equipment. In June 2019, the privatisation process of the country’s biggest bank Nova Ljubljanska Banka 

(NLB), whose insolvency had been the source of severe economic crisis back in 2013, was finally 

completed, with the government retaining a 25% stake in NLB – the level agreed in exchange for the 

European Commission’s ‘rescue package’. Also in June 2019, the country’s third largest bank, state-owned 

Abanka, was sold to the second largest bank Nova KBM (NKBM), resulting in a consolidation of the 

Slovenian banking sector. 

1.2. Business development in 2019 

1.2.1. Situation of the Group 

2019 turned to be the second consecutive year for Sberbank Europe AG in terms of the reaching robust 

financial performance with a number of achievements in business, capital, liquidity, funding and operating 

efficiency areas across all Group banks. The stable general macroeconomic situation and economic 

environment in Central and South-Eastern Europe (CEE/SEE) supported the business development and 

growth in the Group in 2019. The continuous low-interest rates environment, however, remained one of 

the key detrimental factors affecting the banking sector and the Group in particular. The Group generally 

witnessed the increase in market competition resulting in margin pressure. This, together with the 

introduction of new regulatory caps and restrictions in some countries further affected the business 

development and build-up of the loan and deposit portfolios and ultimately, the profitability of the Group. 

The Group, however, managed to compensate the decrease in the interest rates with additional business 

volumes in the Subsidiary banks and Germany while placing a stronger focus on the high-margin products 

like consumer lending and unsecured micro loans. The Group continued building-up the solid non-

interest income base in 2019 with strong achievements in the fees and commission income generation 
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reflected in higher fees from payments, cards, guarantees, etc.  The parent bank, Sberbank of Russia, while 

being one of the top-tier banks in the world by profitability and the largest bank in Russia, continued 

demonstrating strong shareholder support in terms of the knowledge and know-how sharing, supporting 

the business steering and implementation of large Group IT projects.  

 

The main business development focus was further on ramping up the loan volumes in the Subsidiary 

banks and Germany. On Austrian corporate portfolio, despite strong and successful sales efforts in 2019 

resulted in bringing new business volume and transactions, the loan volume decreased, mainly driven by 

contractual repayments, a number of prepayments and a transfer of one large exposure to Sberbank of 

Russia. The tighter credit risk steering together with strong implementation of the NPL reduction strategy 

resulted in remarkable NPL ratio decrease on a Group level from 7.2% to 3.8% in 2019 reaching an ever 

low result. Competitive advantage was supported by the increase in the number of digital clients by 16% 

to 249 thousand in 2019 and the expansion of various retail products through cards and cash loans. The 

local banks strengthened the cost efficiency by decreasing the number of FTEs and reducing the 

consulting cost. These, together with the income side build-up resulted in a decrease in Cost/Income 

Ratio (CIR) in the Subsidiary Banks. The Group operating income result was affected by the decrease in 

the corporate portfolio in Austria following the strategic decision of the shareholder to focus on the 

growth in the Subsidiary banks and Germany.  

 

With the successful implementation of the SREP action plan in 2019, the Group secured the improvement 

of the capital score and P2R reduction from 2020. The liquidity position was qualitatively improved 

resulting in more robust and optimal liquidity structure. Funding structure was optimized including the 

decrease in concentration risks and dependence on large single funding source providers. The Group 

adopted the new IFRS 16 standard in 2019. 

 

In 2019, Sberbank Europe AG launched the implementation of two large Group digital projects that will 

help it to gain market advancement and momentum on the way to its digital evolution. The OCP 

(Omnichannel platform) aims at strengthening the customer-centric approach by introducing the 

modern digital platform across the Group while improving the customer satisfaction, enriching the 

customer experience and bringing the customer needs and demands fulfilment to the next level. The 

FRMP project aims at introducing the advanced finance and risk management practices in the Group 

while improving the data quality, processing speed, unification, simplification and flexibility standards. 

 

The market presence of Sberbank Europe AG has not been changed in 2019. The Group remained active 

in the following markets: Austria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia, Czech Republic, Germany, Hungary, 

Serbia, and Slovenia. Online lending in the German branch was more than doubled in 2019, while the 

deposits gathering continued being one of the core funding bases for Austrian business. The continued 

growth of online consumer lending in Germany is an important part of the implementation of the Group’s 

digitalization strategy.  

 

Sberbank Europe AG strengthened further its subsidiary banks’ market presence with capital measures. 

The following capital measures were taken in 2019: 

 Sberbank Magyarország Zrt. (Hungary) prolongation of an existing subordinated loan totaling EUR 

13.00 million. 
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 Sberbank d.d. (Croatia) received a capital support measure in the form of Tier 2 increase in the amount 

of EUR 7.00 million.  

The Group’s capital position remained robust in 2019, with a Tier 1 ratio well above the capital requirement 

level. 

 

In August 2019, the rating agency Fitch upgraded the rating of Sberbank Europe AG to investment grade 

BBB- Long-term Issuer Default Rating with ‘Stable’ outlook. 

 

In 2019, the following changes in the senior management level of Sberbank Europe AG took place: 

 

 Stefan Zapotocky´s contract as Chief Corporate and investment Banking Officer expired on 30 April 

2019. 

 

The Management Board of Sberbank Europe AG as of 31 December 2019 comprised of: 

 

 Sonja Sarközi as Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson since 1 July 2018 

 Arndt Röchling  as Chief Finance Officer since 1 June 2016 

 Alexander Witte as Chief Risk Officer since 6 December 2017 

 Aleksei Mikhailov as Chief Technological Officer since 7 March 2018 

 

 

1.2.2. Economic Development and Performance Indicators 

The following single-country based data relates to IFRS figures before consolidation bookings in the 

respective countries. 

 

2019 turned to be the second consecutive year of a strong financial performance for the Group. The result 

after taxes of EUR 40.6 million became the highest net profit since Sberbank has entered the European 

market in 2012. With the high performance in commission income, net gains and effects from the recovery 

of the NPLs and stable operating costs, the Group managed to compensate the CHF conversion hit in 

Serbia and to achieve strong net profit. The sustained profitability was largely a result of the strong 

performance in the Subsidiary banks driven by the increase in business volumes (loans, deposit and 

number of customers soared in 2019), the improvement in all main operating performance indicators, a 

strict and efficient cost management, and an improved asset quality with a significant reduction of the 

NPL ratio (to record low of 3.8% as of 31 December 2019), resulting in lower risk provisions.  

 

1.2.3. Profit and Balance Sheet View 

Net interest income 

Net interest income decreased by EUR 26.3 million or 9.1% year-over-year compared to 2018 and 

amounted to EUR 263.9 million in 2019. The main change in interest income was registered in Austria, 

where the interest income decreased by EUR 37.1 million or 43.3% year-over-year mainly driven by further 

decrease of the corporate loan portfolio (contractual repayments, early prepayments and transfer of one 

large exposure to Sberbank of Russia) with new disbursements not covering fully the extent of the 
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portfolio decrease. The net interest income in the subsidiary banks increased by EUR 4.3 million or +1.8% 

year-over-year compared to 2018 and amounted to EUR 244.3 million. The main driver for such a flattish 

development of the net interest income was the decrease in the net interest margin mostly in the Czech 

Republic, Croatia and Serbia (mostly market and competitive pressure on the margins, funding cost 

increase, etc.). In 2019, the Group net interest margin decreased from 2.5% to 2.3% driven mainly by a 

decrease in Subsidiary banks’ net interest margin from 2.6% to 2.4%. The Subsidiary banks managed to 

compensate for the decrease in net interest margin by the portfolio growth to keep the net interest 

income stable in 2019.  The Group interest expense increased by EUR 2.5 million or 3.2% year-over-year 

compared to 2018 and amounted to EUR 80.2 million. The main changes on the interest expense side in 

2019 included the deposit interest rate increase in Czech Republic driven by increased competition on the 

Czech market, a decrease in interest expenses in Germany stemming from the lower deposit base in 

Germany (lower funding needs for Austria driven by decreasing corporate volumes), optimisation of 

funding costs and further reduction of the funding concentration in Austria. The stronger focus on the 

higher-margin products (e.g. unsecured retail and micro-lending) helped the Subsidiary banks to balance 

the interest rate pressure on the loans. 

 

Net fee and commission income 

In 2019, the Group demonstrated the growth in net fee and commission income by EUR 9.9 million or 

10.9% year-over-year to EUR 100.7 million. In Austria, the main changes in the net fee and commission 

income included the decrease in commission expenses on the Agrokor guarantee fee expense (the 

Agrokor exposure was transferred to Sberbank of Russia at the end of 2018) and lower guarantee fee 

income driven by lower off-balance business volumes.  The increase in the net fee and commission 

income in the Subsidiary banks amounted to EUR 5.1 million or 5.8% year-over-year with almost all 

subsidiary banks contributing towards the net fee and commission income increase. The main drivers for 

such growth were an increase in payments, accounts and cash transactions, insurance fees and guarantee 

fees supported by the increase in business and client base. The largest contributors to the Group net fee 

and commission income in 2019 were Hungary, Slovenia and Serbia, reporting in total EUR 50.7 million of 

net fee and commission income in 2019 (+EUR 4.9 million or 10.8% growth year-over-year).  

 

Risk provisions 

In 2019, risk provisions decreased by EUR 20.4 million to EUR 40.8 million compared to 2018. This decrease 

was mainly driven by the decrease of the corporate loan portfolio in Austria (followed by risk provision 

releases), one-off release of provisions for Agrokor/Fortenova in Croatia, general improvement in liability 

quality and an effective NPL strategy execution, resulting in a decrease in NPL ratio in subsidiary banks 

from 7.1% to 3.7% in 2019.  

 

General administrative expenses 

General administrative expenses decreased by EUR 3.6 million or 1.3% year-over-year and amounted to 

EUR 281.3 million in 2019. Improvement is driven mainly by Austria (mainly from staff costs and consulting 

costs). Total general administrative expenses of subsidiaries remained flat at EUR 221.1 million. Higher 

expenses in Hungary (staff and IT costs), Slovenia (staff costs), Serbia (deposit insurance expense) and 

Banja Luka (staff costs) were compensated by savings in Croatia (staff and real estate), Czech Republic 

(staff costs) and Bosnia (banking operations costs). 

Since 01 January, 2019 expenses from rental fees are recognized as depreciation and interest expenses due 

to application of IFRS 16. 
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Income taxes 

Income taxes increased by EUR 0.7 million to EUR 12.2 million in 2019 mainly driven by an increase in the 

profits before tax across the Subsidiary banks. 

 

Total assets and liabilities & equity  

As of 31 December 2019, total assets of the Group increased by EUR 424.8 million or 3.6% year-over-year 

to EUR 12,087.3 million compared to 2018. The increase in the gross amount of loans and advances in the 

Subsidiary banks and Germany fully compensated the decrease of the corporate loan portfolio in Austria. 

The additional contribution to the total assets growth came from the increase in right-of-use assets 

following the implementation of IFRS 16 in the total amount of EUR 65.3 million (2018: 0). In 2019, the 

change in the structure of total assets included the increase in the share of the liquid funds (cash, balances 

with the national banks, nostro accounts, etc.) from 23.5% to 25.0% and a decrease in investment in 

securities from 8.2% to 6.2%. In general, the Group increased its liquidity in 2019. The share of gross loans 

remained relatively unchanged and stood at 65.5% as of the end of 2019. On the liabilities side, deposits 

and current accounts increased by EUR 788.6 million or 9.6% to 9,010.4 million in 2019, the share of 

deposits (to total liabilities & equity) increased from 70.5% to 74.5% indicating further strengthening of 

the funding self-sustainability of the banks across the Group and increase in the stable funding sources. 

As of 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any long-term senior funding from the parent bank 

Sberbank of Russia. 

The return on total assets (article 64 (19) BWG), calculated as the quotient of the annual result after taxes 

divided by the total assets as at the balance sheet date was 0.34% (2018: 0.29%).  

 

Loans and advances to customers 

The gross loan portfolio of the Group increased by EUR 61.2 million or 0.7% year-over-year in 2019, 

whereas the subsidiary banks recorded a growth of EUR 214.7 million or +3.0% year-over-year, Germany 

consumer loans grew by EUR 96.2 million or +136.5% year-over-year, while the Austrian corporate 

portfolio went down by EUR 250.7 million or 24.3% compared to 2018. The Austrian portfolio decrease 

was driven by the portfolio scheduled repayments, several early prepayments and a transfer of one large 

exposure to Sberbank of Russia, which was not fully replaced by new transactions. The growth of gross 

loans was seen in all subsidiary banks with main contributors being Hungary, Serbia and Croatia. The 

Group NPL ratio decreased from 7.2% to 3.8% in 2019, reflecting an effective execution of the NPL 

reduction strategy.  

 

Deposits and current accounts 

In 2019, the Group continued improving its self-funding position and increasing the share of stable deposit 

funding. The development of the deposit base included the reduction of German branch retail deposits 

by EUR 160.2 million or 18.2% year-over-year in 2019 reflecting the lower funding needs, driven by further 

decrease of the corporate loan portfolio in Austria. On the other hand, subsidiary banks boosted their 

deposit portfolios by EUR 925.4 million or 12.7% in 2019, demonstrating a strong deposit collection and 

client retention. All subsidiary banks increased the deposit portfolios with Serbia, Croatia and the Czech 

Republic being the three largest growth contributors (+EUR 676.0 million or +16.0% year-over-year).  

 

The loan to deposit ratio (LDR, net loans) on a Group level improved from 93.5% to 87.9% in 2019. Five out 

of seven subsidiary banks (Czech Republic, Slovenia, Croatia, Serbia and Bosnia) improved their LDR (net 
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loans). The slight increase in LDR (net loans) in other subsidiary banks (Hungary and Banja Luka) was 

driven by strong loan portfolio build-up, which exceeded the growth in deposits. The LDR (net loans) on 

a subsidiary banks level decreased from 92.1% to 85.9% in 2019. 

 

1.2.4. Countries overview 

In 2019, the Group achieved a net profit after taxes of EUR 40.6 million compared EUR 34.0 million in 

2018, reporting a second consecutive year of the high performance. All subsidiary banks improved their 

net profits, besides Serbia (net profit was affected by the CHF loans conversion). The largest contributors 

to the profit growth were the Czech Republic and Croatia, increasing their profits by EUR 10.2 million or 

+48.9% year-over-year in total in 2019.  

 

The Czech Republic 

Increase on the net interest income side in 2019 (EUR 1.5 million or +2.2% year-over-year) was driven by 

business volumes increase in SME and retail. Corporate volumes decrease in 2019 was driven by the 

transfer of one large exposure to Sberbank of Russia, which was not fully compensated by the new loan 

production.  Net fee and commission income remained flat at EUR 16.4 million. Risk provisions increased 

by EUR 4.6 million in 2019 mostly due to backstop provisions. Net gains from derecognition improved by 

EUR 7.1 million resulting in the net gain of EUR 5.5 million in 2019 resulting from a transfer of one large 

corporate loan as well as NPL sale. General administrative expenses improved by EUR 3.6 million to EUR 

58.1 million in 2019, mainly driven by a decrease in staff costs resulting from lower FTEs. Net profit 

increased by EUR 6.3 million year-over-year to EUR 21.0 million in 2019.  

 

Hungary 

Hungarian bank clearly continued the performance improvement momentum achieving solid results in 

2019 and further strengthened the main indicators compared to 2018. The bank increased SME and retail 

loan portfolios with a further increase of unsecured lending in retail segment (the main contributor was 

the so-called Baby-loan, a special lending program in Hungary supported by the local government). These 

developments almost fully offset the decrease of the interest income resulting from liquid assets structure 

change where the focus shifted from securities to interbank assets and the use of swaps. The total net 

interest income decreased slightly by EUR 0.9 million or 3.1% year-over-year to EUR 28.5 million in 2019. 

Net fee and commission income increased by EUR 1.6 million or 7% year-over-year demonstrating a 

strong business development and customer base growth by 6% year-over-year. Risk provisions decreased 

slightly by EUR 0.4 million coming mainly from the development of retail portfolio. Net gain from 

derecognition improved by EUR 7.0 million to EUR 7.5 million which was driven by the derecognition gain 

coming from the sale of the NPLs (decrease in NPL ratio from 10.5% to 5.5% in 2019). General 

administrative expenses increased by EUR 0.9 million or by 2.7% year-over-year and stood at EUR 36.5 

million partially due to an increase in staff costs (necessary adjustments to secure the retention of the 

key personnel) as well as increased IT costs from projects. Increase of other operating expenses by EUR 

3.7 million or 43.8% to EUR 12.2 million was driven by the reclassification of the banking taxes which were 

previously shown under income tax in 2019. In 2019, Hungary achieved a growth of net profit by EUR 2.8 

million or 64.8% year-over-year to EUR 7.1 million, thus reporting its highest profit since the acquisition 

of the Group by Sberbank in 2012. 

 

Slovenia 
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Total loans increased by EUR 34.5 million or by 2.7% year-over-year driven by growth in retail segments. 

Net interest income increased by EUR 1.3 million or by 3.8% year-over-year to EUR 34.4 million in 2019 as 

a result of the volume changes with net interest margin remaining largely flat. The increase in net fee and 

commission income by EUR 0.9 million or 8.8% year-over-year was mainly driven by an increase in 

payments, card operations and loan-related fees. Risk provisions increased slightly by EUR 0.3 million due 

to the volume increase which was partially offset by the reduction in NPL volumes (decrease in NPL ratio 

from 8.9% to 4.3% in 2019). General administrative expenses increase by EUR 1.9 million or 7.0% year-

over-year in 2019 to EUR 29.7 million was mainly driven by an increase in staff costs. Net profit improved 

by EUR 2.3 million to EUR 10.4 million in 2019. 

 

Croatia 

The loan volume increased by EUR 68.6 million or by 8.6% year-over-year mainly due to increase in retail 

consumer lending. The net interest income remained flat at EUR 36.7 million due to a decrease in net 

interest margin from 3.1% to 2.6% (margin pressure on the market). Net fee and commission income 

remained flat at EUR 9.9 million in 2019 (increase in payments covered the drop in global markets and 

asset management fees for corporate clients). General administrative expenses decreased by EUR 1.2 

million or 3.9% to EUR 28.5 million due to lower staff costs from lower average FTEs, lower real estate 

costs from renegotiation and relocation of branches as well as lower consulting expenses which in 

previous year included costs related to NPL portfolio sale. Risk provisions decrease by EUR 0.8 million or 

8.9% to was mainly driven by the releases coming from the restructuring of Agrokor/Fortenova which 

partially compensated the provisions for CHF loans legal cases. Additional increase in net gains of around 

EUR 2 million was driven by the Fortenova as well as a positive development in the fixed income segment 

leading to capital gains on existing portfolio. In 2019, the net profit was higher by EUR 3.9 million or 63.2% 

year-over-year and amounted to EUR 10.1 million. 

 

Serbia 

The net interest income increase by EUR 2.0 million or by 5.9% year-over-year in 2019 was mainly driven 

by higher average retail loan volumes. Net commission income increased by EUR 2.5 million or 18.5% year-

over-year in 2019 (mainly driven by FX sales in the corporate segment and payments in the retail 

segment). Higher risk provisions by EUR 2.8 million or 27.4% is driven by the effect of the legal provisions 

with regard to CHF conversion lex specialis, as well implementation of IFRS 9 model parameters, which 

were partially offset by the NPL outflow (NPL ratio improved from 9.2% to 5.5%). General administrative 

expenses increase by EUR 1.3 million or by 4.3% to EUR 31.4 million was driven by mandatory deposit 

insurance expense coming from substantially higher average deposits. In 2019, the net profit decreased 

by EUR 8.4 million year-over-year and amounted to EUR 2.6 million. 

 

Bosnia and Herzegovina (Sarajevo) 

The bank increased the loan portfolio by EUR 18.5 million or 3.9% year-over-year in 2019. Net interest 

income remained flat at EUR 20.6 million despite the volumes driven by net interest margin decrease 

from 2.8% to 2.6% (continuous margins pressure on the market due to over-liquidity). Net fee and 

commission income decreased by EUR 0.5 million or 5.5% year-over-year in 2019 (largely driven by a 

reclassification of the costs related to banking operations into card operations and partially compensated 

by the increase in the payment fees). Increased risk provisions by EUR 0.6 million year-over-year in 2019 

reflected the change in PD and LGD parameters implemented in December, which was partially offset by 

the improvement in NPL (NPL ratio decreased from 6.8% to 5.3% in 2019). General administrative expenses 
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decreased by EUR 1.2 million or 5.9% year-over-year was mainly driven decrease in administrative 

expenses (the reclassification of the banking operations costs into net fee and commission). In 2019, the 

net profit increased by EUR 1.8 million year-over-year and amounted to EUR 5.4 million. 

 

Bosnia and Herzegovina (Banja Luka) 

Net interest income remained relatively flat in 2019 (increase by EUR 0.2 million or 1.2% year-over-year) 

driven mainly by the intensified market competition on the customer rates on loans (combined with a 

further decrease of negative deposit rates with the local central bank). The net interest margin decreased 

from 3.4% to 3.3% in 2019 (driven by a decrease in lending rates) was compensated by a build-up of the 

loan portfolio by EUR 21.6 million or 7.2% year-over-year in 2019. Net fee and commission income increase 

by EUR 0.6 million or 8.3% year-over-year compared to 2018 was driven by higher payment fees and 

account-related fees. Risk provisions decreased by EUR 2.1 million or by 41.6% which is driven by the 

decrease in the risk provisions for a legal case built in previous year. The general improvement in asset 

quality was evident in the decrease in NPL ratio from 9.3% to 5.7% in 2019. General administrative expenses 

increased by EUR 1.8 million or 9.6% year-over-year in 2019 mainly driven by an increase in staff costs 

(higher number of employees) and administrative expenses (business growth-driven). The net profit 

increased by EUR 1.0 million year-over-year to EUR 3.6 million in 2019.  

 

Austria (incl. Sberbank Direct Germany) 

Loan volume decreased due to corporate loan volume decrease driven by contractual, early repayments 

and transfer of one large exposure to Sberbank of Russia in 2019, which were not fully compensated by 

the new volumes (corporate loan volumes decreased by EUR 202.7 million or 21.8% year-over-year). The 

decrease was only partially compensated by the increase of the German retail loans (retail loan volumes 

increased by EUR 95.1 million or 135.7% year-over-year). Net interest income has decreased by EUR 30.6 

million or 61.0% year-over-year largely due to the lower corporate loan volumes. Net fee and commission 

income increased by EUR 4.7 million mainly due to the exclusion of the fee for the SBRF Agrokor 

guarantee, which took place in 2018. Such development also partially compensated the decrease in 

guarantee fee income due to lower off-balance business volumes. General administrative expenses 

decreased by EUR 2.7 million or 3.8% year-over-year in 2019 (mainly driven by lower consulting costs and 

lower FTEs resulting in lower staff). The decrease in risk provisions by EUR 26.4 million reflected a 

decrease in loan volumes and a decrease in NPL in 2019 (NPL ratio improved from 7.5% to 4.3% in 2019). 

 

1.2.5. Business Segments – Overview in 2019 

Retail 

The Retail segment continued strong growth in 2019. The active customer base increased from around 

702 thousand to around 728 thousand across the Group. Gross loan volumes increased by 9.0% year-

over-year, exceeding EUR 4 billion threshold and reaching EUR 4,048 million (excluding non-interest 

bearing loans). The growth was driven by consumer loans (86% of total retail loan growth) and loans to 

Micro customers (12% of total retail loan growth) which reflects a strategic focus on higher marginal 

products.  

 

The deposit base developed in accordance with liquidity needs, growing by 5.4% year-over-year from 

EUR 4,620 million to EUR 4,868 million. 
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During 2019, Sberbank Europe Group continued the strong development of its digital channels across the 

countries of presence. In terms of online sales represented through sales of the consumer loan as a key 

product, online channels generated over EUR 140 million of new volumes across the Group, which 

constituted around 20% increase year-over-year compared to 2018. The base of customers using digital 

services grew by 16% year-over-year and reached around 249 thousand registered digital users. 

 

New Digital Services/Products were launched across the Group:  

 Sberbank Serbia has launched Digital E2E Smart Cash Loan for existing customers. 

 In Hungary customers can apply for a loan using Video Identification (Sberbank was among the first 

pioneers in the market) since February 2019. 

 Sberbank Banja Luka introduced “Touch ID” and push notifications to its mobile banking app to 

increase the security and easiness of use. Sberbank Sarajevo has renewed its mobile banking 

application with a facelift and additional functionalities such as Face and Touch ID. 

Sberbank also started a group Omnichannel platform program to gradually implement new Internet & 

Mobile Banking delivering unified and seamless user experience across the channels and SBEU 

subsidiaries, increasing the customer engagement with Sberbank, attracting new customers and 

cross/up-selling to existing customers through e2e online processes. In 2019, the pilot project was 

initiated in Sberbank Croatia, which established an internal Digital LAB in order to bring the bank through 

such digital transformation in a more active and committed way.  

 

Despite the negative CHF loan conversion effect in Serbia amounting to around EUR 11.4 million and the 

effect from the CHF legal cases provisions in Croatia amounting to around EUR 2.5 million (both triggered 

by decision of the local regulators), the Retail segment recorded a growth in operating income before risk 

provisions of 3.2% year-over-year, from EUR 197.1 million to EUR 203.4 million in 2019. 

 

Small & Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 

In 2019, the Group further continued execution of the SME strategy by focusing on operational income 

increase as well on the cost-efficiency. 

 

SME segment strongly increased operating income before risk provisions by EUR 5.5 million or 6.7% year-

over-year, mainly driven by improvements in net margin result and positive effects from the sales of the 

NPL portfolios in the subsidiary banks. 

SME segment continued with the positive transformation from previous years. The main focus was on: 

 Increasing the performing loans portfolio (gross loans less NPLs), where the Group recorded an 

increase of EUR 189 million or 9.8% year-over-year in 2019. 

 Strong deposits collection with the achieved growth of EUR 196 million or 10.4% year-over-year in 

2019.  

 Significant reduction of the NPL loans from EUR 237 million in 2018 to EUR 126 million in 2019 as part 

of the NPL strategy execution. 

 Customer relationship improvement as the main tool for profitability increase (the number of 

customers increased by 370 or 3.7% year-over-year); 
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Direct OPEX remained relatively flat in 2019.  On the risk provisions side, the increase in the risk cost in 

2019 by EUR 9.5 million year-over-year was largely an outcome of the provisions build-up based on 

specific NPL cases and IFRS 9 model recalibration. 

 

Corporate & Investment Banking 

Driven by the pressure on margins in almost all markets, operating income before risk provisions in the 

Corporate segment in the Subsidiary banks decreased by EUR 2.7 million or 5.5% year-over-year in 2019.  

In Austria, the decrease of the operating income before risk provisions by more than 20% year-over-year 

was mainly driven by the decrease in the corporate portfolio. In the Subsidiary banks, the net fee and 

commission income increased by around 30% year-over-year compared to 2018, as a result of consequent 

improvements of cross-selling tools & efficiency with the largest growth contributors being payments 

and guarantee fees. This, together with a better risk result, driven by loan repayments and successful 

workout activities, led to an increase of the net profit earned by the CIB segment in the Subsidiary banks 

by more than 125% year-over-year. The Group was successful in booking new assets and replacing 

prepayments as well as in building on new client relationships. In Austria and CEE, the result was 

improved driven by lower risk provisions and releases on repaid loans and almost no new NPL inflows in 

2019 and additional fees on the early repayments, which compensated the loss of the interest income on 

the decreased corporate portfolio. 

 

Capital management 

As of 31 December 2019, Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital of Sberbank Europe AG amounted to EUR 

1,345 million which is EUR 29 million higher compared to year-end 2018 (EUR 1,316 million Additional Tier 

I capital amounted to EUR 0.1 million at year-end 2019 and Tier 2 capital was EUR 287 million (2018: EUR 

326 million). Accordingly, the Group’s total own funds as per CRR amounted to EUR 1,631 million as of 31 

of December 2019 (2018: EUR 1,642 million). 

Tier 1 capital ratio (ratio of core capital to total risk-weighted assets) stood at 16.6% and Total Capital 

Ratio amounted to 20.2% at year-end 2019. Hence, the Group has maintained a strong capital position, 

comfortably meeting all capital requirements. Equity on the Group level as a percentage of total assets 

remained stable at 12.46%. 

As of 31 December 2019, total assets of the Group increased by EUR 424.83 million or 3.6% to EUR 12,087.27 

million compared to 2018. The increase in total assets was mainly driven by a considerable reduction in 

impairment of loans and advances to non-financial corporations and individuals by EUR 177.01 million or 

36.3% to EUR 310 million in 2019 following a group wide reduction in NPL Stock amounts. Return on 

equity (profit after taxes according to IFRS to average equity) in 2019 increased to 2.7% compared to 2.3% 

in 2018. 

 

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 

Sberbank Europe AG recognizes the need to regularly provide reports on its impact on society, the 

economy and the environment and strives to ensure transparency about all its related activities. Based 

on the reporting requirement according to the Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act (NaDiVeG), 

the Group will publish a consolidated non-financial report with the aim to transparently inform its 

stakeholders about the main non-financial performance indicators of the bank. 

 

Sberbank Europe AG has conducted a group-wide sustainability survey among its stakeholders in all 

countries of its presence. A significant sample size of employees, clients, representatives of the 
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shareholder, regulators as well as the bank’s top management has responded to the survey, providing 

Sberbank Europe AG crucial input and a foundation for defining and setting its priorities in the area of 

sustainability. Stakeholders were asked how important it is for Sberbank Europe to commit to a specific 

sustainability area and how they perceive Sberbank Europe’s current commitment to this issue. 

 

Within a materiality analysis conducted by the bank’s core sustainability team, the following non-financial 

performance areas have been identified and prioritized for the Group: 

 

 Products & Services: Ensuring quality and accessibility of our products and services, focusing on a 

consequent development of innovative banking solutions. Striving to add value for our customers by 

offering transparent and convenient products as well as extraordinary customer experience across all 

channels and markets of the Group´s presence.  

 Employees: Supporting health and work-life balance by fostering corporate culture, employee 

engagement and promoting a healthy lifestyle. Enhancing and living diversity, offering learning & 

development opportunities based on active talent management as well as ensuring a fair and 

transparent remuneration policy. 

 Responsible and Regional Financing: Contributing to regional economic development and prosperity 

by providing financial solutions to local customers in the region of the Group´s presence. Serving as 

a bridge to Russia for CEE companies doing business in Russia/CIS countries.  

 Environment: Enhancing energy efficiency and minimizing the negative impact on the environment 

by sustainable and active resources management. 

 Privacy & Data Protection: Ensuring information security and data protection of all Sberbank Europe 

AG stakeholders. 

 Ethics & Compliance: Prevention of corruption and money laundering as well as protection of human 

rights by responsible and ethical conduct. 

 Charity & Sponsorship: Supporting local initiatives, projects and events with a social or cultural 

dimension. 

 Stakeholder Communication: Enhancing transparent and regular communication with all 

stakeholders of Sberbank Europe AG through a broad range of communication channels.  

 

All materiality topics are linked to specific non-financial performance indicators and are subject to a yearly 

assessment and evaluation by the bank’s core sustainability team. In addition, the risk identification and 

risk assessment related to non-financial risks has been further developed and will be reviewed on a yearly 

basis.   
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2. Report on the Company’s expected 

Development and Risks 

2.1. Economy and Financial Markets – Outlook for 

2020 

2.1.1. International environment 

According to the latest OECD forecasts, global growth in 2020 will stay at about the same level as last 

year (2.9%). The factors which were a drag on growth in 2019 – rising protectionism, elevated 

uncertainties, geopolitical tensions in the Middle East and the slowdown of the Chinese economy – will 

be likely entrenched and may even gain momentum this year. Indeed, economic uncertainty (followed by 

weak demand) is the single most important concern mentioned by firms according to a recent OECD 

survey. Leading indicators suggest that the weakness in global manufacturing will continue in the near 

term. Growth in a number of advanced economies, such as the US and Japan, is projected to decelerate 

somewhat, but this will be offset by a speed-up of growth in the BRICS countries (except China) and 

Turkey, where the aftermath of the severe financial crisis of 2018 will be finally overcome.  

Expansionary policies have helped to support economic growth so far and partly offset the negative shock 

of increased protectionism. However, the ultra-loose monetary policy of major central banks may prepare 

ground for a new crisis, as the bulk of new credit ends up in real estate and other assets markets rather 

than in the real economy, arguably contributing to a formation of ‘bubbles’. Also, the latent risk of a repeat 

of 2018’s emerging markets crisis – then centred on Argentina and Turkey – remains lurking in the 

background and is keeping businesses and investors wary. 

2.1.2. Development of the European Union 

In 2020, growth in the EU should stay unchanged at 1.4%, and in the euro area pick up only marginally 

(from 1.1% to 1.2%) according to the European Commission forecasts. German economy however is 

projected to do much better than last year and grow by 1%, as some of the one-off factors related to the 

car industry which played a role last year, such as the emission scandal and the new emission standards, 

will fade away. However, the global structural shift in consumer preferences for cars, the possible 

imposition of high tariffs on European cars by the US and the uncertainty surrounding Brexit remain major 

factors of risk for European exports. The high uncertainty with respect to trade and the declining capacity 

utilisation will weigh on the dynamics of investments, with very favourable financing conditions and 

support from various schemes such as the European Fund for Strategic Investments providing only a 

partial relief. Forward-looking indicators confirm that non-construction investment is set to slow down 

in the near term. 

The so far positive trends in the European labour markets are likely to subside somewhat as well, given 

increased transmission from weakening trade and investment. However, these effects will be partially 

offset by structural shifts in employment, such as the rising share of services, which tend to be labour-

intensive. Therefore, employment growth in the euro area will likely continue (albeit at a slower pace). 
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This and rising wages will continue to benefit private consumption – higher household saving rate 

notwithstanding. 

2.1.3. CEE/SEE (Central and Eastern European Countries) 

Despite the impressive degree of resilience to negative external trends thus far, CEE/SEE will not remain 

unaffected in 2020. The peak of growth in the region has clearly passed, and the outlook is more subdued. 

Especially in CEE, a ‘soft landing’ will likely take place in 2020 (by around 1 pp of real GDP growth on 

average), while in the Western Balkans growth should stabilise at around 3%. The CEE/SEE economies 

are generally quite export-reliant, and many are heavily plugged into the German manufacturing core. 

Most importantly, there are still risks of the US imposing prohibitive import duties on European cars, in 

which case countries such as Hungary and the Czech Republic (which are particularly dependent on car 

exports to the US, both directly and indirectly via value-added chains) will be affected the most. In 

addition, uncertainty with respect to the future trade relationship between the EU and the UK may 

negatively impact business sentiment in the region. On the other hand, private consumption will continue 

to benefit from solid wage growth and generous social policies, while the inflows of EU transfers should 

stay broadly intact in 2020, benefiting public sector investments in CEE countries. 

2.1.4. Austria 

The real GDP growth is expected to decelerate further, to 1.2% (from 1.7% last year), as global economic 

activity – and especially the dynamics of foreign trade – is projected to weaken, acting as a drag on the 

Austrian industrial production and exports. Most importantly, US trade policy remains unpredictable and 

constitutes the key risk to the forecast. In these circumstances, growth of the Austrian economy in 2020 

will continue to be underpinned primarily by private consumption and housing investment. These may 

even gain momentum on the back of rising real wages and incomes, and the environment of low interest 

rates which is likely to persist for the foreseeable future, generating further demand for housing loans. 

The planned tax reforms, such as the extension of the ‘Familienbonus’ and the tax cuts for low-income 

earners, will also provide a modest boost to private consumption growth. However, against the 

background of the overall growth deceleration, the labour demand will subside and no longer outpace 

the labour supply, as has been the case over the past few years. As a result, the unemployment rate will 

no longer decline and is projected to stabilise at the level of 7.4% this year.  

2.1.5. Bosnia and Herzegovina 

Prospects for real GDP growth in 2020 are more or less where they almost always are: below 3%. Given 

quite negative trends in the global economy, including in the euro area, the poor performance of exports 

and industrial production observed in 2019 may well continue this year. In recent years, exports of services 

have increased, but there are clear limits to their growth. Besides, the policy mix will remain generally 

restrictive, with a currency board and fiscal policy constrained by the exchange rate and financial stability. 

However, investments should continue to grow, and foreign capital inflows and remittances will continue 

to cover the trade deficit and support the growth of private consumption. The political crisis is not all that 

consequential for the economy, but does represent a barrier to improving the country’s international 

relations. 
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2.1.6. Croatia 

Considering an expected slowdown of foreign demand, real GDP is projected to grow by some 2.7% in 

2020, driven primarily by domestic demand. Revenues from tourism will remain robust, although probably 

below the levels reached in the past couple of years due to the return of competition from Turkey and 

Northern Africa. The current account should remain in positive territory, but declining gradually due to 

widening trade deficits. The government will make every effort to continue fiscal consolidation in order 

to join the ERM II this year. So far, Croatia has satisfied the Maastricht criteria of price stability, public 

finance sustainability, and interest rate convergence. However, it seems questionable whether reforms in 

two more areas – public sector management and the reduction of the administrative and financial 

burden on the economy – can be implemented by mid-2020 in view of the rather unsuccessful attempts 

in the past.  

In the first half of 2020, Croatia is taking over the EU presidency. Major issues to be covered by the 

Croatian presidency include Brexit, negotiations on the next EU budget, and discussions about further EU 

enlargement which will be rounded off by the EU-Western Balkan Summit in May. With respect to 

domestic policies, the recent defeat of the incumbent President Kolinda Grabar Kitarovic - supported by 

the ruling Croatian Democratic Union (HDZ) - by the former Prime Minister Zoran Milanovic (Social 

Democratic Party) has led to debates on the future direction of the HDZ ahead of the next parliamentary 

elections scheduled for autumn 2020. 

2.1.7. Czech Republic 

In 2020, growth is projected to decelerate slightly to 2.3%, mainly driven by private consumption. Brexit 

and the tensions disrupting global trade may affect the Czech economy and are likely to discourage 

investment. Investment is also likely to be constrained by persisting labour shortages on account of 

population ageing – despite the positive net migration (primarily from Ukraine, but also from Russia, 

Slovakia and Romania). Also, new production facilities of foreign multinationals in the crucial automotive 

industry may be increasingly located in less costly countries where labour shortages are less acute (e.g. in 

Romania and Turkey). Although large foreign firms are unlikely to move out of the Czech Republic quickly, 

they may become more cautious when it comes to extending their existing production facilities in the 

country. All in all, a high dependence on the car industry may become a long-standing structural problem 

for the Czech Republic. 

2.1.8. Hungary 

Economic growth is projected to slow down significantly in 2020, around 2 percentage points to 3.1%. 

The main reason is the likely drop in EU transfers, since the government policy so far of attracting as 

many EU funds and as fast as possible means that the pool of EU resources envisaged for Hungary is likely 

to dry out sooner than for other CEE countries. This will weigh on public and (to a lesser extent) private 

investment. Another risk is a possible crisis in the automotive sector due to global trade disputes and the 

weakening demand for cars in China. Finally, labour shortages will prevail (despite increased labour 

immigration), which implies some pressure for further substantial wage increases. While lending activity 

has been dynamically increasing, the negative cost side-effects (rocketing wages, more expensive 

imports) are likely to curb expansion in the business sector this year. Most probably the exchange rate 

will not return to its 310-320 HUF/€ level, which it sustained in the last few years, and will stay at its 

current rather low level. This will bring only marginal gains to Hungarian exporters, which are generally 
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embedded in international value chains and are thus heavily dependent on imports, but will likely put the 

country’s SME sector under pressure. 

2.1.9. Serbia 

In 2020, growth is likely to be similar to last year in the range of 3-3.5%, with the government set to 

remain focused on FDI (foreign direct investment)-driven investment, while private consumption will 

continue to benefit from rising wages and employment. The National Bank will likely retain its loose 

monetary stance and will be able to get away with it, owing to high levels of global liquidity. This should 

provide some moderate support for growth. On the downside, regional political tensions have increased 

in the last couple of years and could rise further following the recent triumph of hardliners in the Kosovo 

parliamentary elections. The progress on negotiations between Serbia and Kosovo has become less likely, 

although a territorial swap between Serbia and Kosovo was never very likely in the first place, mostly 

because of the practical difficulties of implementation (rather than opposition from outside actors). 

Although these developments weigh heavily on Serbia’s long-term EU accession prospects, they hardly 

constitute a significant downside risk to its economy in the near future. 

2.1.10. Slovenia 

In 2020, growth should stay below 3%, driven primarily by private consumption and continued 

investments supported by EU funding. Domestic demand will be supported by increasing employment 

and rising wages, not least because of growing labour shortages, as well as favourable bank lending 

conditions. The contribution of net exports will remain negative due to the expected economic slowdown 

in Slovenia’s main trading partners. Following the downward revision of the growth forecast for 2019-

2021 by the country’s main economic institute IMAD, the budget for 2020 envisages expenditure cuts, 

which should help to further bring down the public debt to GDP ratio closer to 60% this year. The 

withdrawal of the Left Party’s support for the government in November 2019 will make future 

government work (the government is a four-party coalition) even more difficult than before.   

2.2. Development of the Group in 2020 

In 2020, the key priorities for the Group will include, inter alia: 

 further improvement in the profitability and self-sustainability by stronger focus on the high-margin 

products, especially in Retail segment (e.g. consumer and micro loans); 

 focus on strengthening the income from the transaction business by increasing the commission 

income supporting the strong build-up of the non-interest income sources; 

 further development and expansion of the digital products and channels aiming at strengthening of 

the customer experience, service quality and satisfaction; 

 deeper engagement in the digital transformation of the internal processes, optimisation of the legacy 

IT systems and improvement of the data quality and speed of data processing; 

 analysis of the process efficiency and implementation of the cost optimisation initiatives; 

 further strengthening the human capital, people development and talent management. 

 

On the business side, the Group expects further ramp-up of the loan portfolio in the Subsidiary banks and 

Germany compensating further decrease in the corporate loan portfolio in Austria. The Subsidiary banks 
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are expected to continue improving the operating efficiency, which together with the increase in the 

business volumes will lead to an increase in the net result in 2020. 

 

2.2.1. Business Segments – Outlook for 2020 

Retail 

The further increase of the gross loan portfolio in 2020 (excluding the non-interest bearing loans) by 

more than 12% year-over-year with special focus on the higher marginal products like consumer loans 

(around 82% of the total growth) will support a further boost in the operating income before risk 

provisions. Increased operating efficiency together with higher income will result in considerable 

improvement in the CIR (Cost/Income Ratio) in the Retail segment.   

 

Further expected customer database growth by around 8% year-over-year (from around 728 thousand 

to around 785 thousand) will be supported by multiple activities aimed to improve customer experience, 

including:  

 

 SBEU Group website redesign with the Sberbank Czech Republic as a pilot country. 

 Sberbank Germany and Sberbank Hungary will join the group Omnichannel platform program to 

gradually strengthen their digital channels. 

 Sberbank Hungary and Sberbank Serbia will expand the E2E online sales processes and include further 

products (respectively current account and overdrafts). 

 Sberbank Slovenia will launch fully E2E online sales process based on e-Identity. 

 Sberbank Czech Republic will launch new Multichannel platform replacing existing Internet & Mobile 

banking solutions. 

Small & Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 

Continuous transformation of SME segment will continue in 2020, with the main focus is on increasing 

of profitability of the clients and further growth of the customer base.  The customer base is expected to 

increase by around 8% year-over-year compared to 2019, which should generate an uplift in performing 

loans by around 9% year-over-year and Operating income before provisions by around 4% year-over-

year. 

 

Corporate & Investment Banking 

Overall, the focus in corporate banking in 2020 is on further diversification and exposure management in 

order to optimize returns as well as new client acquisitions in the mid-cap area. A sound pipeline in 

network banks is a solid basis to achieve projected business growth. Strong focus lies on fostering cross-

selling activities with increased fee income to support loan business with targeted clients. In 2020, the 

cooperation between network banks and Corporate division in SBAG will be further strengthened for 

arranging intragroup club deals and syndicated loans. Growth in loans business goes hand in hand with 

improvement in asset quality. 
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2.3. Capital Requirements 

Since 1 January 2014, Sberbank Europe AG applies CRD IV/CRR (including European Commission 

implementing Standards and Acts) and IFRS to calculate, report and manage regulatory own funds and 

capital ratios. The primary objective of capital management activities is to ensure that the Group always 

maintains enough capital to both meet the regulatory requirements and to support the execution of the 

strategic plan. In order to do this, a monitoring framework is in operation to provide timely, relevant and 

accurate information on both the capital position and on the regulatory environment.  

 

Sberbank Europe AG is subject to multiple requirements on capital adequacy stemming from various legal 

frameworks. Article 92 of Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR, Regulation No 575/2013) defines 

minimum capital requirements to meet such as 4.5% for CET 1 capital ratio; 6% for Tier I capital ratio; 8% 

for Total Capital Ratio all expressed as percentage to the total risk exposure amount. Sberbank Europe 

AG is also subject to the combined buffer requirement as per Article 128 of Capital Requirements Directive 

(CRD, Directive 2013/36/EU) implemented in Article 23 of the Austrian Banking Act (BWG) consisting of 

the following items: Capital Conservation Buffer, Systemic Risk Buffer and Institution-specific 

Countercyclical Buffer. In addition to this, under the Pillar II framework of the CRD, the supervisory 

authorities set additional requirements based on the outcome of the 2018 SREP cycle.  

 

2.4. Material Risks and Uncertainties 

2.4.1. Risk management 

Additional information is also provided in the note 4, risk report the Group. 

The Management Board of the Group updated the Group risk strategy in 2019. The key principles of the 

Group’s risk strategy are implemented in daily operations on the basis of four pillars (Risk principles and 

internal risk regulation; Risk appetite and risk profile; Risk governance and management functions; Risk 

adjusted performance measurement, steering and reporting). These principles are closely aligned with 

the shareholder Sberbank of Russia and are therefore the basis for the assessment of opportunities and 

risks. The Group risk strategy is also approved by the Supervisory Board, and discussed on a regular basis 

with the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board.  

The risk management process starts with the annual risk identification and materiality assessment. All 

risks are to be checked for their materiality and significance. The results of this evaluation are to be used 

for setting the risk appetite limits and in regular ICAAP/ILAAP processes. Apart from the classical banking 

risks (credit, market, liquidity risk and operational risk split into subcategories), the concentration risk, 

country transfer risk, participation risk, strategic risk, macroeconomic risk and other risks are to be 

investigated. All risks classified as material are to be quantified and taken into consideration by applying 

appropriate consideration in the economic capital calculations. This approach is cross-checked in the 

annual stress test.   

The Group’s Chief Risk Officer (CRO) is setting up comprehensive risk management framework across 

entire organization. In order to ensure a state-of-the-art risk management set-up in line with regulatory 
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requirements and Sberbank of Russia group standards, the risk organization was further optimized in 

2019. The Management Board and empowered committees (Asset & Liability Committee, Group Risk 

Committee, Credit Risk Committee, Distressed Assets Committee, Operating Committee and Cost 

Management Committee) decide on related topics. 

The management and the employees are required to comply with and base their activities on the risk 

principles. The risk awareness of the employees and the risk culture at all levels are the essential part of 

risk management. Educational programs for the employees are therefore organized to ensure awareness 

of risk-relevant topics within the organization. 

Sberbank Europe AG continued to enhance its Group-wide risk management and risk steering processes 

in last years, e.g. Group standards in the areas of provisioning were updated, the NPL Strategy was 

established, the default recognition policy was updated, large exposure management and recovery 

planning were strengthened, and the new ICAAP/ILAAP methodology were implemented, as was the 

stress-testing framework. 

2.4.2. Compliance, Anti-Fraud Activities and Anti-Money Laundering (AML) 

The Compliance/AML Officer reports directly to the Management Board without any intermediate levels. 

The Group CFO, Mr. Arndt Röchling, is the responsible Board member for administration related topics.  

The key areas of responsibilities of the Compliance/AML Department are based around the following: 

 Conflicts of Interest Management including HR Compliance/Personal interests (outside of business 

employments, related parties, invitations, gifts etc.),  

 Third party/Partner Compliance (outsourcing, sponsoring, business partners),  

 Colleague and customer treatment (whistleblowing, complaints management, client transparency); 

 Regulatory Compliance and monitoring of regulatory changes as defined in the Austrian Banking law 

§ 39; 

 Capital Market Compliance (employees’ personal transactions, insider information, trading/global 

markets); 

 AML & KYC; 

 Sanctions risk management. 

Based on the above-mentioned classification, the Compliance/AML Department maintains a compliance 

register. The document covers a database of all incoming requests from within and outside of the bank 

where the Compliance/AML Department is involved. The document is updated on a regular basis and is 

part of the daily routine of the team. 

In Q3 2019, Compliance/AML Department conducted a self-assessment of the key risks for Sberbank 

Europe AG. The following top five risks were identified: 

1. AML: 

 This risk contains two parts: risk that not all transactions are monitored closely leading to breach of 

local law and fines, and risk that not all clients are identified and monitored correctly leading to breach 

of local law and fines. It includes topics such as the application of KYC/CDD processes by branch and 

sales staff, correctness of data; 
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 The risk is high in general due to growing number of high risk clients and transactions, as well as the 

higher regulatory requirements; 

2. Sanctions: 

 Risk of breaching economic sanctions imposed on Sberbank Europe Group; 

 The risk is assessed as a low probability, but high impact topic; it is also high due to the fact that  new 

sanctions against Sberbank cannot get excluded; 

3. Embezzlement and Fraud: 

 Risk that a person or entity misappropriates the assets entrusted to him or her. This is a general risk 

applicable to all banks. Sberbank Europe increased the Group steering model to enhance the fraud 

prevention processes; 

4. Capital Markets Compliance: 

 Risk of violating the regulatory capital markets and market abuse requirements. Risk increased 

substantially, as new regulatory requirements came into force for providing security services to clients 

(MiFID) and due to enhanced data requirements; 

5. Regulatory Non-Compliance: 

 Risk that not all internal and external laws are followed leading to breach of local laws and fines. 

Includes non-application of Group policies; 

 High number of new regulations might lead to suboptimal implementation. 

All Compliance and AML guidelines have been revised in Q1 and Q2 2019. Following the standardized 

process, the Group policies were provided to all subsidiary banks and implemented by the subsidiary 

banks taking into account their local organizational structure. Each subsidiary was requested to 

implement the respective guidelines within the given deadline. 

The main Compliance guidelines are covering following areas: 

 Compliance Risk; 

 Conflicts of Interest and Compliance Governance; 

 Prevention of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing; 

 Transparency and Customer Protection. 

The Compliance/AML Department has successfully closed numerous compliance-related projects, i.e. 

EMIR Change of Service Provider, TeamRadar Regulatory Tool etc. The AML Process and System Update 

project as well as EMIR project have been extended to Q1 2020.  

The Compliance/AML Department ensures that the Management Board and all concerned departments 

of Sberbank Europe AG are kept informed about all relevant changes in the regulatory environment that 

may affect Sberbank Europe AG’s business and operations. This is accomplished through regulatory 

workshops on a quarterly basis. 

In 2019 the Compliance/AML Department strengthened their training approach and activities 

substantially. Among others, the following trainings were conducted: AML training for CIB and FI teams, 

International Sanctions as part of Trade Finance workshop, trainings for all departments on regulatory 

topics, etc.   

In addition to that, the Compliance/AML Department has published a General Compliance Training 

covering various topics such as: general compliance terms, Sberbank Europe AG’s anti-fraud measures, 

non-binding electronic copy



Sberbank Europe AG          | 23  

Group Management Report 31.12.2019 

 

 

 

securities compliance, employee transactions, insider information, capital markets compliance, 

international sanctions, and conflict of interests and acceptance of gifts.  

In 2019, Compliance/AML Department launched its second awareness campaign successfully. The main 

aim of the campaign was linked to raising employees’ awareness for compliant behaviour with regards 

to events related to anti-bribery, transparency and accepting gifts or invitations. This was done via 

providing a printed “one pager” containing structured information on key compliance rules to all 

employees in a staged approach. 

In the course of combating and preventing fraud, Compliance/AML Department closely cooperates with 

the Operational Risk and Internal Audit departments. The focus is on increasing awareness, e.g. by means 

of anti-fraud workshops, a diligent analysis of fraud cases and the implemented preventive measures 

such as the BKMS whistleblowing tool. 

3. Report on research and development  

Sberbank Europe Group currently does not conduct any research or development activities. 

 

4. Report on the important features of 

the Internal Control System and the Risk 

Management System with regard to the 

accounting process  

The purpose of the internal control system (ICS) is to support the overall management of the Group so 

that it is in a position to ensure effective internal controls with regard to accounting. The Management 

Board is responsible for setting up and structuring an appropriate internal control and risk management 

system with the support of the respective departments.  

ICS reporting is performed on a quarterly basis. After identification, weak points are eliminated 

immediately. Any need for optimization in the ICS of the Group is identified through periodical checks.  

Moreover, Internal Audit independently checks compliance with internal regulations with respect to 

accounting based on its audit cycle. Internal Audit reports the internal audit assessment results to the 

Management Board, with its head reporting directly to the overall Management Board regarding daily 

operative matters and is required to functionally report about the Internal Audit functioning, activities 

and assessment results to the Audit Committee/Supervisory Board at least on a quarterly basis. 
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4.1. Control environment 

Within the Group’s ICS guidelines, the overall management provides a framework for implementing the 

internal control system within the Group. Accordingly, the responsibility for and maintenance of an 

efficient internal control system was transferred to the Management Boards of the local banks. The aim 

of the guidelines is to arrange an ICS with its typical components according to the COSO (Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) standard. 

Implementation of the internal control system with respect to the accounting process is stipulated in 

comprehensive internal guidelines and instructions. Consolidation processes require compliance with the 

four-eye principle. 

With respect to preparing the consolidated financial statements, processes have been set up that are 

intended to ensure the correct transfer and processing of data provided by the subsidiaries of the Group. 

The data provided are initially checked for plausibility by comparing them with data from previous periods 

and by analyzing typical transactions. Data is processed by means of consolidation software into which 

automated controls have been integrated in order to ensure that data are captured and processed 

completely and accurately. The results are monitored and plausibility checks are performed through 

various reports. Monitoring and plausibility checks are based on the four-eye principle and are subject to 

a further check by the heads of department. 

 

4.1.1. Risk assessment 

Risks with respect to the accounting process are recorded and monitored by the process owners assisted 

by the person responsible for operational risk and ICS. The focus here is on the risks considered to be 

material. 

 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, periodical estimates have to be made of the areas 

subject to imminent risk in order to identify deviations from these estimations in the future. This mainly 

concerns the following positions in the consolidated financial statements: impairment of financial assets, 

assessment of the intrinsic value of intangible assets, risks for the banking business, recognition of 

deferred tax assets, payments for employees and the outcome of legal proceedings. In some cases, 

publicly available sources are taken into account or external experts are consulted in order to mitigate 

the risk of misjudgments. 

 

4.1.2. Control measures 

Control measures are taken in the course of ongoing business processes in order to avoid potential errors 

and to detect and correct inconsistencies in financial reporting. These control measures consist of checks 

such as deviation analyses relating to the profit and financial situation as well as the analysis of ongoing 

accounting processes within the Group.   

 

In the context of ICS, there are three different forms of controls: Operational controls, which include 

manual controls performed by employees in the course of specific steps, automated controls performed 
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by means of IT systems, and preventive controls which aim at preventing errors and risks through the 

separation of functions, the definition of responsibilities and access authorization. 

 

Management controls made on a random basis serve to ensure that employees comply with the 

operational controls. The frequency of controls is defined by the responsible head (head of division, head 

of department) depending on the amount at risk. The controls performed on a random basis are 

documented in the control plan in a manner understandable to third parties. The management controls 

that have been conducted are documented using an ICS database. The results are reported to the Risk 

Committee and every six months to the Audit and Compliance Committee.  

 

4.1.3. Information and communication 

Guidelines and regulations relating to reporting are regularly updated by the Management of the Group 

and communicated to all relevant employees. In addition, accounting employees are also trained on an 

ongoing basis with regard to international accounting standards in order to be able to identify risks of 

unintentional incorrect reporting at an early stage.   

   

Guidelines and regulations with respect to financial reporting are updated on a periodical basis and 

communicated to all employees concerned. 

  

4.1.4. Monitoring 

The Management Board receives financial reports on a periodical basis, such as monthly reports on the 

development of the respective segments and the material financial key performance indicators. Financial 

statements intended for disclosure are finally checked by senior personnel in the accounting department, 

the head of the division and the Management Board before being forwarded to the respective 

committees. The appropriate heads of department and group leaders are also responsible for monitoring 

their respective areas. Controls and plausibility checks are made on a periodical basis. Management 

controls are documented in the ICS report. 

 

In addition, Internal Audit controls and monitors in accordance with its function.  
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General Conditions of Contract 
for the  

Public Accounting Professions 
(AAB 2018) 

 
 
Recommended for use by the Board of the Chamber of Tax Advisers and 
Auditors, last recommended in its decision of April 18, 2018 
 
 

Preamble and General Items 
 
(1)  Contract within the meaning of these Conditions of Contract refers 
to each contract on services to be rendered by a person entitled to exercise 
profession in the field of public accounting exercising that profession (de 
facto activities as well as providing or performing legal transactions or acts, 
in each case pursuant to Sections 2 or 3 Austrian Public Accounting 
Professions Act (WTBG 2017). The parties to the contract shall hereinafter 
be referred to as the “contractor” on the one hand and the “client” on the 
other hand). 
 
(2) The General Conditions of Contract for the professions in the field 
of public accounting are divided into two sections: The Conditions of 
Section I shall apply to contracts where the agreeing of contracts is part of 
the operations of the client’s company (entrepreneur within the meaning of 
the Austrian Consumer Protection Act. They shall apply to consumer 
business under the Austrian Consumer Protection Act (Federal Act of 
March 8, 1979 / Federal Law Gazette No. 140 as amended) insofar as 
Section II does not provide otherwise for such business. 
 
(3) In the event that an individual provision is void, the invalid provision 
shall be replaced by a valid provision that is as close as possible to the 
desired objective. 
 
 

SECTION I 
 

1. Scope and Execution of Contract 
 
(1) The scope of the contract is generally determined in a written 
agreement drawn up between the client and the contractor. In the absence 
of such a detailed written agreement, (2)-(4) shall apply in case of doubt: 
 
(2) When contracted to perform tax consultation services, consultation 
shall consist of the following activities: 
a) preparing annual tax returns for income tax and corporate tax as well as 
value-added tax (VAT) on the basis of the financial statements and other 
documents and papers required for taxation purposes and to be submitted 
by the client or (if so agreed) prepared by the contractor. Unless explicitly 
agreed otherwise, documents and papers required for taxation purposes 
shall be produced by the client. 
b) examining the tax assessment notices for the tax returns mentioned 
under a). 
c) negotiating with the fiscal authorities in connection with the tax returns 
and notices mentioned under a) and b). 
d) participating in external tax audits and assessing the results of external 
tax audits with regard to the taxes mentioned under a). 
e) participating in appeal procedures with regard to the taxes mentioned 
under a). 
If the contractor receives a flat fee for regular tax consultation, in the 
absence of written agreements to the contrary, the activities mentioned 
under d) and e) shall be invoiced separately. 
 
(3) Provided the preparation of one or more annual tax return(s) is part 
of the contract accepted, this shall not include the examination of any 
particular accounting conditions nor the examination of whether all relevant 
concessions, particularly those with regard to value added tax, have been 
utilized, unless the person entitled to exercise the profession can prove 
that he/she has been commissioned accordingly. 
 
(4) In each case, the obligation to render other services pursuant to 
Sections 2 and 3 WTBG 2017 requires for the contractor to be separately 
and verifiably commissioned. 
 
(5) The aforementioned paragraphs (2) to (4) shall not apply to services 
requiring particular expertise provided by an expert. 
 

(6) The contractor is not obliged to render any services, issue any 
warnings or provide any information beyond the scope of the contract. 
 
(7) The contractor shall have the right to engage suitable staff and other 
performing agents (subcontractors) for the execution of the contract as well 
as to have a person entitled to exercise the profession substitute for 
him/her in executing the contract. Staff within the meaning of these 
Conditions of Contract refers to all persons who support the contractor in 
his/her operating activities on a regular or permanent basis, irrespective of 
the type of underlying legal transaction. 
 
(8) In rendering his/her services, the contractor shall exclusively take 
into account Austrian law; foreign law shall only be taken into account if 
this has been explicitly agreed upon in writing.  
 
(9) Should the legal situation change subsequent to delivering a final 
professional statement passed on by the client orally or in writing, the 
contractor shall not be obliged to inform the client of changes or of the 
consequences thereof. This shall also apply to the completed parts of a 
contract. 
 
(10) The client shall be obliged to make sure that the data made 
available by him/her may be handled by the contractor in the course of 
rendering the services. In this context, the client shall particularly but not 
exclusively comply with the applicable provisions under data protection law 
and labor law. 
 
(11) Unless explicitly agreed otherwise, if the contractor electronically 
submits an application to an authority, he/she acts only as a messenger 
and this does not constitute a declaration of intent or knowledge 
attributable to him/her or a person authorized to submit the application. 
 
(12) The client undertakes not to employ persons that are or were staff 
of the contractor during the contractual relationship, during and within one 
year after termination of the contractual relationship, either in his/her 
company or in an associated company, failing which he/she shall be 
obliged to pay the contractor the amount of the annual salary of the 
member of staff taken over. 
 
 

2. Client‘s Obligation to Provide Information and  
Submit Complete Set of Documents 

 
(1) The client shall make sure that all documents required for the 
execution of the contract be placed without special request at the disposal 
of the contractor at the agreed date, and in good time if no such date has 
been agreed, and that he/she be informed of all events and circumstances 
which may be of significance for the execution of the contract. This shall 
also apply to documents, events and circumstances which become known 
only after the contractor has commenced his/her work. 
 
(2)  The contractor shall be justified in regarding information and 
documents presented to him/her by the client, in particular figures, as 
correct and complete and to base the contract on them. The contractor 
shall not be obliged to identify any errors unless agreed separately in 
writing. This shall particularly apply to the correctness and completeness 
of bills. However, he/she is obliged to inform the client of any errors 
identified by him/her. In case of financial criminal proceedings he/she shall 
protect the rights of the client. 
 
(3) The client shall confirm in writing that all documents submitted, all 
information provided and explanations given in the context of audits, expert 
opinions and expert services are complete.  
 
(4)  If the client fails to disclose considerable risks in connection with the 
preparation of financial statements and other statements, the contractor 
shall not be obliged to render any compensation insofar as these risks 
materialize. 
 
(5)  Dates and time schedules stated by the contractor for the 
completion of the contractor’s products or parts thereof are best estimates 
and, unless otherwise agreed in writing, shall not be binding. The same 
applies to any estimates of fees: they are prepared to best of the 
contractor’s knowledge; however, they shall always be non-binding. 
 
(6) The client shall always provide the contractor with his/her current 
contact details (particularly the delivery address). The contractor may rely 
on the validity of the contact details most recently provided by the client, 
particularly have deliveries made to the most recently provided address, 
until such time as new contact details are provided. 
 
 

3. Safeguarding of Independence 
 
(1)  The client shall be obliged to take all measures to prevent that the 
independence of the staff of the contractor be jeopardized and shall 
himself/herself refrain from jeopardizing their independence in any way. In 
particular, this shall apply to offers of employment and to offers to accept 
contracts on their own account. 
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(2)  The client acknowledges that his/her personal details required in 
this respect, as well as the type and scope of the services, including the 
performance period agreed between the contractor and the client for the 
services (both audit and non-audit services), shall be handled within a 
network (if any) to which the contractor belongs, and for this purpose 
transferred to the other members of the network including abroad for the 
purpose of examination of the existence of grounds of bias or grounds for 
exclusion and conflicts of interest. For this purpose the client expressly 
releases the contractor in accordance with the Data Protection Act and in 
accordance with Section 80 (4) No. 2 WTBG 2017 from his/her obligation 
to maintain secrecy. The client can revoke the release from the obligation 
to maintain secrecy at any time. 
 
 

4. Reporting Requirements 
 
(1) (Reporting by the contractor) In the absence of an agreement to the 
contrary, a written report shall be drawn up in the case of audits and expert 
opinions.  
 
(2) (Communication to the client) All contract-related information and 
opinions, including reports, (all declarations of knowledge) of the 
contractor, his/her staff, other performing agents or substitutes 
(“professional statements”) shall only be binding provided they are set 
down in writing. Professional statements in electronic file formats which are 
made, transferred or confirmed by fax or e-mail or using similar types of 
electronic communication (that can be stored and reproduced but is not 
oral, i.e. e.g. text messages but not telephone) shall be deemed as set 
down in writing; this shall only apply to professional statements. The client 
bears the risk that professional statements may be issued by persons not 
entitled to do so as well as the transfer risk of such professional statements. 
 
(3)  (Communication to the client) The client hereby consents to the 
contractor communicating with the client (e.g. by e-mail) in an unencrypted 
manner. The client declares that he/she has been informed of the risks 
arising from the use of electronic communication (particularly access to, 
maintaining secrecy of, changing of messages in the course of transfer). 
The contractor, his/her staff, other performing agents or substitutes are not 
liable for any losses that arise as a result of the use of electronic means of 
communication. 
 
(4)  (Communication to the contractor) Receipt and forwarding of 
information to the contractor and his/her staff are not always guaranteed 
when the telephone is used, in particular in conjunction with automatic 
telephone answering systems, fax, e-mail and other types of electronic 
communication. As a result, instructions and important information shall 
only be deemed to have been received by the contractor provided they are 
also received physically (not by telephone, orally or electronically), unless 
explicit confirmation of receipt is provided in individual instances. 
Automatic confirmation that items have been transmitted and read shall not 
constitute such explicit confirmations of receipt. This shall apply in 
particular to the transmission of decisions and other information relating to 
deadlines. As a result, critical and important notifications must be sent to 
the contractor by mail or courier. Delivery of documents to staff outside the 
firm’s offices shall not count as delivery. 
 
(5) (General) In writing shall mean, insofar as not otherwise laid down 
in Item 4. (2), written form within the meaning of Section 886 Austrian Civil 
Code (ABGB) (confirmed by signature). An advanced electronic signature 
(Art. 26 eIDAS Regulation (EU) No. 910/2014) fulfills the requirement of 
written form within the meaning of Section 886 ABGB (confirmed by 
signature) insofar as this is at the discretion of the parties to the contract. 
 
(6) (Promotional information) The contractor will send recurrent general 
tax law and general commercial law information to the client electronically 
(e.g. by e-mail). The client acknowledges that he/she has the right to object 
to receiving direct advertising at any time. 

 
 

5. Protection of Intellectual Property of the Contractor 
 
(1) The client shall be obliged to ensure that reports, expert opinions, 
organizational plans, drafts, drawings, calculations and the like, issued by 
the contractor, be used only for the purpose specified in the contract (e.g. 
pursuant to Section 44 (3) Austrian Income Tax Act 1988). Furthermore, 
professional statements made orally or in writing by the contractor may be 
passed on to a third party for use only with the written consent of the 
contractor. 
 
(2) The use of professional statements made orally or in writing by the 
contractor for promotional purposes shall not be permitted; a violation of 
this provision shall give the contractor the right to terminate without notice 
to the client all contracts not yet executed. 
 
(3) The contractor shall retain the copyright on his/her work. Permission 
to use the work shall be subject to the written consent by the contractor. 
 
 

6. Correction of Errors 
 
(1) The contractor shall have the right and shall be obliged to correct all 
errors and inaccuracies in his/her professional statement made orally or in 
writing which subsequently come to light and shall be obliged to inform the 
client thereof without delay. He/she shall also have the right to inform a 
third party acquainted with the original professional statement of the 
change. 
 
(2) The client has the right to have all errors corrected free of charge if 
the contractor can be held responsible for them; this right will expire six 
months after completion of the services rendered by the contractor and/or 
– in cases where a written professional statement has not been delivered 
– six months after the contractor has completed the work that gives cause 
to complaint. 
 
 (3) If the contractor fails to correct errors which have come to light, the 
client shall have the right to demand a reduction in price. The extent to 
which additional claims for damages can be asserted is stipulated under 
Item 7. 
 
 

7. Liability 
 
(1) All liability provisions shall apply to all disputes in connection with 
the contractual relationship, irrespective of the legal grounds. The 
contractor is liable for losses arising in connection with the contractual 
relationship (including its termination) only in case of willful intent and gross 
negligence. The applicability of Section 1298 2nd Sentence ABGB is 
excluded. 
 
(2) In cases of gross negligence, the maximum liability for damages due 
from the contractor is tenfold the minimum insurance sum of the 
professional liability insurance according to Section 11 WTBG 2017 as 
amended. 
 
(3) The limitation of liability pursuant to Item 7. (2) refers to the 
individual case of damages. The individual case of damages includes all 
consequences of a breach of duty regardless of whether damages arose 
in one or more consecutive years. In this context, multiple acts or failures 
to act that are based on the same or similar source of error as one 
consistent breach of duty if the matters concerned are legally and 
economically connected. Single damages remain individual cases of 
damage even if they are based on several breaches of duty. Furthermore, 
the contractor’s liability for loss of profit as well as collateral, consequential, 
incidental or similar losses is excluded in case of willful damage.  
 
(4) Any action for damages may only be brought within six months after 
those entitled to assert a claim have gained knowledge of the damage, but 
no later than three years after the occurrence of the (primary) loss following 
the incident upon which the claim is based, unless other statutory limitation 
periods are laid down in other legal provisions.  
 
(5) Should Section 275 Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) be 
applicable (due to a criminal offense), the liability provisions contained 
therein shall apply even in cases where several persons have participated 
in the execution of the contract or where several activities requiring 
compensation have taken place and irrespective of whether other 
participants have acted with intent. 
 
(6) In cases where a formal auditor’s report is issued, the applicable 
limitation period shall commence no later than at the time the said auditor’s 
report was issued. 
 
(7) If activities are carried out by enlisting the services of a third party, 
e.g. a data-processing company, any warranty claims and claims for 
damages which arise against the third party according to law and contract 
shall be deemed as having been passed on to the client once the client has 
been informed of them. Item 4. (3) notwithstanding, in such a case the 
contractor shall only be liable for fault in choosing the third party. 
 
(8) The contractor’s liability to third parties is excluded in any case. If 
third parties come into contact with the contractor’s work in any manner 
due to the client, the client shall expressly clarify this fact to them. Insofar 
as such exclusion of liability is not legally permissible or a liability to third 
parties has been assumed by the contractor in exceptional cases, these 
limitations of liability shall in any case also apply to third parties on a 
subsidiary basis. In any case, a third party cannot raise any claims that go 
beyond any claim raised by the client. The maximum sum of liability shall 
be valid only once for all parties injured, including the compensation claims 
of the client, even if several persons (the client and a third party or several 
third parties) have sustained losses; the claims of the parties injured shall 
be satisfied in the order in which the claims have been raised. The client 
will indemnify and hold harmless the contractor and his/her staff against 
any claims by third parties in connection with professional statements 
made orally or in writing by the contractor and passed on to these third 
parties. 
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(9) Item 7. shall also apply to any of the client’s liability claims to third 
parties (performing agents and vicarious agents of the contractor) and to 
substitutes of the contractor relating to the contractual relationship. 
 
 

8. Secrecy, Data Protection 
 
(1) According to Section 80 WTBG 2017 the contractor shall be obliged 
to maintain secrecy in all matters that become known to him/her in 
connection with his/her work for the client, unless the client releases 
him/her from this duty or he/she is bound by law to deliver a statement. 
 
(2) Insofar as it is necessary to pursue the contractor’s claims 
(particularly claims for fees) or to dispute claims against the contractor 
(particularly claims for damages raised by the client or third parties against 
the contractor), the contractor shall be released from his/her professional 
obligation to maintain secrecy.  
 
(3) The contractor shall be permitted to hand on reports, expert 
opinions and other written statements pertaining to the results of his/her 
services to third parties only with the permission of the client, unless he/she 
is required to do so by law. 
 
(4) The contractor is a data protection controller within the meaning of 
the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) with regard to all 
personal data processed under the contract. The contractor is thus 
authorized to process personal data entrusted to him/her within the limits 
of the contract. The material made available to the contractor (paper and 
data carriers) shall generally be handed to the client or to third parties 
appointed by the client after the respective rendering of services has been 
completed, or be kept and destroyed by the contractor if so agreed. The 
contractor is authorized to keep copies thereof insofar as he/she needs 
them to appropriately document his/her services or insofar as it is required 
by law or customary in the profession. 
 
(5) If the contractor supports the client in fulfilling his/her duties to the 
data subjects arising from the client’s function as data protection controller, 
the contractor shall be entitled to charge the client for the actual efforts 
undertaken. The same shall apply to efforts undertaken for information with 
regard to the contractual relationship which is provided to third parties after 
having been released from the obligation to maintain secrecy to third 
parties by the client. 
 
 

9. Withdrawal and Cancellation („Termination“) 
 
(1) The notice of termination of a contract shall be issued in writing (see 
also Item 4. (4) and (5)). The expiry of an existing power of attorney shall 
not result in a termination of the contract. 
 
(2) Unless otherwise agreed in writing or stipulated by force of law, 
either contractual partner shall have the right to terminate the contract at 
any time with immediate effect. The fee shall be calculated according to 
Item 11. 
 
(3) However, a continuing agreement (fixed-term or open-ended 
contract on – even if not exclusively – the rendering of repeated individual 
services, also with a flat fee) may, without good reason, only be terminated 
at the end of the calendar month by observing a period of notice of three 
months, unless otherwise agreed in writing. 
 
(4) After notice of termination of a continuing agreement and unless 
otherwise stipulated in the following, only those individual tasks shall still 
be completed by the contractor (list of assignments to be completed) that 
can (generally) be completed fully within the period of notice insofar as the 
client is notified in writing within one month after commencement of the 
termination notice period within the meaning of Item 4. (2). The list of 
assignments to be completed shall be completed within the termination 
period if all documents required are provided without delay and if no good 
reason exists that impedes completion.  
 
(5) Should it happen that in case of a continuing agreement more than 
two similar assignments which are usually completed only once a year (e.g. 
financial statements, annual tax returns, etc.) are to be completed, any 
such assignments exceeding this number shall be regarded as 
assignments to be completed only with the client‘s explicit consent. If 
applicable, the client shall be informed of this explicitly in the statement 
pursuant to Item 9. (4). 
 
 

10. Termination in Case of Default in Acceptance and Failure to 
Cooperate on the Part of the Client and Legal Impediments to Execution 

 
(1) If the client defaults on acceptance of the services rendered by the 
contractor or fails to carry out a task incumbent on him/her either according 
to Item 2. or imposed on him/her in another way, the contractor shall have 
the right to terminate the contract without prior notice. The same shall apply 
if the client requests a way to execute (also partially) the contract that the 
contractor reasonably believes is not in compliance with the legal situation 
or professional principles. His/her fees shall be calculated according to 
Item 11. Default in acceptance or failure to cooperate on the part of the 
client shall also justify a claim for compensation made by the contractor for 
the extra time and labor hereby expended as well as for the damage 
caused, if the contractor does not invoke his/her right to terminate the 
contract. 
 
(2) For contracts concerning bookkeeping, payroll accounting and 
administration and assessment of payroll-related taxes and contributions, 
a termination without prior notice by the contractor is permissible under 
Item 10. (1) if the client verifiably fails to cooperate twice as laid down in 
Item 2. (1). 
 
 

11. Entitlement to Fee 
 
(1) If the contract fails to be executed (e.g. due to withdrawal or 
cancellation), the contractor shall be entitled to the negotiated 
compensation (fee), provided he/she was prepared to render the services 
and was prevented from so doing by circumstances caused by the client, 
whereby a merely contributory negligence by the contractor in this respect 
shall be excluded; in this case the contractor need not take into account 
the amount he/she obtained or failed to obtain through alternative use of 
his/her own professional services or those of his/her staff. 
 
(2)  If a continuing agreement is terminated, the negotiated 
compensation for the list of assignments to be completed shall be due upon 
completion or in case completion fails due to reasons attributable to the 
client (reference is made to Item 11. (1). Any flat fees negotiated shall be 
calculated according to the services rendered up to this point. 
 
(3) If the client fails to cooperate and the assignment cannot be carried 
out as a result, the contractor shall also have the right to set a reasonable 
grace period on the understanding that, if this grace period expires without 
results, the contract shall be deemed ineffective and the consequences 
indicated in Item 11. (1) shall apply. 
 
(4)  If the termination notice period under Item 9. (3) is not observed by 
the client as well as if the contract is terminated by the contractor in 
accordance with Item 10. (2), the contractor shall retain his/her right to 
receive the full fee for three months. 
 
 

12. Fee 
 
(1) Unless the parties explicitly agreed that the services would be 
rendered free of charge, an appropriate remuneration in accordance with 
Sections 1004 and 1152 ABGB is due in any case. Amount and type of the 
entitlement to the fee are laid down in the agreement negotiated between 
the contractor and his/her client. Unless a different agreement has 
verifiably been reached, payments made by the client shall in all cases be 
credited against the oldest debt.  
 
(2) The smallest service unit which may be charged is a quarter of an 
hour. 
 
(3) Travel time to the extent required is also charged. 
 
(4) Study of documents which, in terms of their nature and extent, may 
prove necessary for preparation of the contractor in his/her own office may 
also be charged as a special item. 
 
(5) Should a remuneration already agreed upon prove inadequate as a 
result of the subsequent occurrence of special circumstances or due to 
special requirements of the client, the contractor shall notify the client 
thereof and additional negotiations for the agreement of a more suitable 
remuneration shall take place (also in case of inadequate flat fees). 
 
(6) The contractor includes charges for supplementary costs and VAT 
in addition to the above, including but not limited to the following (7) to (9): 
 
(7) Chargeable supplementary costs also include documented or flat-
rate cash expenses, traveling expenses (first class for train journeys), per 
diems, mileage allowance, copying costs and similar supplementary costs. 
 
(8) Should particular third party liabilities be involved, the 
corresponding insurance premiums (including insurance tax) also count as 
supplementary costs. 
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(9) Personnel and material expenses for the preparation of reports, 
expert opinions and similar documents are also viewed as supplementary 
costs. 
 
(10) For the execution of a contract wherein joint completion involves 
several contractors, each of them will charge his/her own compensation. 
 
(11) In the absence of any other agreements, compensation and 
advance payments are due immediately after they have been requested in 
writing. Where payments of compensation are made later than 14 days 
after the due date, default interest may be charged. Where mutual business 
transactions are concerned, a default interest rate at the amount stipulated 
in Section 456 1st and 2nd Sentence UGB shall apply. 
 
(12) Statutory limitation is in accordance with Section 1486 of ABGB, 
with the period beginning at the time the service has been completed or 
upon the issuing of the bill within an appropriate time limit at a later point. 
 
(13) An objection may be raised in writing against bills presented by the 
contractor within 4 weeks after the date of the bill. Otherwise the bill is 
considered as accepted. Filing of a bill in the accounting system of the 
recipient is also considered as acceptance. 
 
(14)  Application of Section 934 ABGB within the meaning of Section 351 
UGB, i.e. rescission for laesio enormis (lesion beyond moiety) among 
entrepreneurs, is hereby renounced. 
 
(15) If a flat fee has been negotiated for contracts concerning 
bookkeeping, payroll accounting and administration and assessment of 
payroll-related taxes and contributions, in the absence of written 
agreements to the contrary, representation in matters concerning all types 
of tax audits and audits of payroll-related taxes and social security 
contributions including settlements concerning tax assessments and the 
basis for contributions, preparation of reports, appeals and the like shall be 
invoiced separately. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, the fee shall be 
considered agreed upon for one year at a time. 
 
(16) Particular individual services in connection with the services 
mentioned in Item 12. (15), in particular ascertaining whether the 
requirements for statutory social security contributions are met, shall be 
dealt with only on the basis of a specific contract. 
 
(17) The contractor shall have the right to ask for advance payments and 
can make delivery of the results of his/her (continued) work dependent on 
satisfactory fulfillment of his/her demands. As regards continuing 
agreements, the rendering of further services may be denied until payment 
of previous services (as well as any advance payments under Sentence 1) 
has been effected. This shall analogously apply if services are rendered in 
installments and fee installments are outstanding. 
 
(18) With the exception of obvious essential errors, a complaint 
concerning the work of the contractor shall not justify even only the partial 
retention of fees, other compensation, reimbursements and advance 
payments (remuneration) owed to him/her in accordance with Item 12. 

 
(19) Offsetting the remuneration claims made by the contractor in 
accordance with Item 12. shall only be permitted if the demands are 
uncontested and legally valid. 
 
 

13. Other Provisions 
 
(1) With regard to Item 12. (17), reference shall be made to the legal 
right of retention (Section 471 ABGB, Section 369 UGB); if the right of 
retention is wrongfully exercised, the contractor shall generally be liable 
pursuant to Item 7. or otherwise only up to the outstanding amount of 
his/her fee. 
 
(2) The client shall not be entitled to receive any working papiers and 
similar documents prepared by the contractor in the course of fulfilling the 
contract. In the case of contract fulfillment using electronic accounting 
systems the contractor shall be entitled to delete the data after handing 
over all data based thereon – which were prepared by the contractor in 
relation to the contract and which the client is obliged to keep – to the client 
and/or the succeeding public accountant in a structured, common and 
machine-readable format. The contractor shall be entitled to an appropriate 
fee (Item 12. shall apply by analogy) for handing over such data in a 
structured, common and machine-readable format. If handing over such 
data in a structured, common and machine-readable format is impossible 
or unfeasible for special reasons, they may be handed over in the form of 
a full print-out instead. In such a case, the contractor shall not be entitled 
to receive a fee. 
 

(3) At the request and expense of the client, the contractor shall hand 
over all documents received from the client within the scope of his/her 
activities. However, this shall not apply to correspondence between the 
contractor and his/her client and to original documents in his/her 
possession and to documents which are required to be kept in accordance 
with the legal anti-money laundering provisions applicable to the 
contractor. The contractor may make copies or duplicates of the 
documents to be returned to the client. Once such documents have been 
transferred to the client, the contractor shall be entitled to an appropriate 
fee (Item 12. shall apply by analogy). 
 
(4) The client shall fetch the documents handed over to the contractor 
within three months after the work has been completed. If the client fails to 
do so, the contractor shall have the right to return them to the client at the 
cost of the client or to charge an appropriate fee (Item 12. shall apply by 
analogy) if the contractor can prove that he/she has asked the client twice 
to pick up the documents handed over. The documents may also further 
be kept by third parties at the expense of the client. Furthermore, the 
contractor is not liable for any consequences arising from damage, loss or 
destruction of the documents.  
 
(5) The contractor shall have the right to compensation of any fees that 
are due by use of any available deposited funds, clearing balances, trust 
funds or other liquid funds at his/her disposal, even if these funds are 
explicitly intended for safekeeping, if the client had to have anticipated the 
counterclaim of the contractor.  
 
(6) To secure an existing or future fee payable, the contractor shall 
have the right to transfer a balance held by the client with the tax office or 
another balance held by the client in connection with charges and 
contributions, to a trust account. In this case the client shall be informed of 
the transfer. Subsequently, the amount secured may be collected either 
after agreement has been reached with the client or after enforceability of 
the fee by execution has been declared. 
 
 

14. Applicable Law, Place of Performance, Jurisdiction 
 
(1) The contract, its execution and the claims resulting from it shall be 
exclusively governed by Austrian law, excluding national referral rules. 
 
(2) The place of performance shall be the place of business of the 
contractor. 
 
(3) In absence of a written agreement stipulating otherwise, the place 
of jurisdiction is the competent court of the place of performance. 
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SECTION II 
 

15. Supplementary Provisions for Consumer Transactions 
 

(1) Contracts between public accountants and consumers shall fall 
under the obligatory provisions of the Austrian Consumer Protection Act 
(KSchG). 
 
(2) The contractor shall only be liable for the willful and grossly 
negligent violation of the obligations assumed. 
 
(3) Contrary to the limitation laid down in Item 7. (2), the duty to 
compensate on the part of the contractor shall not be limited in case of 
gross negligence. 
 
(4) Item 6. (2) (period for right to correction of errors) and Item 7. (4) 
(asserting claims for damages within a certain period) shall not apply. 
 
(5) Right of Withdrawal pursuant to Section 3 KSchG: 
 
If the consumer has not made his/her contract statement in the office 
usually used by the contractor, he/she may withdraw from the contract 
application or the contract proper. This withdrawal may be declared until 
the contract has been concluded or within one week after its conclusion; 
the period commences as soon as a document has been handed over to 
the consumer which contains at least the name and the address of the 
contractor as well as instructions on the right to withdraw from the contract, 
but no earlier than the conclusion of the contract. The consumer shall not 
have the right to withdraw from the contract 
 

1. if the consumer himself/herself established the business 
relationship concerning the conclusion of this contract with the contractor 
or his/her representative, 

 
2. if the conclusion of the contract has not been preceded by any 

talks between the parties involved or their representatives, or 
 

3. in case of contracts where the mutual services have to be 
rendered immediately, if the contracts are usually concluded outside the 
offices of the contractors, and the fee agreed upon does not exceed €15. 
 
In order to become legally effective, the withdrawal shall be declared in 
writing. It is sufficient if the consumer returns a document that contains 
his/her contract declaration or that of the contractor to the contractor with 
a note which indicates that the consumer rejects the conclusion or the 
maintenance of the contract. It is sufficient if this declaration is dispatched 
within one week. 
 
If the consumer withdraws from the contract according to Section 3 KSchG,  
 

1. the contractor shall return all benefits received, including all 
statutory interest, calculated from the day of receipt, and compensate the 
consumer for all necessary and useful expenses incurred in this matter, 
 

2. the consumer shall pay for the value of the services rendered 
by the contractor as far as they are of a clear and predominant benefit to 
him/her. 
 
According to Section 4 (3) KSchG, claims for damages shall remain 
unaffected. 
 
(6) Cost Estimates according to Section 5 Austrian KSchG: 
 
The consumer shall pay for the preparation of a cost estimate by the 
contractor in accordance with Section 1170a ABGB only if the consumer 
has been notified of this payment obligation beforehand. 
 
If the contract is based on a cost estimate prepared by the contractor, its 
correctness shall be deemed warranted as long as the opposite has not 
been explicitly declared. 
 
(7) Correction of Errors: Supplement to Item 6.: 
 
If the contractor is obliged under Section 932 ABGB to improve or 
complement his/her services, he/she shall execute this duty at the place 
where the matter was transferred. If it is in the interest of the consumer to 
have the work and the documents transferred by the contractor, the 
consumer may carry out this transfer at his/her own risk and expense. 
 
(8) Jurisdiction: Shall apply instead of Item 14. (3) 
 
If the domicile or the usual residence of the consumer is within the country 
or if he/she is employed within the country, in case of an action against 
him/her according to Sections 88, 89, 93 (2) and 104 (1) Austrian Court 
Jurisdiction Act (JN), the only competent courts shall be the courts of the 
districts where the consumer has his/her domicile, usual residence or place 
of employment. 

(9)  Contracts on Recurring Services: 
 

(a) Contracts which oblige the contractor to render services and 
the consumer to effect repeated payments and which have been concluded 
for an indefinite period or a period exceeding one year may be terminated 
by the consumer at the end of the first year, and after the first year at the 
end of every six months, by adhering to a two-month period of notice. 

 
(b) If the total work is regarded as a service that cannot be divided 

on account of its character, the extent and price of which is determined 
already at the conclusion of the contract, the first date of termination may 
be postponed until the second year has expired. In case of such contracts 
the period of notice may be extended to a maximum of six months. 

 
(c) If the execution of a certain contract indicated in lit. a) requires 

considerable expenses on the part of the contractor and if he/she informed 
the consumer about this no later than at the time the contract was 
concluded, reasonable dates of termination and periods of notice which 
deviate from lit. a) and b) and which fit the respective circumstances may 
be agreed. 

 
(d) If the consumer terminates the contract without complying with 

the period of notice, the termination shall become effective at the next 
termination date which follows the expiry of the period of notice. 
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